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F. Bülent Eczacıbaşı R. Faruk Eczacıbaşı M. Sacit Basmacı Ayşe Deniz Özger

Born in 1949 in Istanbul, Bülent 
Eczacıbaşı, Chairman of the 
Eczacıbaşı Group, graduated 
from the Imperial College of 
Science and Technology, 
London, and obtained his 
master’s degree in chemical 
engineering from the 
Massachusetts Institute of 
Technology. After initiating his 
professional career in 1974 in 
Eczacıbaşı Holding, Bülent 
Eczacıbaşı held a variety of 
management positions in 
Eczacıbaşı Group companies.

Over the years, Bülent 
Eczacıbaşı has been involved in 
a large number of civic 
associations, including TÜSİAD, 
the Turkish Industry and 
Business Association, where he 
was Chairman of the Board 
(1991-1993) and Chairman of 
the High Advisory Council 
(1997-2001). He was also 
founding Chairman of the 
Turkish Economic and Social 
Studies Foundation (TESEV) 
(1993-1997) and Chairman of 
the Board of the Turkish 
Pharmaceuticals Manufacturers’ 
Association (2000-2008).

Presently, Bülent Eczacıbaşı 
continues to serve TÜSİAD as 
Honorary Chairman, TESEV 
(The Turkish Economic and 
Social Studies Foundation) as a 
member of the High Advisory 
Board, and the Turkish 
Pharmaceuticals Manufacturers’ 
Association as Honorary 
President. He is also the 
Chairman of the Board of 
Trustees of the Istanbul 
Modern Art Foundation, the 
Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of Istanbul 
Foundation for Culture and 
Arts (İKSV).

Born in Istanbul in 1954, Faruk 
Eczacıbaşı is a graduate of the 
Istanbul German Lycee and 
Berlin Technical University’s 
School of Management, where 
he earned his undergraduate 
and MBA degrees.

Faruk Eczacıbaşı began his 
professional career in the 
Eczacıbaşı Group in 1980. After 
working in the United States 
for several years, he served in 
various positions in the 
Eczacıbaşı Group. Currently 
Vice Chairman of Eczacıbaşı 
Holding, Faruk Eczacıbaşı was 
instrumental in the Group’s 
e-Transformation as head of 
Eczacıbaşı’s IT company, 
Eczacıbaşı Information and 
Communication Technologies.

Faruk Eczacıbaşı is Chairman 
of the Turkish Informatics 
Foundation (TBV), which was 
founded in 1995 to assist 
Turkey make the 
transformation to an 
information society. In this 
role, he has helped to prepare 
various research reports and 
contributed to the shaping of 
public policy. He served on the 
e-Transformation Executive 
Board established by the 
e-Transformation Turkey Action 
Plan and was influential in 
establishing jointly with the 
Turkish Industry and Business 
Association (TÜSİAD) Turkey’s 
first and only private sector 
awards for the public sector, 
the e-Turkey Awards. He 
participated in national e�orts 
to align Turkey’s legislation 
with the EU Acquis 
Communautaire and helped 
to establish Turkey’s first 
company providing legal and 
technical infrastructure for 
secure e-commerce and 
e-government. He has also led 
e�orts to generate public 
consensus in favor of EU 
internet standards in place of 
internet surveillance. Currently, 
he is working on a project to 
create Turkey’s first technology 
map.

Faruk Eczacıbaşı is also 
President of the Eczacıbaşı 
Sports Club, a position he has 
held since 1999.    

Born in 1952, Sacit Basmacı 
received his undergraduate 
degree from the Economics- 
Finance Department of the 
Faculty of Political Science of 
Ankara University in 1974.

Sacit Basmacı began his career 
in the Ministry of Finance as a 
tax accountant between 1974 
and 1981. In 1981, he joined 
Eczacıbaşı Holding as an 
auditor, remaining here 
through 1983. In 1984, he 
moved to Cankurtaran Holding 
as General Manager and Vice 
President of Financial and 
Administrative A�airs, later 
becoming Member of the 
Management and Executive 
Board, and Certified Public 
Accountant and Financial 
Advisor.

Basmacı returned to the 
Eczacıbaşı Group in 2003 as 
Assistant Vice President of 
Financial A�airs. Since January 
2004, Basmacı has served as 
Executive Vice President, Head 
Comptroller and Legal A�airs, 
and General Manager of 
Eczacıbaşı Holding.

Born in 1959, Ayşe Deniz 
Özger received her 
undergraduate degree from 
the Pharmaceuticals Faculty
of Hacettepe University in 1981. 

Özger commenced her career 
in 1982 at Eczacıbaşı 
Pharmaceuticals 
Manufacturing, where she 
served first as Product 
Manager and then Product 
Group Manager. In 1989, she 
was appointed Marketing 
Manager at Eczacıbaşı 
Pharmaceuticals Marketing, 
and, in 1992, Vice General 
Manager in charge of 
Marketing and Sales. In 1995, 
Özger became General 
Manager of Eczacıbaşı-Rhone 
Poulenc, and in 2003, General 
Manager of Eczacıbaşı 
Pharmaceuticals Marketing. In 
2011, Özger was appointed Vice 
President of the Eczacıbaşı 
Group’s Healthcare Division in 
charge of Business 
Development, where she 
remained until January 2015.

Presently, Özger continues her 
involvement with the 
Eczacıbaşı Group as an advisor 
to the Executive Vice President 
of the Healthcare Division. 
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Şenol S. Alanyurt Akın Dinçsoy

Born in Samsun in 1941, Şenol 
Alanyurt completed his 
undergraduate studies at 
Istanbul Technical University 
and his graduate studies at 
Istanbul University, Faculty of 
Economics, Institute of 
Business and Economics.

Şenol Alanyurt started his 
professional life in 1968 at 
Eczacıbaşı Pharmaceuticals 
Manufacturing as the Head of 
Business Studies Department. 
Alanyurt was appointed as 
Baxter Serum Department 
Head in 1971 and assumed the 
posts of Serum Plant Project 
Manager in 1979, Serum Plant 
Manager in 1982, Hospital 
Products General Manager in 
1989, Board of Directors 
member and consultant of 
Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hospital 
Products in 1994 and 
Eczacıbaşı Fine Chemical 
Products General Manager in 
2000. Alanyurt retired in 2002.

Currently, Şenol Alanyurt is the 
independent board member of 
the company.    

Born in Erzincan in 1943, Akın 
Dinçsoy completed his 
undergraduate education in 
the department of Chemical 
Engineering at the Faculty of 
Chemistry in Istanbul 
University and his postgraduate 
education in the same 
department of the same 
university and thus, became a 
Chemical Engineer, MSc.

Starting to work in 1970 as the 
production supervisor at 
Eczacıbaşı Pharmaceuticals 
Manufacturing, Dinçsoy was 
appointed as the Production 
Planning Manager in 1980, 
Production Manager in 1989, 
Assistant General Manager for 
Production in 1990, and 
Production and Technical 
Assistant General Manager in 
2001. After continuing to serve 
in this position at Eczacıbaşı 
Health Products, which was 
founded in 2004, he retired.

He served as a board member 
at Eczacıbaşı Fine Chemical 
Products between the years of 
2003-2007 and at Eczacıbaşı 
Health Products between the 
years of 2004-2007. He also 
served as the advisor to the 
General Manager between the 
years of 2005-2007. 

He served as the manager of 
Eczacıbaşı Pharmaceuticals 
Manufacturing responsible 
before the Ministry of Health 
between the years of 
1985-2005, and in addition to 
this position, he has also acted 
as the Chairman of the Product 
Development Sub-Committee, 
Member of the Supreme Board 
of Product Development, the 
Chairman of the Occupational 
Health and Safety Committee, 
and the Chairman of GMP 
(Good Manufacturing Practice) 
Committee in the last 10 years. 

Currently, Akın Dinçsoy is the 
independent board member of 
the company.  



Income Statement (TL Thousand) 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Revenue 1,412,645 1,170,563 1,046,781 1,126,009 887,334

Gross Profit 356,455 262,875 190,261 206,134 163,319

Operating Profit 154,908 123,779 18,508 134,683 18,680

Depreciation and Amortization  21,261 17,812 19,407 14,198 10,740

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, 
   Depreciation and Amortization 176,169 141,591 37,915 148,881 29,420

Net Income for the Year 184,803 67,647 (43,293) 61,414 34,414

Balance Sheet (TL Thousand) 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Total Assets 3,992,703 3,369,830 3,263,485 3,437,219 3,360,701

Total Equity 3,244,490 2,740,060 2,761,045 2,920,177 2,905,635

Total Current Assets 1,163,552 1,090,342 1,035,211 1,139,529 1,069,213 

Total Current Liabilities 602,151 475,926 375,960 416,193 343,995

Capital Expenditures 104,999 129,167 41,631 14,854 30,443

Liquidity Ratios (%) 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

-Current Ratio 1.93 2.29 2.75 2.74 3.11

-Liquidity Ratio  1.72 2.01 2.34 2.26 2.61

Leverage Ratios (%) 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 

-Total Liabilities / Total Assets 0.19 0.19 0.15 0.15 0.14 

-Total Equity / Total Assets 0.81 0.81 0.85 0.85 0.86

-Total Equity / Total Liabilities 4.34 4.35 5.50 5.65 6.39

Profitability Ratios (%) 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

-Net Income for the Year / Total Equity 0.06 10.02 (0.02) 0.02 0.01

-Net Income for the Year / Total Assets 0.05 0.02 (0.01) 0.02 0.01

-Net Income for the Year / Total Liabilities 0.13 0.06 (0.04) 0.05 0.04 

Consolidated Financial Highlights
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EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. was established on 24
th

 October 1951. 

The Company is not engaged in any actual manufacturing activity and it has a holding structure with its existing 

affiliate companies, business partnerships and subsidiaries. Within this structure, the Company directly carries out 

real estate development activities and it is active in the industries of healthcare, consumer goods, cosmetics and 

personal care products through its partnerships. 

 

Trade Name   : EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 

Trade Registration Number : Istanbul Trade Registry Office - 44943 

Contact Information  : Büyükdere Caddesi, Ali Kaya Sokak No: 5 Levent 34394, Istanbul 

Telephone: (0212) 350 80 00 - 371 70 00  Fax: (0212) 371 73 99  

Website   : www.eis.com.tr , www.eczacibasi.com.tr  

Period of the Report  : 01.01.2016 - 31.12.2016 

 

 

Board of Directors and Committees 
 

Name-Surname Title 
Start Date of Taking 

Office (*) 

Status of 

Independency 

F. Bülent Eczacıbaşı Chairman of the Board 26
th

 April 2016 - 

R. Faruk Eczacıbaşı Vice Chairman of the Board 26
th

 April 2016 - 

M. Sacit Basmacı Member 26
th

 April 2016 - 

Ayşe Deniz Özger Member 26
th

 April 2016 - 

Şenol S. Alanyurt Member 26
th

 April 2016 Independent Member 

Akın Dinçsoy Member 26
th

 April 2016 Independent Member 
 

(*)  The Board of Directors was elected to be in charge for one year during the Ordinary General Assembly 

Meeting dated 26
th

 April 2016, and will be in charge until the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting to be held 

in 2017. 
 

 

 The members of the Board did not take any action against the prohibition of competition within the period of 

1
st
 January - 31

st 
December 2016. 

 

Audit Committee 
 

Name - Surname Title 
 

Şenol S. Alanyurt  President 

Akın Dinçsoy  Member 

 

Corporate Governance Committee 
 

Name - Surname Title 
 

Akın Dinçsoy President 

M. Sacit Basmacı Member 

Gülnur Günbey Kartal Member 

 

Early Risk Detection Committee  
 

Name - Surname Title 
 

Akın Dinçsoy President 

Ayşe Deniz Özger Member 

 

Assessment of the Board of Directors Related to the Activity of the Committees 

Established by the Board of Directors, the committees were attentive to hold meetings as often as required for the 

effectiveness of the operations for the issues indicated in their duty and working principles. The committees 

informed in written or verbally the Board of Directors about the operations they performed. 

 

 

 

 

http://www.eis.com.tr/
http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/
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Changes made in the senior management during the year and names, surnames and 

professional experiences of those still being in charge  
 

Changes made in the senior management during the year: 
 

Name - Surname Title 
Start Date of 

Taking Office 

End Date of 

Taking Office 

Elif Neşe Çelik General Manager / Healthcare Group President 1
st
 April 2016 Ongoing 

Sedat Birol General Manager / Healthcare Group President 12
th

 July 2007 31
st
 March 2016 

 

Graduated from Istanbul University Faculty of Pharmacy in 1991, Elif Çelik started her professional life as 

Product Manager in Deva Holding in 1992. Having taken office as Product Manger, Group Product Manager and 

Marketing Manager in Eczacıbaşı-Rhone Poulenc İlaç Pazarlama in 1993-2001, Çelik assumed the position of 

Marketing and Sales Manager in Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama in 2001-2007. In 2007-2010, Çelik worked for 

Eczacıbaşı-Zentiva first as General Manager for Commercial Operations and then as Country General Manager for 

commercial and industrial operations. Having assumed the position of Country General Manager of Zentiva-

Sanofi in 2010 upon the global transfer of Zentiva to Sanofi Group, Elif Çelik was appointed as General Manager 

of Eczacıbaşı-Baxter in 2011 and in addition to her duty in Eczacıbaşı-Baxter, she took office also as General 

Manager of the newly established Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta in 2015. Since April 2016, Elif Çelik has been holding office 

as the General Manager of the Company and the President of Eczacıbaşı Healthcare Group. 

 

Having took office as the Vice President of Healthcare Group to be responsible with all business development 

activities of the Healthcare Group between 1
st
 August 2011 and 31

st
 January 2015, Ayşe Deniz Özger has been 

performing her task as the Advisor of Healthcare Group President as of 1
st
 February 2015. 

 

Partnership structure and changes made in the capital 
 

 31
st
 December 2016          31

st
 December 2015 

    Share Share  Share Share 

Shareholder 

Percentage 

(%) 

Amount 

(TL) 

 Percentage 

(%) 

Amount 

(TL) 
   

 

  

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş.    50.62     346,845,460  50.62 277,476,368 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Holding Ortaklığı A.Ş.    29.20     200,116,812  28.43 155,864,578 

Other (public) (*)    20.18     138,297,728  20.95 114,867,054 
      

Total      100.00 685,260,000  100.00 548,208,000 
 

(*)  The outstanding share percentages of the companies traded in Istanbul Stock Exchange (BIST), within the 

scope of the decision number 21/655 dated 23
rd

 July 2010 of Capital Markets Board, are weekly announced 

to public by Merkezi Kayit Kuruluşu A.Ş. (MKK - Central Securities Depository). According to the data 

dated 31
st
 December 2016 reported by MKK, 20.17% (31

st
 December 2015: 20.92%) of the Company's 

capital indicates the outstanding share percentage and is presented as included within the other group. 

 

The issued capital of the Company is divided into 68,526,000,000  shares, each of 1 (one) kurus nominal value, 

and all of these shares are bearer shares. There is not any privileged share and each share has one voting right. The 

company has not acquired its own shares. 

 

By means of a capital increase through bonus issues of 25% by covering all of it from the internal sources, the 

issued capital was increased from TL 548,208,000 to TL 685,260,000 and the new capital was registered on 3
rd

 

November 2016. 
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Amendments made in the articles of association during the period and their reasons 
 

 Considering that the issued capital ceiling permission was valid until 2017, the Board of Directors decided during 

its meeting on 17
th
 March 2016 to increase the new issued capital ceiling from TL 548,208,000 (five hundred forty 

eight million and two hundred eight thousand Turkish Liras) to TL 1,920,000,000 (one billion and nine hundred 

twenty million Turkish Liras) so as to be valid for 2016-2020. Accordingly, the application made on 21
st
 March 

2016 to the Capital Markets Board for the amendment in the articles of association was approved with the letter 

number 29833736 - 110.03.02 - E.3557 dated 25
th
 March 2016 by the Capital Markets Board, and permission was 

obtained with the letter number 50035491 - 431.02 - 00015085817 dated 5
th
 April 2016 by the Ministry of Customs 

and Trade of the Republic of Turkey. 

 During its meeting on 23
rd

 June 2016, the Board of Directors decided: 

- To increase the issued capital of the Company of TL 548,208,000 within its registered capital ceiling of TL 

1,920,000,000 to TL 685,260,000 by increasing it by bonus issue of TL 137,052,000 (at the rate of 25%) and by 

covering all of it from the internal sources; 

- Related to the capital of TL 137,052,000 to be covered from the internal sources, to cover TL 77,717,265.94 of 

it from the Specialized Funds and to cover TL 59,334,734.06 of it from the Funds of Participation Stock and 

Real Estate Return on Sales; 

- To duly distribute the shares, to be issued due to capital increase, as bonus to the shareholders according to their 

participation ratios in the Company's capital in the Central Securities Depository by means of dematerialization 

in accordance with the regulations of the legislation of the Capital Market on the dematerialization system; 

- Accordingly and related to the capital increase to be performed from the internal sources, to amend the Article 7 

“Registered Capital” of the Company’s Articles of Association in accordance with the following amendment 

text; 

- And to make application to the Capital Market Board for the approval of the issuance certificate.  
 

Accordingly, the application made to the Capital Market Board on 23
rd

 June 2016 was approved on 25
th

 October 

2016. The registration procedures related to the capital increase were completed on 3
rd

 November 2016, and the 

shares issued due to the capital increase were duly distributed by means of dematerialization to the shareholders on 

8
th

 November 2016 by the Central Securities Depository in accordance with the regulations of the legislation of the 

Capital Market on the dematerialization system. 
  

The old and new versions of the amended article in the articles of association are as follows: 
 

OLD TEXT NEW TEXT 

ARTICLE 7 - REGISTERED CAPITAL  

The Company preferred the registered capital system according to the 
provisions of the Capital Markets Law, and passed on to this system 
with the permission number 333 dated 16.5.1991 by the Capital 
Markets Board. 

The registered capital of the Company is TL 1,920,000,000 (one billion 
and nine hundred twenty million) and is divided into 192,000,000,000 
shares of each 1 (one) kurus nominal value. 

The permission given by the Capital Markets Board for the registered 
capital ceiling is valid for 2016-2020 (for 5 years). Even if the permitted 
registered capital ceiling is not achieved at the end of 2020, it is 
compulsory for the Board of Directors to get permission from the 
general assembly for a new period not more than 5 years by means of 
getting permission from the Capital Markets Board for the ceiling 
permitted before or for a new ceiling amount, in order to decide on 
capital increase after 2020. Where the mentioned permission is not 
obtained , capital increase cannot be performed with the decision of the 
board of directors. 
 

The Company’s issued capital of TL 548,208,000 (five hundred forty 
eight million and two hundred eight thousand) was totally paid in cash 
free from collusion. 
 

The issued capital of the Company is divided into 54,820,800,000 
shares of each 1 kurus nominal value and all of these shares are bearer 
shares. 
 

The shares representing the capital are monitored dematerialized within 
the scope of the dematerialization principles. 
 

The capital of the Company can be increased or decreased where 
required within the scope of the provisions of the Turkish Commercial 
Code and the Capital Markets Legislation.  
 

The Board of Directors is authorized to increase the issued capital 
where deemed necessary by issuing new shares up to the registered 
capital ceiling in accordance with the provisions of the Capital Markets 
Law, and to decide on to limit the rights of the shareholders to obtain 
new shares and to issue premium share and to issue share under the 
nominal value. The authorization to limit the rights of obtaining new 
shares cannot be used in a way to cause inequality among the 
shareholders. 

ARTICLE 7 - REGISTERED CAPITAL  

The Company preferred the registered capital system according to 
the provisions of the Capital Markets Law, and passed on to this 
system with the permission number 333 dated 16.5.1991 by the 
Capital Markets Board. 

The registered capital of the Company is TL 1,920,000,000 (one 
billion and nine hundred twenty million) and is divided into 
192,000,000,000 shares of each 1 (one) kurus nominal value. 

The permission given by the Capital Markets Board for the registered 
capital ceiling is valid for 2016-2020 (for 5 years). Even if the 
permitted registered capital ceiling is not achieved at the end of 2020, 
it is compulsory for the Board of Directors to get permission from the 
general assembly for a new period not more than 5 years by means 
of getting permission from the Capital Markets Board for the ceiling 
permitted before or for a new ceiling amount, in order to decide on 
capital increase after 2020. Where the mentioned permission is not 
obtained , capital increase cannot be performed with the decision 
of the board of directors. 

The Company’s issued capital of TL 685,260,000 (six hundred 
eighty five million and two hundred sixty thousand) was totally 
paid in cash free from collusion. 

The issued capital of the Company is divided into 68,526,000,000 
shares of each 1 kurus nominal value and all of these shares are 
bearer shares. 

The shares representing the capital are monitored dematerialized 
within the scope of the dematerialization principles. 

The capital of the Company can be increased or decreased where 
required within the scope of the provisions of the Turkish Commercial 
Code and the Capital Markets Legislation.  

The Board of Directors is authorized to increase the issued capital 
where deemed necessary by issuing new shares up to the registered 
capital ceiling in accordance with the provisions of the Capital 
Markets Law, and to decide on to limit the rights of the shareholders 
to obtain new shares and to issue premium share and to issue share 
under the nominal value. The authorization to limit the rights of 
obtaining new shares cannot be used in a way to cause inequality 
among the shareholders. 
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Distributed profit share in previous years and its percentage  
 

The profit distribution information of the Company for the last five years is as follows:  
 

Year 

Profit 

Distribution 
Amount Percentage (%) Form (%) 

Starting Date (TL) Gross Net Cash Share 

2011 19.06.2012 54,820,800 10 8.5 10 - 

2012 28.05.2013 54,820,800 10 8.5 10 - 

2013 06.05.2014 52,627,968 9.6 8.16 9.6 - 

2014 05.05.2015 43,856,640 8 6.8 8 - 

2015 10.05.2016  219,283,200 40 34 40 - 

 
 

Finance sources of the organization 
 

As of 31
st 

December 2016, Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar does not have open credit. In the actual 

state, the cash assets corresponding to a significant part of the net financial assets are composed of Euro, Dollar 

and Turkish Lira. Constantly and dynamically changing its foreign exchange balance considering the exchange 

rates in the market, the Company completed 2016 with a cash portfolio of 21% in Euro, 69% in USD and 11% in 

Turkish Lira. 
  
 

Internal Control System and Internal Audit  
 

In addition to the duties conducted by the Audit Committee, the legal records of the affiliate companies, the 

business partnerships and the subsidiaries included within consolidation are quarterly controlled by the Certified 

Public Accountancy company in accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code, the Uniform Accounting Plan 

and in terms of tax issues. The Audit Committee within Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. audits the activities of the 

organizations included within consolidation within the scope of the required processes and/or issues. In addition, 

the compliance of the quarterly and annual financial statements, issued for consolidation by the companies 

included in consolidation, with the CMB legislations and with the Turkish Accounting Standards, published by the 

Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority, are made analyzed and audited by the 

independent audit companies.  
 

Related also to the monitoring of the receivables risk in the real estate development area in which the Company is 

active, the Company gets support from Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. for the customers within 

Kanyon complex and from Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş. for Ormanada Project.  
 

 

Risk Management 
 

In Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar; the risks are accepted as a part of business life and these risks are 

managed by being balanced according to the risk-return expectations of the companies. In order to optimize the 

risks taken and to effectively determine them to manage the sustainable growth; the risks are first defined and 

classified from the general to the specific, and then the risks are measured and studies are conducted to 

remove/reduce the risks or to turn them into opportunity. As a result of these studies, the risks continue being 

monitored and it is always reassessed whether the precautions are taken in time and whether they are effective. 

 

During its meeting on 17
th

 May 2013, in order to comply both with the regulations of Capital Markets Board on 

Corporate Governance and the article 378 of the Turkish Commercial Code number 6102; the Board of Directors 

decided to establish the “Committee of Early Risk Determination” to submit suggestions and recommendations to 

the Board of Directors for the issues related to the early determination and assessment of any strategic, 

operational, financial, legal and any other risks to endanger the existence, the development and the continuance of 

the Company; the calculation of effects and possibilities of these risks; the management of these risks in 

accordance with the corporate risk taking profile of the Company; reporting of these risks; implementing the 

required precautions related to the determined risks; taking these precautions into consideration in the decision 

mechanisms; and creating effective internal control systems accordingly and the integration of them. The 

Committee is formed by 2 members and Akın Dinçsoy was assigned as its President and Ayşe Deniz Özger was 

assigned as its member. The Early Risk Detection Committee held 7 meetings related to the activities of 2016.  
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The primary risks incurred by the Company are monitored under two main titles as financial risks (foreign 

exchange, interest, liquidity and credit) and nonfinancial risks (strategic and operational). 

 

Financial Risks 

The financial risks are the positive or negative influence on the financials of the organization by the dynamism in 

variables in the markets such as exchange rate, interest or commodity prices. Beside these risks, liquidity risk and 

credit risk are also other financial risks that may play a role to damage the financial solidity of the organization. 

The financial risks are analyzed under four titles so as foreign exchange risk, interest risk, liquidity risk and credit 

risk. 

 

Foreign exchange risk 

These are the risks arising from any financial or operational foreign exchange transaction of the Company. These 

risks are monitored by being analyzed with foreign exchange position and the required measures are taken 

following the position analysis. Following the various analyses such as the foreign exchange position of the 

statement of financial position and the effect by the scenarios of exchange rate change of equity on the financials, 

hedging operations are performed depending on the risk appetite of the organization. Periodically performed 

within the determined limits, the hedging operations such as forward, option and swap are shaped according to the 

willingness of the Company to take risk. In addition, the market expectations are constantly updated in order to 

make the cash and credit portfolio of the Company be affected from the foreign exchange movements at a 

minimum level, and the portfolios are dynamically managed depending on the up-to-date data. 

 

Interest risk 

The positive or negative effect on the financials of the Company by the downside or upside movement of interests 

is described as the interest risk. While the Company first manages this risk by balancing its interest sensitive 

forward receivables and forward debts, the decision is made to get loans as short, long, fixed or floating interest 

rate depending on the market expectations of the organization and on its pre-determined risk limits. 

 

Liquidity risk 

The liquidity risk management consists of the capability of providing cash and security of sufficient amount, 

making funding possible through sufficient credit opportunities and short covering. The Company has aimed for 

flexibility in the funding through rendering the loan channels ready due to the dynamic nature of the business 

environment. The liquidity risk is managed by considering the financial solidity in the regularly issued risk 

reporting. The financial structure of the Company is analyzed by the indicators such as current ratio, liquidity 

ratio, total debt/total assets, NFD/equity, capability of the organization to pay interest, etc.; and assessed from the 

weakest to the strongest; and actions are taken related to the capital management of the organization as a result of 

the assessment. 

 

Credit risk 

These are the risks appearing in case of failure by the business partners, owing to the Company, to pay their debts. 

These risks are managed with credit rating studies based on historical data, inquiry studies, limiting the 

concentration on a single business partner within the total portfolio, and assurance structure to be applied for 

customers. Where necessary, the Company may realize the early collection operations for the receivable by means 

of irrevocable factoring in order to remove the risk. By conducting detailed customer analysis, it is provided that 

the local and foreign receivables are ensured within the determined operation limits. 

 

Nonfinancial Risks 

In addition to getting the financial risks under control, the other important risks related to the activities of the 

companies are handled as strategic and operational risks. 

 

Strategic risks 

Fluctuations in the demand for the products and the services of the Company, changes in the market shares, risks 

arising from the developments to affect competition and political risks are all included within the strategic risks. In 

order to reduce the effects of these risks, diversifications are made in the markets of sale. In addition, it is required 

maintain the competitive position by maintaining the quality of the products and by including innovation to a 

considerable extent. The constant analyses are conducted related to the changes of the dynamics in the markets and 

to the competitors; and the required precautions are taken against the possible risks. 
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Operational risks 

The operational risks involves personnel risk, technological risks, organizational risk, legal risks and external 

risks. These risks are reduced with the effective Human Resources Management and the investments in 

Technological Infrastructure; and the coverable risks are frequently reviewed, covered based on a benefit and cost 

analysis and transferred to the outside of the Company. 
 

 

Milestones during the period from the closing of the financial year and to the 

announcement date of the relevant financial statements 
 

 Within the scope of the share purchase and sale contract concluded on 1
st 

September 2016 regarding the sales 

of all of the shares of the company Capintec Inc., of which 100% of shares is owned by Eczacıbaşı-Monrol 

Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. being the Company's 49.998% affiliate carrying business in nuclear 

medicine, and which is incorporated in the USA and operates in the field of the manufacture and service of 

energy measurement devices in nuclear medicine, to V.O.S.S. Varinak Onkoloji Sistemleri Satış ve Servis 

A.Ş. for TL 25 million; the part of TL 10 million of the sales price was collected on the same day and the part 

of TL 12 million of the remaining amount was collected on 22
nd

 December 2016, and the share transfer 

transactions were completed on 5
th

 January 2017 and the balance amount of TL 3 million was collected. 
 

 During the Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting of Eczacıbaşı Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve 

Ticaret A.Ş. held on 31
st 

January 2017, it was decided to legally initiate the liquidation process of the 

company under the provisions of the Commercial Code; and the trade name of the company was registered as 

“Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.” as of 6
th

 February 2017. 
 

 The trade name of Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. was registered as Eczacıbaşı 

Shire Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. on 26
th 

January 2017. 
 
 

Quality and amount of the issued capital market instruments 
 

Not available. 
 
 

Information related to the donations made during the year 
 

As of 31
st
 December 2016, the consolidated amount is TL 363 thousand (31

st
 December 2015: TL 530 thousand) 

for the donations made to public benefit associations and foundations, to universities, to healthcare organizations 

and institutions, to organizations pursuing public service goal in order to promote and support social, scientific, 

artistic and other activities that are helpful for the country, and to annexed budget provincial private 

administrations and to similar institutions. 
 
 

Base ratios related to financial position, profitability and debt discharging positions 

calculated based on the financial statement and information regulated within the scope of 

the provisions of this Communique 
 

 31
st
 December 2016 31

st
 December 2015 

Liquidity Ratios  
 

 Current Ratio 1.93 2.29 

 Liquidity Ratio 1.72 2.01 

 

Ratios Related to Financial Position 
 

 Total Liabilities / Total Assets 0.19 0.19 

 Consolidated Equity / Total Assets 0.81 0.81 

 Consolidated Equity / Total Debts 4.34 4.35 

 

Profitability Ratios 
 

 Net Profit for the Year / Consolidated Equity 0.06 0.02 

 Net Profit for the Year / Total Assets 0.05 0.02 

 Net Profit for the Year / Net Sales 0.13 0.06 
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Personnel and worker movements, collective contract applications, rights and benefits 

provided to personnel and workers 
 

The company's total number of personnel as of 31
st
 December 2016 is 16 (31

st
 December 2015: 15) and all of them 

are subject to the Labor Law. There is not any collective contract application in the Company, and the rights and 

benefits of the employees are determined in accordance with the relevant legislation and the internal regulations of 

Eczacıbaşı Group. Within this framework, the employees are provided with the benefits such as private health and 

life insurance, clothing and moving allowance, marriage, birth-death, child allowance depending on the quality of 

their duties as well as the training and career management programs suitable for their personal and professional 

development.  

 

 

Information related to the shares of the organizations, subject to consolidation, in the 

main partnership 
 

The Company possesses 37.28% of the shares in its main shareholder Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş., and the Company 

does not have any directive effect or control over the organization and management policies of Eczacıbaşı Holding 

A.Ş. 
 

 

Investment and dividend policy applied by the organization in order to strengthen its 

performance 
 

Investment policy 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar performs investment activities with growth purpose in healthcare and 

real estate development sectors. For this purpose, it purchases products or acquires companies being active in these 

sectors on one hand, and it produces real estate development projects on the other hand. 
 

Dividend policy 

Within the scope of the provisions of the Turkish Commercial Code, the Capital Markets Legislation, Tax 

Legislation, other relevant legislations and the article related to profit distribution in the Articles of Association; 

the Board of Directors decided during its meeting on 29
th

 March 2013 to apply a profit distribution policy within 

the following concept, and this decision was submitted to the approval of the partners and accepted by them during 

the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting of 2013 held on 15
th

 April 2014.  
 

 The principle was adopted to distribute dividend as cash and/or bonus share over the “distributable profit for 

the period”, calculated within the scope of the Capital Markets Legislation and the other relevant legislations, 

based on the net profit for the year in the financial statements issued within the scope of the Capital Markets 

Legislation and made be subject to independent audit. 

 In the Articles of Association, there is not a specific regulation envisaging the application of giving profit 

share to the employees and the members of the Board of Directors or preferred stock and promoter’s 

dividend share related to obtaining share from profit. 

 The profit distribution proposals submitted by the Board of Directors to the approval of the General 

Assembly are issued by considering the delicate balances between the current profitability position of the 

organization, the possible expectations of the shareholders and the envisaged growth strategies of the 

Company. 

 The attention is paid to make the profit share payments (cash and/or bonus share) within the legal periods and 

as soon as possible following the General Assembly Meeting so as to be until the end of the period envisaged 

within the legislation at the latest. 
 

This dividend policy is still applied and the Board of Directors has not made any change within this regard. 

 

Other Information 
 

Explanations regarding special audit and public audit 
 

The semi-annual and annual financial statements are independently audited within framework of the Capital 

Markets Board regulations on financial reporting and independent audit. 
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Information about lawsuits instituted against the Company likely to affect the financial position and 

activities of the Company and possible results thereof 
 

There is no lawsuit instituted against the Company likely to affect the financial position and activities of the 

Company. 

 

Explanations regarding administrative or judicial sanctions imposed on the Company and members of the 

managing body due to such practices contrary to the legislation provisions 
 

There is no administrative and legal sanction imposed against the Company and the members of the managing 

body due to such practices contrary to the legislation provisions. 

 

Affiliate Company Report  
 

Upon the Resolution of our Board of Directors number 3 and dated 7
th

 March 2017; the report dated 7
th

 March 

2017 which was issued, in accordance with the article 199 of the Turkish Commercial Code number 6102, within 

the first three months of the activity year regarding the relations of our Company with its controlling partner and 

subsidiaries of the controlling partner was assessed according to the situations and conditions known by us and 

within this scope, the commercial relations of our Company during the previous activity year with its controlling 

partner Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. and the subsidiaries of the controlling partner were examined in detail and it was 

concluded that during the previous activity year, there was no transaction made with the controlling company or 

subsidiaries of the controlling company, upon instruction by the controlling company or in favor of the controlling 

company or a subsidiary of the controlling company, or that during the previous year, there was no precaution 

taken or avoided from being taken in favor of the controlling company or of a subsidiary of the controlling 

company; that the transactions made were performed in compliance with the commercial conditions and 

precedents; and that for this reason, there was no precaution that might cause loss on our Company, which was 

taken or avoided from being taken, and that there was no transaction or precaution to require offsetting.  

 

Circumstances under which shares are owned which directly or indirectly represent five, ten, twenty, 

twenty-five, thirty-three, fifty, sixty-seven or hundred percent of the capital of a stock corporation, or when 

shares fall below such percentages, and reasons thereof 
 

Within the limitations determined in the Turkish Commercial Code, in 2016: 
 

 Changes occurred in participation rates of the financial fixed assets in which the Company directly participates,     

and reasons thereof: 
 

  Not available. 
  

 Changes occurred in participation rates of the financial fixed assets in which the Company indirectly 

participates and reasons thereof: 
 

 

 

Active 

Partnership 

Percentage (%) 

 

  Trade Name of Partnership Owned 2016 2015 Description 

Moleküler Görüntüleme Ticaret ve Sanayi A.Ş. -  50.00 Sold. 

RTS Renal Tedavi Hizmetleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.  -  30.00     Sold. 

Transmed Diyaliz ve Tıbbi Hizmetler Ticaret A.Ş.  -  30.00     Sold. 

Ren-Tıp Özel Sağlık Hizmetleri Ltd. Şti.  -  30.00     Sold. 

RTS İzmit Renal Tedavi Hizmetleri A.Ş.  -  30.00     Sold. 

RTS Antalya Renal Tedavi Hizmetleri A.Ş.  -  30.00     Sold. 

Onur Diyaliz Hizmetleri A.Ş.  -  30.00     Sold. 

Tasfiye Halinde Renal Tedavi Sistemleri A.Ş.  -  29.82     Sold. 

Güneydoğu Özel Sağlık Hizmetleri Ltd. Şti.  -  29.50     Sold. 

Almet Sağlık Hizmetleri Ticaret A.Ş.  -  24.00     Sold. 

RTS Beyhekim Renal Tedavi Servisleri A.Ş. -  24.00     Sold. 

Özel Başar Tıp Teşhis ve Tedavi Kliniği Hizmetleri A.Ş. -  23.99     Sold. 

RTS Seyhan Renal Tedavi Hizmetleri A.Ş. -  21.90     Sold. 
 

If requested by one of the members of the managing body, the conclusion section of the report stipulated in 

the Paragraph 4, Article 199 of the Turkish Commercial Code 
 

No such request has been received from members of the managing body. 
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Assessment of the activities of 1
st
 January - 31

st
 December 2016 period 

 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar has a kind of holding structure, and it is active in healthcare and 

consumption sector and it directly carries out real estate development activities with its affiliate companies, 

business partnerships and subsidiaries included within this consolidated structure. Accordingly, the explanations 

by the Company within this subject are made based on the sectors in which it is active, and the distribution of the 

organizations, active in these sectors, by the markets is as follows: 

 

Sector/Market of Activity Corporate Name 
 

Healthcare Sector 

Reference and equivalent pharmaceuticals market EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. 

  Eczacıbaşı İlaç Ticaret A.Ş. 

Hospital products market  Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.(i) 

Biological and biotechnological products market Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (ii)  

Dialysis treatment market  RTS Renal Tedavi Hizmetleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (iii) 

Nuclear medicine sector  Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Ticaret ve Sanayi A.Ş. 

  Moleküler Görüntüleme Ticaret ve Sanayi A.Ş. (iv) 

  Monrol Europe SRL 

   Monrol Poland LTD 

   Monrol Egypt for Manufacturing LLC 

   Radiopharma Egypt (S.A.E) 

   Monrol Bulgaria LTD 

  Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nuclear Products Industry & Trade Co - Jordan 

  Capintec, Inc. (iv) 

  Monrol MENA LTD 

  Monrol Gulf DMCC 

  HSM Consulting LTD 

Healthcare services  Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. 

  Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. 

 
Consumption Sector 

Consumer products market  Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 

Wet towel market  Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.  

Out-of-home consumption market  Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel Ürün ve Hizmetler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 

Coiffeur products market  Eczacıbaşı-Schwarzkopf Kuaför Ürünleri Pazarlama A.Ş. 

 
Real Estate Activities 

Kanyon   (v) 

Ormanada Project 

Real estate development  Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş. 

 
Other 

Ceramic coating market  Vitra Karo Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 

Exportation services   Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 

  
i)   During its Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting held on 31

st 
January 2017, it was decided to legally 

initiate the liquidation process of the company under the provisions of the Commercial Code; and its trade 

name was registered as “Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.” on 6
th

 

February 2017. 
 

ii)   It was established on 7
th

 December 2015 and entered into service on 1
st
 February 2016, and 50% of its shares 

belongs to Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar and 50% of them belongs to Baxalta GmbH. The 

trade name of the Company was registered as Eczacıbaşı Shire Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. on 26
th 

January 2017. 
 

iii)   It was transferred to Baxter Healthcare S.A. in February 2016. 
 

iv)   Moleküler Görüntüleme Ticaret ve Sanayi A.Ş. was sold on 11
th

 November 2016 and Capintec, Inc. was sold 

on 5
th

 January 2017. 
 

v)   It corresponds to the total of Kanyon Office Block and the half of Bazaar Part. 
 

 



Activities in
Health Sector
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 Analysis and assessment of the management regarding the activity results 
 

In recent years, there have been significant developments and changes in the activities of Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar maintained by it through its affiliate companies, business partnerships and subsidiaries.  

 

While the public healthcare expenses were about TL 13,6 billion in 2003, it reached about TL 72,1 billion at the end 

of 2016. On the other hand, the pharmaceutical expenses were realized at about TL 21,5 billion. It is expected that 

the healthcare expenses will reach TL 93,3 billion in 2019. The increase in the opportunity to access healthcare 

services and pharmaceuticals has brought along the target to reduce these expenses. The high public discount 

applications provided in previous years were maintained also in 2016. The fixed Euro rate application continues 

being a threat for the pharmaceuticals sector.  

 

While determining the strategic decisions and targets of the organizations under its control, Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar considered also these significant developments in the field of pharmaceuticals. 

 

Employing 330 field personnel around Turkey, Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama realizes marketing and sales of original 

human medicines and treatment-auxiliary products within framework of the license agreements concluded with the 

leading domestic and foreign organizations in their respective fields. The fields of gastroenterology and respiration 

come to the forefront as the new growth and focus fields. In addition, having decided to concentrate on the fields of 

nephrology, oncology, hematology, allergy, pediatrics, dermatology, parenteral nutrition, biosurgery and anesthesia 

products, the organization quickly puts this decision into practice and carries on its studies by seeking new licencers 

and reference products. Within this scope, 6 new contracts were concluded in 2016. Upon the contract concluded 

with Zydus Cadilla, the biosimilar field was determined as the primary growth field. Moreover, upon the transition 

of 76 employees from Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri to Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama as of 1
st
 February 2016 and 

upon completion of the transfer of 16 pharmaceuticals and 41 products in medical device class under Baxter license 

to Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama, the marketing of the products was started by Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama. 

 

According to the accumulated International Medical Statistics (IMS) data of December 2016 period; while the 

Turkish pharmaceutical market grew at 15.1% based on TL, Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama showed a growth of 20.8%. 

  

In accordance with the reorganization decision made in March 2014 by Baxter, the 22-year global partner of 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri; “Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.” was established in 

order to focus on the field of Biological and Biotechnological Products upon the transformation process realized in 

2015. The Hospital Products and Biosurgery product portfolios of Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri were 

transferred to Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama, and its Renal Products portfolio was transferred to the organization Baxter 

Renal Turkey. Under the roof of Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri, the manufacture of parenteral and peritoneal 

dialysis solutions in Istanbul Ayazağa plants were continued until 30
th

 June 2016, and their sales were continued 

until 31
st
 December 2016. Certain assets related to IV serum production were transferred to Koçak Farma, a rental 

contract was concluded regarding making the manufacturing plant available to Koçak Farma until 31
st
 December 

2017, and the liquidation process of Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri was started on 31
st
 January 2017. 

 

Being the newest member of Eczacıbaşı Healthcare Group, Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta started making the innovative and 

modern treatments in the fields of hematology and immunology available to patients and healthcare professionals as 

of 1
st 

February 2016. 

 

Having taken the road with the vision to become the biotechnology leader offering the most innovative treatments 

healing the lives of patients, Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta was established on 7
th

 December 2015 under the 50-50% 

partnership structure and entered into service on 1
st
 February 2016. It aims to increase the treatment opportunities of 

patients in Turkey and to enhance the health standards with the innovative and advanced product portfolio of our 

global partner Baxalta in the fields of hematology and immunology. Following the global merger of Shire and 

Baxalta in June, it became the leading global biotechnology company of the world in the fields of rare diseases and 

other diseases requiring high level of specialty. As of 26
th

 January 2017, the trade name of the company was 

changed as Eczacıbaşı Shire Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. and its 50-50% partnership structure is 

maintained. 
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 Analysis and assessment of the management regarding the activity results (continued) 
 

According to the accumulated IMS date of December 2016 period; the market share of Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta, realized 

as 23.7% at the end of 2015, in the field of hemophilia treatment was 24.1% in 2016. In immunology field being 

another treatment area, its market share was 31.5% in 2016 compared to 28.9% at the end of 2015. The leadership of 

the organization continues in both fields. 

 

Being the leading organization in nuclear medicine sector, Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler continues production 

in total of 11 plants in Gebze, Ankara, Adana, Izmir, Istanbul, Antalya and Malatya at home and Romania, Bulgaria, 

Egypt and Poland on abroad. It exports to 48 countries in total with Egypt, India and Algeria being in the first place. 

In addition, it operates cyclotron plants in Kuwait-Kuwait, Dubai-United Arab Emirates and Baku-Azerbaijan. It 

continues its studies to develop 6 different products within framework of R&D activities. The first production of I-

123, among the solid targets, was realized in February 2017.  

 

Started its activities in the field of occupational health and safety in 2013 as the 100% affiliate of Eczacıbaşı Sağlık 

Hizmetleri being the leading organization in the field of home healthcare services (homecare and assistance services, 

disease management), Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. showed an increase of about 112.4% in its 

number of people received service (50.673 people) as of the end of 2016 compared to the number in 2015 (23.858 

people). 
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Sector in which the organization is active and its position in this sector 

 

Reference and equivalent pharmaceuticals market: 

Carrying on marketing activities in the pharmaceuticals sector mainly with its imported reference product portfolio, 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama has the products of Sanofi-Aventis, Chugai-Sanofi Aventis, P&G, Astellas, Sandoz, 

Galderma, Sigma-Tau, Almirall, Tillots, Aspen and Juvise in its product portfolio. The equivalent products have 

also a significant place in the portfolio of Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama. As a result of the distributorship contract 

concluded with Baxter AG, the company made its entrance to the hospital products sector as of February 2016 with 

30 brands in the branches of anesthesia, intensive care, nutrition, oncology and biosurgery. According to the 

accumulated IMS data of December 2016 period; while the Turkish Pharmaceutical Market grew at 15.1% based on 

TL, Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama showed a growth of 20.8%. 
 

Biological and biotechnological products market: 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta carries on business in immunology and hematology treatment fields regarding biotechnological 

products. 
 

According to the accumulated IMS date of December 2016 period; the market share of Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta, realized 

as 23.7% at the end of 2015, in the field of hemophilia treatment was 24.1% at the end of 2016. In immunology field 

being another treatment area, its market share was 31.5% at the end of 2016 compared to 28.9% at the end of 2015. 
 

Nuclear medicine sector: 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler is active as a radiopharmaceuticals manufacturer in the pharmaceutical sector. 

There are three sector competitors being active in Fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) market corresponding to 40.17% of 

2016 domestic sales and the organization is the leader of FDG market with a ratio of public tender award of 50.93%.  
 

In SPECT product group corresponding to 17.78% of 2016 consolidated sales, the organization performs exportation 

to 25 countries as well as the domestic market. The biggest exportation markets of the organization are Egypt and 

Algeria followed by Pakistan and India. Other than FDG and SPECT product groups, Eczacıbaşı Monrol performs 

also the sales of FDG plant installation and operation projects in the nearby geography.  
 

Healthcare services market: 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri carries on business in healthcare sector and it is the organization providing the most 

extensive healthcare services (nursing, physician, therapy services at home, remote healthcare monitoring, providing 

medical device to administer required treatments to patients) in Turkey.  

 

Forecasts related to the development of the organization 

 

Reference and equivalent pharmaceuticals market: 

After transferring the licenses of some of its products to Eczacıbaşı-Zentiva Sağlık Ürünleri as of July 2007, 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama started intense studies related to new product/company. In addition, it continues its 

studies to add CE-certified medical devices, cosmetic products, food supplements and free priced products from 

intermediate products to its product range besides its reference and equivalent drug portfolio. 
 

In 2016, 6 new product contracts were concluded. 3 of these contracts are license contracts, 1 of them is co-

marketing contract and the other 2 of them are sales, marketing and distribution contracts. The activities are 

continued to increase the number of new product contracts also in the upcoming period. 
 

Hospital products market: 

Having 50% shares of Eczacıbaşı Baxter Hastane Ürünleri, Baxter Group announced that it finalized the 

restructuring of its business lines of medical products and biotechnology products under two different and 

independent healthcare organization as Baxter and Baxalta, and made application to the Competition Board on 19
th

 

October 2015 in order to get permission for the operations to be made in parallel with this. The Competition Board 

granted approval for the mentioned application during its meeting held on 2
nd

 December 2015. 
 

Within the scope of all of these developments, Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. was 

established on 7
th

 December 2015 with the capital of TL 50 thousand and within the partnership of Eczacıbaşı İlaç, 

Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar (50%) and Baxalta GmbH (50%) in order to be engaged in “importation, manufacture, 

marketing, distribution and exportation of any medical product including products produced from human blood and 

recombinant products used in treatment of rare diseases encountered in the areas of hematology, hemophilia, 

immunology and oncology”, and went on operation on 1
st
 February 2016. 
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Due to the decision that the serum operations would not be included within the portfolio of Baxter Turkey in the 

near future in accordance with the global restructuring decision of Baxter Group made on 27
th

 March 2014 and 

within the framework of the constant reassessment related to the serum therapy strategies of Baxter, and in parallel 

with these developments; the necessity arose to limit and adopt the fields of activity of Eczacıbaşı Baxter and the 

following decisions were made during the meetings of the Board of Directors held on 22
nd

 and 25
th

 January 2016: 
 

i) To terminate the operation of distribution of the biotechnological products conducted within Eczacıbaşı Baxter; 

to transfer certain assets belonging to the biotechnological products within this scope to Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta 

Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“EBAXA”), newly established between Baxalta GmbH, a company of 

Baxalta Group being expert in biotechnological products, and EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar; 

and to conclude a distribution contract with Baxalta Group for the distribution of the biotechnological products 

by Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta, 

 
 

ii) To terminate the manufacturing and the distribution operation of dialysis and peritoneum dialysis products 

conducted within Eczacıbaşı Baxter and its affiliate; to transfer certain assets belonging to the dialysis products 

within this scope to Baxter Turkey Renal Hizmetler A.Ş. (“Baxter Renal”); and to transfer its shares, which it 

had in RTS Renal Tedavi Hizmetleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“RTS”) and which corresponded to 60% of the 

capital of RTS Renal Tedavi Hizmetleri, to Baxter Healthcare S.A., 

 
 

iii) To terminate the distribution operation for the hospital products conducted within Eczacıbaşı Baxter; to transfer 

certain assets belonging to the hospital products within this scope to EIP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş.; and to 

conclude a distribution contract with Baxter Group for the distribution of the hospital products by EIP Eczacıbaşı 

İlaç Pazarlama, 

 
 

iv) So as to be limited for a short period to be defined as the transition period;  
 

a)  To grant Eczacıbaşı Baxter with the authorization to operate the manufacturing plant so as to be limited with 

the manufacturing areas of peritoneum dialysis and IV solutions until 30
th

 June 2016,  

b)  To continue the sales operation of IV solutions until 31
st
 December 2016,  

c)  To terminate the labor contracts of the personnel, working related to this operation in the manufacturing and 

sales departments, as of the indicated dates by paying all of their rights and obligations, 

d)  And to provide the newly established EBAXA, Baxter Renal and RTS with the IT and supply chain services  

until 31
st
 December 2016. 

 

As of 31
st
 December 2015, the asset groups related to Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama, Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta and Baxter 

Turkey were classified as retained assets for sales purpose following the asset transfer contracts concluded between 

these companies and the Group. The sales operations were completed at the end of February 2016. 

 

Within the scope of the restructuring studies, the hospital products were transferred by means of asset sales to 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama, the biological products to the newly established Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta and PD products to 

the newly established Baxter Turkey. Possessed by Eczacıbaşı Baxter, 60% of the shares of RTS Renal Tedavi 

Hizmetleri was transferred by means of share sales to Baxter Healthcare S.A. in February 2016. The asset sales 

involved fixed assets, stock, license and contracts.  

 

In addition, the relevant asset groups of the business line called “Transfusion Therapy”, conducted within Eczacıbaşı 

Baxter, were transferred to Fresenius Vial in January 2016.  

 

On 17
th

 October 2016, Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri made an application for permit to the Competition 

Authority within the scope of the pre-agreement made related to the transfer of some assets about IV serum 

production and of a part of the equipment, owned by Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar and used by 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri, to Koçak Farma İlaç ve Kimya Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (Koçak). During its 

meeting number 16-36/625-278 held on 3
rd

 November 2016, the Competition Authority permitted the application 

related to the mentioned transfer. 

 

Accordingly, on 18
th

 October 2016, a Sales of Assets Contract was concluded with Koçak related to the sales of the 

below-listed assets in relation to the business line of IV serum products. 

 

 

 



EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 

14 

 

Pursuant to the Sales of Assets Contract, it was decided to transfer: 

- the equipment (*), within the possession of Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar, for TL 3 million, 

-   the marketing licenses, the brands and the equipment (*), within the possession of Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane 

Ürünleri, for TL 24.4 million in total, 

-   and the stocks, within the possession of Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri and of which amount would be 

determined as a result of the count to be performed on the transfer date, for the amount of "Book Value + 5%".  
 

(*)  Related to the equipment, the values indicated on the study conducted by LOTUS Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve 

Danışmanlık A.Ş. were taken into consideration. 
 

The half of the transfer price was collected on the contract date and the balance amount was collected on 14
th
 

November 2016 after the approval of the Competition Authority was obtained and all of the other prerequisites were 

fulfilled. 
 

Regarding the same issue; pursuant to the decision of Eczacıbaşı-Baxter to gradually terminate its production 

activities in the IV serum production facilities, where it still carried out its activities and which was within the 

possession of Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar, until 31
st
 December 2016; a Rental Contract was 

concluded on 18
th

 October 2016 with Koçak related to making the serum production facilities be used until 31
st
 

December 2017. In accordance with the Rental Contract, the monthly rental is TL 325 thousand (The facility was 

delivered to Koçak on 1
st
 November 2016 and the rental payments started as of this date.). 

 

Biological and biotechnological products market: 

According to IMS data, the treatment areas in which Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta is active (hemophilia, immunology) ranked 

first among the most growing markets in Turkey in 2011-2016. 
 

Nuclear medicine sector: 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler foresees to continue its growth realized at home, with its investments made up 

to now, also with its investments and business partnerships performed at home and on abroad. 
 

In 2011 and 2012, the investment of three FDG manufacturing plants was realized at home. The FDG manufacturing 

plan established in Romania started manufacturing and sales in July 2012 and the FDG manufacturing plant 

established in Egypt started sales in May 2012. The incorporation was made in 2011 for the FDG manufacturing 

plant established in Poland. In 2012 in Bulgaria and Jordan, two companies were established as Monrol Bulgaria 

LTD and Eczacıbaşı Monrol-Jordan in 100% partnership of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol with the same objective. The 

investment in Poland started manufacturing and sales activities as of February 2015 and the investment in Bulgaria 

went into action as of February 2016.  
 

In September 2015, Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler established Monrol MENA Ltd., of which 100% shares 

owned by it, in Jebel Ali Free Zone within the borders of Dubai Emirate in the United Arab Emirates; and by means 

of this affiliate, it acquired 100% of the shares of the company “HSM Consulting Ltd.” established in Ras Al 

Khaimah Free Zone again within the borders of Dubai Emirate. The mentioned company possesses 75% of the 

shares of the company Radio Pharma Egypt (S.A.E.) being active in Egypt. 
 

Unlike the other foreign investments, Radio Pharma Egypt (S.A.E.) has the established infrastructure to perform 

manufacturing and sales both of FDG and generator in Egypt market. Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler reinforced 

its presence in Egypt market, as its focus, with this acquisition. 
 

Besides these; establishing, acquisition, installation or operation of new manufacturing plants on abroad with 

international business partnership to be made are among the strategic targets. In line with this strategy, it is planned 

that both the geographic coverage zone and the product portfolio will be expanded and thus the development will be 

accelerated.  
 

Healthcare services market: 

The Ministry of Health issued a circular related to the disease management, which is one of the most important 

service areas of Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri, in March 2016; and as a result of this circular, the product range of 

the organizations were narrowed in their service sector. It is foreseen that this narrowing will continue also in the 

coming months. 
 

Established in 2013 with 100% capital of Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri, Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi 

A.Ş. showed an increase of about 112.4% in its number of people received service (50.673 people) as of the end of 

2016 compared to the number at the end of 2015 (23.858 people). 
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The main factors affecting the performance of the organization, the significant changes in the environment 

where the organization is active and the policies applied by the organization against these changes 

 

Reference and equivalent pharmaceuticals market: 

The main factors affecting the performance of Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama are as follows: 
 

 The reference price system applied by the Ministry of Health, the Euro Value which is used for the conversion of 

TL and of which calculation method was explained by the Cabinet Decree, and the global budget execution 

managed by the Social Security Institution, 
 

 The registration process of the Ministry of Health, 
 

 The condition of GMP (“Good Manufacturing Practices”) for the imported products within registration process 

and the extension of the process accordingly, 
 

 The entry speed of the registered products in the reimbursement lists of the Social Security Institution (“SSI”), 
 

 The compulsory public institutions discounts of SSI. 
 

As a precaution to the negative affects of all of these, Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama includes the free priced products, 

for which permission can be obtained fast such as cosmetic products, medical devices and food supplements, in its 

portfolio. 
 

Nuclear medicine sector: 

The performance of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler depends on the development of the local and foreign 

markets and on the healthcare policies applied. The public payment terms are an important factor at home, and both 

the inclusion of the products in reimbursement and the terms of reimbursement directly affect the performance of the 

organization. 
 

In order to strengthen its performance, Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler is engaged in activities to present its 

products and to increase their usage. For this reason, it makes investments with the purpose to expand 

geographically and it presents service projects at home/on abroad. In addition, it carries out R&D activities to 

develop its product portfolio and it launches its developed products to the market.  
 

Focusing on molecular technology and radiopharmaceuticals production, being the main field of activity of 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler; increasing the activity in domestic and foreign markets; and achieving a 

healthy growth in the right direction are among its strategic targets. Following the assessments made within this 

scope; 
 

- The Share Purchase and Sale Contract was concluded on 1
st 

September 2016 regarding the sales of all of the 

shares of Capintec Inc., of which 100% of shares is owned by the Company and which is incorporated in the 

USA and operates in the field of the manufacture and service of energy measurement devices in nuclear 

medicine, to V.O.S.S. Varinak Onkoloji Sistemleri Satış ve Servis A.Ş. (Varinak) for TL 25 million. The part of 

TL 10 million of the sales price was collected on the same day and the part of TL 12 million of the remaining 

amount of TL 15 million was collected on 22
nd

 December 2016, and the balance amount of TL 3 million was 

collected on the date of share transfer (5
th

 January 2017). 
 

- Within the scope of the Share Purchase and Sale Contract concluded, the Company transferred on 11
th

 November 

2016 all of its shares in Moleküler Görüntüleme, 99.99% of which was owned by it, to Varinak for TL 3 million 

and the total sales price was collected on the same day. 
 

Healthcare services market: 

The main factors affecting the performance of Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri are as follows: 
 

 The changes in macro indicators in economy (related to the drug companies that is an important customer 

segment in the service area of Disease Management, the problems encountered both in finding new customer and 

in enlarging the projects conducted with the existing customers, and the problem of some patients receiving 

service at home to get support from unqualified healthcare personnel with less cost particularly during the 

financial crisis periods), 
 

 The problems encountered in recruiting nurses who form the biggest section among the employees. 
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Established in 2013, Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi carries on business in the field of securing health 

of employees in workplaces. 

 

The main factors affecting the performance of Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi are as follows: 
 

 Pursuant to the law number 6745 published on 7
th

 September 2016 on the Official Gazette; the suspension of the 

implementation liabilities of the items 6 and 7, indicated on the article 38 of the Law on Occupational Health and 

Safety number 6331, for the workplaces considered as public enterprises and for the private entities having less 

than 50 employees from 1
st
 July 2016 to 1

st
 July 2017. 

 

As a precaution against the negative impacts of this suspension, the Organization aims to increase the focus on the 

enterprises included in the classes of Hazardous and Highly Hazardous, being among those enterprises to which it 

provides service. 

 

Prices, sales turnover, sales conditions of goods and services subjecting of the activity and developments 

observed in these within the year, developments in efficiency and productivity coefficients, reasons for 

significant changes in these compared to the previous years 

 

Reference and equivalent pharmaceuticals market: 

Other than its free priced non-prescription drugs, the prices of the drugs sold by Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama are 

determined according to the price decree of the Ministry of Health. The prices of the reimbursed drugs are converted 

in TL with the Euro exchange rate, determined by the Ministry of Health, based on the lowest price of the drug in 

the determined five reference countries in the European Union.  

 

The sales conditions are formed depending on the compulsory government discount applied by the government as 

well as the market conditions. During the fierce competition periods, campaigns limited to non-prescription drugs 

are made and the sales is supported by providing additional commercial benefits to customers. 

 

Biological and biotechnological products market: 

The sales prices of the products are determined according to the price decree and communique of the Ministry of 

Health. The prices of the reimbursed drugs are converted in TL with the Euro exchange rate, determined by the 

Ministry of Health, based on the lowest price of the drug in the determined 7 reference countries and by considering 

the decree and the communique. As of 26
th

 June 2016, Feiba 500 U medicine gained a price increase of 35% due to 

the change in the reference country. 

 

The sales conditions are formed depending on the compulsory discount ratios applied by SSI as well as the market 

conditions. 

 

Nuclear medicine sector: 

The cumulative consolidated sales revenue of December 2016 increased by 4.10% year-on-year. In 2016, the FDG 

prices increased by 4.62% in the domestic markets and by 13.39% based on TL in the foreign markets compared to 

the previous year. The foreign FDG revenues increased by 31.58% in total compared to the previous year and this 

increase was achieved with the increase in the revenues obtained by the company from its FDG production facilities 

on abroad. In 2016, the prices of the generator products, included in SPECT product group, increased comprated to 

the previous year by 9.57% in the domestic markets and by 10.52% based on TL in the foreign markets. Regarding 

SPECT product group, the revenues decreased compared to the previous year by 7.68% due to the competition both 

in the domestic and the foreign markets. 

 

Healthcare services market: 

The prices and the conditions of the services provided by Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri are determined in the new 

year mainly according to the market conditions, they survive all the year round and determined again in the 

following period. 
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Descriptions related to characteristics of the Organization's manufacturing units, capacity usage ratios and 

trends, overall capacity utilization ratio and comparison of developments, amount, quality, sales and prices in 

production of goods and services in its field of activity with figures of the previous period 

 

Reference and equivalent pharmaceuticals market: 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama and Eczacıbaşı İlaç Ticaret do not have any manufacturing activity. They import their 

products or they perform contract manufacturing. 

 

Hospital products market: 

Due to the decision that the serum operations would not be included within the portfolio of Baxter Turkey in the 

near future in accordance with the global restructuring decision of Baxter Group made on 27
th

 March 2014 and 

within the framework of the constant reassessment related to the serum therapy strategies of Baxter, and in parallel 

with these developments; the necessity arose to limit and adopt the fields of activity of Eczacıbaşı Baxter and the 

manufacturing was terminated by assessing all of the studies conducted, and the liquidation process of the company 

was legally initiated in accordance with the provisions of the Commercial Code. 

 

Biological and biotechnological products market: 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta does not have local manufacturing activity. The products are manufactured in Austria and 

imported from Baxalta GmBH.  

 

Nuclear medicine sector: 
Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler has 11 active manufacturing plant in Gebze, Ankara, Adana, Izmir, Istanbul, 

Antalya and Malatya in Turkey and in Egypt, Romania, Poland and Bulgaria on abroad. The manufacture amount 

increased by about 10.96% in FDG product groups compared to the same period of the previous year upon the 

starting-up of the new plants, and it decreased in SPECT product groups due to the competition both in the domestic 

and the exportation markets. 

 

Healthcare services market: 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri is a service organization and does not have any manufacturing activity. 

 

Research and development activities performed 

 

Reference and equivalent pharmaceuticals market: 

As it registers the imported products in Turkey, Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama does not have any R&D activities. 

However, it has invested in three products for the Turkish rights of the product at PHASE III since 2008. One of 

these products was licensed in the European Union, its licensing studies in Turkey were completed and the 

reimbursement process is ongoing. 

 

Biological and biotechnological products market: 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta does not have any R&D activity in Turkey. 

 

Nuclear medicine sector: 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler conducts development activities in terms of new product. The R&D activities 

performed with the sources of the organization are directly targeted to add new product in the portfolio and to 

develop the existing products. The R&D activities conducted with the international organizations (“IAEA”) are the 

activities increasing knowledge, quality and productivity. In addition, the R&D studies for original and innovative 

products are conducted with Turkish universities within the scope of Santez projects. 

 

TUBİTAK support was received for the R&D project themed “Obtaining radioisotopes I-124 and Cu-64 from solid 

targets and developing radiopharmaceuticals marked with these radioisotopes" which started in 2014 and which is 

planned to continue for 2 years. This project was completed as of the end of 2015 and it final report is being issued. 

With the R&D department that was restructured at the end of 2014, it is aimed to show a more focused approach for 

developing new products and improving the manufacturing processes. Within this scope, the business line in which 

the rare molecules are synthesized, as being one of the two main fields of activity within Moleküler Görüntüleme 

Ticaret ve Sanayi A.Ş., was transferred to the R&D department which has been restructured as of the beginning of 

2015 within Eczacıbaşı Monrol.  
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As of June 2015, the studies of the project of developing 6 different products, started with the sources of Eczacıbaşı-

Monrol Nükleer Ürünler under its R&D department, are ongoing. Two different applications were made for 

TUBİTAK support in November and December of 2015 for 4 of these products. One of these applications was 

approved in June 2016 by the Directorate of TUBITAK-TEYDEB and the support process was started. The project 

included within support is the “Project of Developing Molecular Synthesis of MDP [Methylenediphosphonic Acid] 

and MESO-DMSA [MESO-2,3-Dimercaptosuccinic Acid] Used as Active Substances for the Production of 

Radiopharmaceuticals” with the code 3151200 and it involves 2 different products. The studies related to the project 

are ongoing and the first period reporting was realized to TUBITAK. Regarding "Developing Radiopharmaceuticals 

F18-FET and F18-FDOPA to Diversify Pet Agents Marked with FLOR-18" being the other project for which 

application was made, the approval was received from the Directorate of TUBITAK-TEYDEB in November 2016. 

The project studies are ongoing. The purpose of this project is to develop two new radiopharmaceuticals (FET, 

FDOPA) marked with F-18 and to make them available in the nuclear medicine area in Turkey. The products are 

used for imaging of brain tumors and for diagnosis and monitoring of neurological diseases. With this project, the 

access to these products will be facilitated and it will be possible to generalize them. The fact that the studies will be 

realized in the facilities of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer in Gebze and Malatya will make contribution to the use of 

the existing sources and to the generalization of the R&D competence to country-wide. 

 

Within the scope of the R&D project, the application was made in October 2016 for a new project titled “Production 

of C-11 Raclopride Radiopharmaceutical and Micro-PET Imaging of Its Biodistribution in Mice”. The assessment of 

the application by TUBITAK-TEYDEB is waited. Within the scope of this project, it is planned to product 11C-

Raclopride together with the Radiopharmaceutical Products Research and Development (RAUG) working in 

coordination with the Nuclear Medicine Department of Ankara University (AU). For the first step, 11C Raclopride 

will be produced in the cyclotron facility, which is situated in AU and of which ten-year operation will be conducted 

by Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler, and the D2 receptor distribution in mice will be imaged with the Micro-

PET/CT animal imaging system available in this facility. In addition to these, 5 different product projects continued 

with its own sources by Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler are also ongoing. 

 

Healthcare services market: 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri does not have any R&D activity but it is tried to make the innovative approaches, to 

increase the productivity in the services, be adopted within the culture of the organization. 

 

Developments in investments, incentives used and the extent of incentive use 

 

Reference and equivalent pharmaceuticals market: 

Incentives are not used. 

 

Biological and biotechnological products market: 

Incentives are not used. 

 

Nuclear medicine sector: 

Istanbul-Yıldız and Antalya investments of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler came into operation in 2011. The 

investments of FDG manufacturing plants were completed for Egypt in May 2012 and for Malatya and Romania in 

July 2012; and they started manufacturing and sales. The investments of FDG manufacturing plants were completed 

in Bulgaria and Poland, and two companies as Monrol Bulgaria LTD and Monrol Poland LTD were established in 

100% partnership of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol. Monrol Poland LTD started manufacturing and sales as of February 2015 

and Monrol Bulgaria came into operation in February 2016. In this way, the process of starting manufacturing and 

sales was completed for all plants, in which the company made investment, as of the beginning of 2016. 

 

Healthcare services market: 

There is not any incentive used by Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri but a project application was made to benefit from 

TUBİTAK incentives. 

 

Finance sources and risk management policies of the organization 

 

Reference and equivalent pharmaceuticals market: 

The finance source of the companies being active in this sector is the collection from drug sales as their main field of 

activity, and the risk factor for them is importing over high exchange rate when there is increase in exchange rate 

and selling over the fixed price rate determined by the Ministry of Health. 
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Filed by the unions, being active in the pharmaceuticals sector, related to the update of the Euro rate used in the 

calculation of the drug prices; the case was won against the relevant organizations and the institutions; and as a 

result of the mentioned case, the exchange rate of 1,9595 was updated and validated as 2,00 as of 1
st
 June 2015. 

Pursuant to the Decision on Human Medicine Pricing of 1
st
 July 2015, the value for 1 (one) Euro in Turkish Lira to 

be used for the pricing of human medicine is determined by being multiplied with the adaptation coefficient 

determined as 70% of the annual average Euro value to be calculated based on the realizations of the daily selling 

rate of exchange of Euro of the Central Bank of the Republic of Turkey that is of indicator quality published on the 

Official Gazette of the previous year. The Price Evaluation Commission holds meeting during the first 5 business 

days of each year, announces the value of 1 (one) Euro to be used for the pricing of human medicine products within 

the scope of the above-mentioned procedures, and the value enters into force 45 days after the publication.  

 

Pursuant to the provisional clause of the mentioned Decision and as a result of the multiplication of the average 

selling rate of exchange of Euro, of the period of 90 days before the publication date of the Decision, with 70%, the 

new Euro value was determined as TL 2,0787 so as to be valid as of 4
th

 September 2015. The Euro value used in 

2016 was determined as TL 2,1166 so as to be valid as of 22
nd

 February 2016. And the Euro value to be used for 

2017 was announced as TL 2,3421 on 6
th

 January 2017 and it is valid as of 20
th

 February 2017. 

 

Hospital products market: 

During the first quarter of 2016, Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri paid off the short-term loans in TL that it used 

in 2015, and it used daily bank loans within the period and it does not have any loan at the end of the period.  

 

The serum production activities of in Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri was gradually terminated and during its 

Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting held on 31
st 

January 2017, it was decided to legally initiate the liquidation 

process of the company under the provisions of the Commercial Code. 

 

Nuclear medicine sector: 
The finance sources of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler are its capital, the investments received and the working 

capital loan. The organization provides direct products and service with its dealer network at home and with its 

dealers on abroad. The dealer risks are managed with contracts and assurances of certain amounts are received 

additionally. The feasibility analyses and the investment performance monitoring are regularly performed for the 

risks related to the investments. 

 

Healthcare services market: 

The main finance source of Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri is the collection of the services provided to the patients and 

the drug companies. In order to reduce the collection risk, it is tried to collect the price of the provided service in 

cash as far as possible. As the organization does not have any debt in foreign exchange, it is not subject to any 

exchange rate risk. 

 

Precautions planned to improve the financial structure of the organization 

 

Reference and equivalent pharmaceuticals market: 

The financial structure will be improved by concluding contracts for unrivalled and high priced new products, 

adding high free priced products with market potential to the portfolio, and by rapidly assessing co-marketing and 

license transfer options. 

 

Biological and biotechnological products market: 

In 2017, Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta aims to make a channel transformation by realizing a higher growth in the prescription 

sales channel than the other channels. 

 

Nuclear medicine sector: 

The precautions that may be taken to improve the financial structure of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler are the 

improvements that can be made in activity monetary and the number of days sales in receivables. The activity 

monetary and the number of days sales in receivables are regularly monitored with the market conditions, and the 

precautions are taken related to the delays in payments.  
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Healthcare services market: 

The primary policies implemented to improve the financial structure of the organization are as follows: 
 

 Collecting the service income in cash and in the beginning of the service as far as possible, 

 Extending the debt payment terms as far as possible and splitting the payments into installments, 

 Reducing the purchase costs, 

 Increasing the productivity in the operations of healthcare personnel providing service to patients, 

 Increasing the density of the service groups, of which costs are below the other product groups, in turnover, 

 Engaging in new subjects of activity in its area of activity. 

 

In addition, the studies are ongoing such as restoring the processes related to removing the problems that may be 

encountered in collection. 

 

Personnel and worker movements, collective contract applications, rights and benefits provided to personnel 

and workers 

 

Reference and equivalent pharmaceuticals market: 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama is a sales and marketing company and does not have any union member employee. The 

rights and benefits provided to the personnel are in parallel with the human resources applications of Eczacıbaşı 

Group and it has 439 employees in total as of 31
st
 December 2016 (31

st
 December 2015: 340). 

 

Hospital products market: 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri has 86 employees in total as of 31
st
 December 2016 (31

st
 December 2015: 565). 

Due to the finalization of the manufacture on 30
th

 June 2016, the employment contracts of 222 employees in total 

were terminated from 1
st
 July to 31

st
 December 2016 by paying all of their rights and obligations. There is not any 

collective contract in the organization. The rights and benefits provided to the personnel and workers are in parallel 

with the human resources applications of Eczacıbaşı Group. 

 

Biological and biotechnological products market: 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta has 99 employees as of 31
st
 December 2016. 

 

Nuclear medicine sector: 

There is not any collective contract application in Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler, and there is the application 

of annual performance bonus and private health insurance in addition to the rights of personnel and workers 

indicated in the laws in force and in the regulations. It has 230 employees in total as of 31
st
 December 2016 (31

st
 

December 2015: 223). 
 

Healthcare services market: 

There is not any collective contract application in Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri. The rights and benefits provided to 

the personnel are in parallel with the human resources applications of Eczacıbaşı Group and it has 247 employees in 

total as of 31
st
 December 2016 (31

st
 December 2015: 342). 

 

Information on organizational units apart from the headquarters 

 

Reference and equivalent pharmaceuticals market: 

The headquarters of Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama, where it manages all of its personnel, is in Levent/Istanbul. Together 

with other cities having their employees, the company carries on business all over Turkey. 
 

Hospital products market: 

Within the scope of the restructuring operations in Eczacıbaşı Baxter Hastane Ürünleri, the technical services 

building providing service in Ankara was transferred to Baxter Turkey, and its regional offices and regional 

directorates were also liquidated during the first quarter of 2016. 
 

Biological and biotechnological products market: 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta does not have any organizational unit apart from its headquarters. 
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Nuclear medicine sector: 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler has seven branches in total as one each in Ankara, Adana, Izmir, Antalya and 

Malatya and two in Istanbul apart from its headquarters. Its affiliate companies and their share percentages are given 

on the following table. In addition, it has a sales and distribution network of 6 dealers in Turkey, and of 34 

distributors/selling points on abroad in 24 countries. 

 

Country Name of Affiliate Company Partnership Structure % 

Romania Monrol Europe SRL Eczacıbaşı Monrol                     100.00 

Poland Monrol Poland LTD 
Eczacıbaşı Monrol                     
Monrol Europe SRL                  

49.00 

51.00 

Egypt Monrol Egypt for Manufacturing LLC 
Eczacıbaşı Monrol                    
Monrol Europe SRL                 

99.80 

  0.20 

Egypt Radiopharma Egypt (S.A.E) 
HSM Consulting LTD 

Natural Persons 

75.00 

25.00 

Bulgaria Monrol Bulgaria LTD Eczacıbaşı Monrol                   100.00 

Jordan 
Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nuclear Products Industry & 

Trade Co-Jordan 
Eczacıbaşı Monrol                  100.00 

USA Capintec, Inc. Eczacıbaşı Monrol                   100.00 

Dubai Monrol MENA LTD Eczacıbaşı Monrol                   100.00 

Dubai Monrol Gulf DMCC 
Monrol MENA LTD                 

Mohd & Obaid Al Mulla LLC  
80.00 

20.00 

Dubai HSM Consulting LTD Monrol MENA LTD 100.00 

 

Healthcare services market: 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri does not have any organizational unit apart from its headquarters. 

 

Other issues not included in the financial statements but to be useful for the users 

 

Reference and equivalent pharmaceuticals market: 

In addition to the precautions taken and being applied by the relevant Ministry and the institutions in order to reduce 

the health expenses; other precautions, which affected the development of the sector in a very negative way, have 

been also taken since 2009. These precautions are as follows in chronological order: 
 

 The discount ratios to be applied for the drugs, of which price is to be paid by the Social Security Institution 

(SSI), are declared on the Communique on Health Practices (“CHP”). 
 

 The discount ratios of 4% (the reference drugs below 6 years of age) and 11% (reference drugs and generic 

drugs over 6 years of age) on 10
th

 December 2004 were changed with the CHP amendments dated 29
th
 

September 2008, 4
th

 December 2009, 11
th

 December 2010, 5
th

 November 2011, 24
th

 March 2013 and 5
th

 

August 2015 and with the decision of the Healthcare Services Pricing Commission dated 23
rd

 February 2016. 
 

 Pursuant to the CHP amendment dated 4
th

 December 2009, the discount ratio of 12% started to be applied in 

addition to the base discount on the drugs, determined as of 20 years old and not having reference price, and on 

the reference drugs not having generic drugs all of which sales price to the storehouse was more than TL 6,79. 
 

 Pursuant to the CHP amendment dated 11
th

 December 2010, an increase of 9.5% was made on the existing 

discounts of all drugs, generics and reference drugs over 20 years of age all of which sales price to the 

storehouse was more than TL 6,79. 
 

 Pursuant to the CHP amendment dated 5
th

 November 2011, an increase of 7.5% was made on the existing 

discounts of the drugs over 20 years of age and of the generic drugs, and an increase of 8.5% was made on the 

existing discounts of the reference drugs all of which sales price to the storehouse was more than TL 6,79. 
 

 Pursuant to the CHP amendment dated 24
th

 March 2013, it was stated that a base discount of 7% or 11% would 

be applied as discount on the drugs with a sales price to the storehouse of TL 3,56 and above. It was stated that 

the following discounts would be applied to the following drugs: for the drugs of 20 years of age; a discount of 

7% on the drugs of with a sales price to the storehouse of TL 3,56 (included) to TL 6,78 (included); a discount 

of 20% on the drugs with a sales price to the storehouse of TL 6,79 (included) to TL 10,21 (included); a 

discount of 28% on the drugs with a sales price to the storehouse of TL 10,22 and above having reference and 

those not having a reference but being priced according to their manufacture card; and a discount of 40% on 

the drugs with a sales price to the storehouse of TL 10,22 and above not having reference until being priced. It 
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was indicated that the following discounts would be applied to the following drugs: for the reference drugs not 

having generics; a discount of 20% on the drugs with a sales price to the storehouse of TL 3,56 (included) to 

TL 6,78 (included), and a discount of 41% on the drugs with a sales price to the storehouse of TL 6,79 and 

above. It was indicated that the following discounts would be applied to the following drugs: for the reference 

drugs having generics and for generic drugs; a discount of 20% on the drugs with a sales price to the 

storehouse of TL 3,56 (included) to TL 6,78 (included), and a discount of 28% on the drugs with a sales price 

to the storehouse of TL 6,79 and above. 
 

 Pursuant to the CHP amendment dated 5
th

 August 2015, the sales prices to the storehouse applied on the 

discount levels of the drugs with low prices were updated in accordance with the new exchange rate. 

Accordingly, the scales of TL 3,56, TL 6,78 and TL 10,21 were changed as TL 3,63, TL 6,93 and TL 10,42. 
 

 Upon the announcement of SSI dated 23
rd

 February 2016, the new discount rates entered into force on the same 

date according to the price ranges forming basis to the public institutions discount rates pursuant to the 

Healthcare Services Pricing Commission. In accordance with this change, the new discount rates and 

thresholds are provided below: 
 

The following discounts are applied to the following drugs: for the drugs of 20 years of age; a discount of 0% 

on the drugs of with a sales price to the storehouse of TL 3,84 (included) to TL 7,32 (included); a discount of 

10% on the drugs with a sales price to the storehouse of TL 7,33 (included) to TL 11,02 (included); a discount 

of 28% on the drugs with a sales price to the storehouse of TL 11,03 and above having reference and those not 

having a reference but being priced according to their manufacture card; and a discount of 40% on the drugs 

with a sales price to the storehouse of TL 11,03 and above not having reference until being priced. The 

following discounts are applied to the following drugs: for the reference drugs not having generics; a discount 

of 10% on the drugs with a sales price to the storehouse of TL 3,84 (included) to TL 7,32 (included); a 

discount of 31% on the drugs with a sales price to the storehouse of TL 7,33 (included) to TL 11,02 (included); 

and a discount of 41% on the drugs with a sales price to the storehouse of TL 11,03 and above. The following 

discounts are applied to the following drugs: for the reference drugs having generics and for generic drugs; a 

discount of 10% on the drugs with a sales price to the storehouse of TL 3,84 (included) to TL 7,32 (included); 

a discount of 18% on the drugs with a sales price to the storehouse of TL 7,33 (included) to TL 11,02 

(included); and a discount of 28% on the drugs with a sales price to the storehouse of TL 11,03 and above. 
 

 For the payment of the generic drug prices, while a payment up to 22% of the cheapest drug price in the 

equivalent group was made, this ratio was decreased to 15% with the CHP amendment dated 20
th
 June 2009, 

and to 10% with the CHP amendment dated 5
th

 November 2011. And pursuant to the CHP amendment dated 

25
th

 July 2014, the tape application in some equivalent groups was totally removed. Pursuant to the 

announcement made by the Social Security Institution, the “Base Price Application” was started in 15 

equivalent groups as of 1
st
 October 2014 and the payments started to be made according to the cheapest 

product price in the group. As a result of the case filed against this application, it was decided to stop the 

execution of the mentioned application. Pursuant to the decision, SSI terminated the base unit price application 

so as to be valid from 10
th

 May 2016. 
 

The external reference pricing system applied since 2004 was changed with the Decision Related to Human 

Medicine Pricing published on 30
th

 June 2007, 3
rd

 December 2009 and 10
th

 November 2011. As a result of 

these changes, the sales price for the reference drugs having generics and for the generic drugs to the 

storehouses is 60% of the registered reference price; and the sales price for the reference drugs of 20 years and 

for the generic drugs of 20 years to the storehouses is 80% of the registered reference price. In the decision 

published on 10
th

 July 2015, the method for calculating Euro value was changed and no change was made 

regarding the reference price system although the reference price reporting period application was started.  
 

With reference to the decision, the "Communique on Human Medicine Pricing” was published on 15
th

 

December 2015. According to the Communique, the reference notifications would be made semiannually in 

March and September within the determined dates, and the final lists would be published in May and 

November and would be valid 40 days later. Also on the Communique, the limit of 15% was removed for the 

increase ratios given by the Price Evaluation Commission and the amendments were made on the procedures 

and the principles of some product groups: 
 

 The prices of the imported equivalent products in the reference countries where they were sold would be taken 

into consideration for the calculations of their prices in Turkish Lira. 
 

 The company declarations would be taken as basis for the first pricing for the non-repayable manufactured 

products and for the traditional medicinal products manufactured in our country. 
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 The applications, providing price advantage for the home products, were published (plasma-based blood 

products, medical baby foods and enteral nutrition products, radiopharmaceutical products, allergy products, 

orphan medicinal products, biosimilar products, hospital products and serums). 

 

On 21
st
 February 2016, a regulation was made on the Decision Related to Human Medicinal Products Pricing and 

the wage scales to be used on price and discount applications were updated in accordance with the new exchange 

rate. In addition, the article was added that the changes of more than 3% in the reference price would not be 

reflected to TL same as before. 

 

In addition to the increases in the exchange rate, even if they were minimal; the Economic Coordination Committee 

(ECC) made some improvements in 2016 for the price and discount applications so as to be valid as of February 

2016 in order to support all stakeholders of the sector.  

 

An increase was provided with variable percentages according to the resale prices (“RP”) in the product groups with 

low price. 
 

RP (TL) WSP (TL) (*) Rate of Increase 

(%) 

0,00-1,00 0,00 - 0,68 20 

1,01-2,00 0,69 - 1,36 18 

2,01-3,00 1,37 - 2,04 16 

3,01-4,00 2,05 - 2,72 14 

4,01-5,00 2,73 - 3,40 12 

5,01-5,13 3,41 - 3,49 10 

5,14-5,63 3,50 - 3,83 10 

5,64-10,46 3,84 - 7,11(**) 3 

10,47-10,77 7,12 - 7,32 3 
 

(*)   : WSP: Warehouse Sales Price 

(**) : It applies to the reference drugs having equivalent of twenty years and to the generic drugs. 

 

Nuclear medicine sector: 

The production site licenses of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler, the R&D projects whose product 

licensing/permits are ongoing, and the international recognition of the organization in its field are the other 

important information not included in the financial statements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Activities in 
Consumer Products Sector
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Analysis and assessment of the management regarding the activity results 
 

The personal care products market, in which Eczacıbaşı Consumer Products Group carries on business, continues its 

growth in our country in parallel with the global trends. According to FMCG Track report in which A.C. Nielsen 

measured the total business, the Turkish personal care market showed a growth of 8.7% in current basis in 2016. 

This growth was realized as 0.9% with inflation-adjusted figures in both quantity and current basis. The potential in 

the market increases the interest of both global and domestic players in the market, and creates a fierce competition 

environment. Our organizations Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri, Eczacıbaşı-Schwarzkopf Kuaför 

Ürünleri and Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri achieved successful business results in this fierce competition environment 

also in 2016. 

 

Eczacıbaşı-Schwarzkopf Kuaför Ürünleri carries on business in the field of professional hair cosmetics. It is 

estimated that there are about 25-30 thousand of hairdresser salons registered in the coiffeur products market where 

it is active. Eczacıbaşı-Schwarzkopf Kuaför Ürünleri continues its activities in a way to maintain its competitive 

power in hair dye products. 

 

Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri is one of the companies with the highest retail coverage in Turkey 

thanks to its consumption products manufactured or imported by Eczacıbaşı Group and to the distribution contracts 

it concludes with the companies outside the Group. In 2016, Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri 

maintained its position against its global competitors by making marketing investment in the brands Okey and 

Detan/Defans. The innovative products launched to the market by Okey, sustaining its market share in the 

preservative market, made difference with their innovativeness in competition. The organization renewed the hair-

styling brand Egos and enabled it to gain strength again in selling point, and it extended the heritage it possesses in 

lemon eau de cologne with Selin brand to the category of perfumed eau de cologne. In addition to these, having 

increased its turnover with the new distribution contracts concluded, the organization started sales and distribution 

of Treda brand in 2016. The foundations of new distribution contracts were laid within the scope of the growth 

targets for the upcoming period. Moreover, in 2016, the operation was started in TÜG Distribution Center where the 

storage and distribution operations of all organizations in Eczacıbaşı Consumer Products Group are centralized, and 

this resulted in favorable outcome in terms of service quality and labor flexibility. 

 

Created with a restructure at the end of 2012 and providing service in the out-of-home consumption sector, 

Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel was incorporated as of the end of 2015. Having taken the road with significant growth 

targets in the market based on its customer-oriented service concept, Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel continued its activities 

in paper, chemical and distribution products categories and steadily increased its number of customers. The tourism 

income of Turkey decreased to USD 22 billion in 2016 while it was USD 32 billion in 2015, and the number of 

tourists decreased to 31 million people in 2016 compared to 42 million people in 2015. Although 2016 was a 

challenging year in terms of tourism, Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel managed to maintain its size of sales.  

 

While continuing being the most innovative organization of the wet towel sector, Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri that 

was acquired as of the end of 2012 achieved significant growths also in 2016 with its flagship brand "Uni" that was 

reorganized. It increased and strengthened its market share in the baby wet towel market, and it increased its market 

share in the baby cosmetics category. Besides newborn products with high added-value in the baby products 

category, the products newly developed in the baby care category such as laundry detergent, laundry softener, rash 

cream, wet toilet paper were the main areas of focus. In 2016, in accordance with its growth targets, Eczacıbaşı 

Hijyen Ürünleri moved to its new plant of top-level hygiene and occupational safety standards with a closed area of 

14.000 m² in Gebze. 

 

Although it is expected that the fierce competition environment will continue in the personal care and out-of-home 

consumption categories in the consumption sector, the priority targets are focusing on profitable growth in these 

fields and strengthening the competitive position of Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri in the baby products market where it 

ambitiously entered with Uni brand. For the professional (out-of-home) products, it is aimed to enrich the product 

portfolio with new distribution products in parallel with the determined targets as growth and increasing customer 

orientation.  
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Sector in which the organization is active and its position in this sector 

 

Consumer products market: 
Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri manages Eczacıbaşı Girişim brands together with its sales activities 

conducted in consumer products market. Thanks to its product range of more than 1,200 products, it is the consumer 

products organization realizing the most extensive retail coverage in Turkey. 

 

It has a leading position in most of 20 product categories which it distributes. According to the retail panel 

distribution data of AC Nielsen; the organization reaches 14,900 sales points directly, 52,100 sales points through 

the private and mixed dealer teams responsible for the products of Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama, and the other sales 

points through wholesalers, so 160,000 sales point in total in Turkey with its coverage ratio of 80%-95% based on 

category. 

 

Wet towel market: 
Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri is the first domestic manufacturer particularly in wet towel category. It has maintained 

its leadership with the innovative products that it has launched to the market since 1994. The wet towel market, 

corresponding to more than 50% of its sales, showed an increase of 17% in terms of turnover in 2016 and reached a 

growth of TL 440 million at the end of 2016. In addition, it has an innovative and captain position in the market of 

its exportation countries. 

 

Out-of-home consumer products market: 
Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel was established on 10

th
 December 2015 as a 100% participation of Eczacıbaşı Girişim 

Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri. It carries on business in manufacturing, contract manufacturing, importation or 

marketing through various promotional activities in domestic and foreign markets by means of supply from local 

purchase, merchandize and provision of any service including consultancy for any product including food, cleaning 

and hygiene products for out-of-home consumption market. 

 

The regular measurements of market share have started not a long time ago for out-of-home consumer products 

market and the extent of this data has not reached the required level yet. On the other hand, the measurement studies 

performed indicate that Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel is the market leader with its Marathon and Selpak Professional 

brands in the category of "paper cleaning products" in which the organization is included. In the category of 

chemical cleaning products, apart from the domestic manufacturers and the market brands; Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel 

follows the two big companies, being the world's leading brands in industrial cleaning and hygiene, with its 

Maratem brand; and it reinforces its position every passing year. 

 

Coiffeur products market: 

Eczacıbaşı- Schwarzkopf Kuaför Ürünleri carries on business in wholesale marketing sector of coiffeur products. It 

has a leading position in hair dye. It increases its market share in shampoo and other hair care products category. 

The organization performs importation, marketing and sales of the hair cosmetic products that are only for the use of 

hairdressers or are sold through coiffeur salons.  

 

Conducting its activities in Turkish coiffeur sector, Eczacıbaşı- Schwarzkopf Kuaför Ürünleri sells Indola brand 

products, acquired in 2005 by Henkel KGaA having also Schwarzkopf, as well as Schwarzkopf products. The 

organization is the market captain with its leading brands in its portfolio such as Igora, Indola, Bonacure, Osis and 

Blond Me. 

 

Forecasts related to the development of the organization 

 

Consumer products market: 
It is planned that Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri will maintain its growth both by continuing its 

investments in its own brands and with new business collaborations to be realized. 

 

Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri decided to maintain its presence based on its long history, to 

terminate its activities for out-of-home market as of the end of 2015 by focusing more on the retail consumer 

products market as its main area of activity, and with this purpose, to establish an incorporated company titled 

“Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel Ürün ve Hizmetler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.”, of which 100% would be owned by the 

organization and which would carry on business mainly for out-of-home consumption market. 
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In 2015, Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri transferred, by way of sales, its plant together with its 

building and its inseparable parts (the reinforced concrete administrative, manufacturing and storehouse building, 

the cologne and workshop building, etc.), including the land, in Gebze Organized Industrial Zone in Çayırova 

district of Kocaeli city to its affiliate company Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel Ürün ve Hizmetler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş, of 

which 100% was owned by the organization. 

 

As Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel was established as an independent company from Eczacıbaşı Girişim, its net sales as of 

31
st 

December 2016 decreased by about 9% year-on-year. It is forecasted that the growth of the next three years will 

be about 14%. 

 

Wet towel market: 
Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri plans to continue its growth with its investments and collaborations in domestic market 

and on abroad. Upon its participation in Eczacıbaşı Group, marketing investments in brands were started and 

continue. As a result, it is observed that the brand recognition and thus the brand power increase and will continue 

increasing. 

 

The organization will continue being a leader and prestigious organization of the sector with its quality and reliable 

products and services. It will reinforce its long-termed leading position in its sector with developments in the 

upcoming period. The organization will continue using capacity based on demands and performing contract 

manufacturing and sales of various brands having nature to reduce costs. 

 

The organization purchased industrial land in Gebze Organized Industrial Zone in May 2014 and started the 

construction of the plant in December 2014. Having the modern manufacturing plant of Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri 

together with the logistics center of consumer products group, the investment cost TL 60,131 thousand and started 

activity as of March 2016. 

 

Out-of-home consumer products market: 
Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel plans to continue its growth both by continuing its investments in its own brands in domestic 

market and with new business collaborations to be realized. 

 

Coiffeur products market: 

Eczacıbaşı- Schwarzkopf Kuaför Ürünleri generally makes progress in parallel with the market trends and 

particularly the market of the products sold through coiffeurs is a market open for improvement. A market share 

increase is expected in this sector. 

 

The main factors affecting the performance of the organization, the significant changes in the environment 

where the organization is active and the policies applied by the organization against these changes 

 

Consumer products market: 
Upon the acquisition of legal entity status by Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel which realized its activities under Eczacıbaşı 

Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri before and which performed sales targeted to out-of-home utilization market; 

our manufacturing plant in Gebze organized industrial zone was sold to Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel on 25
th

 December 

2015. Upon this sales operation, it is planned that Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri will carry its 

performance one step further in the upcoming period by focusing more on the retail consumer goods market as its 

main area of activity. 

 

Within the scope of the project to restore and improve the corporate source planning that was continued during 

2015, the information processing infrastructure of the company was completely renovated. The company set up an 

infrastructure which was more suitable for the dynamics of the today's market conditions, and it is aimed to monitor 

the financial results of the company's activities in a faster and more efficient way. This project realized was put into 

use as of January 2016 and the project was completed. 

 

Wet towel market: 
Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri manufactures hygiene and personal care products particularly wet towels, and it 

performs marketing, sales and distribution of these products at home and on abroad. 

 

Besides its own brands (Uni, Unimed, Premax, Şelale), Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri also performs contract 

manufacturing for the brands of the distinguished chain stores at home and on abroad with its rich product portfolio 
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in the category of personal and baby care products, wet towels, make-up removing products, baby shampoo and 

creams, baby laundry detergent and softeners. The performance of the organization depends on the market growth in 

Turkey for the category of its products manufactured, their brand and competitive power and their growth in the 

exportation markets. 
 

In order to strengthen its performance, Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri performs the activities to present its products and 

to increase their utilization. In order to expand its product portfolio, it carries out R&D activities and launches its 

products developed to the market. The organization prioritizes high quality, innovation power and customer 

satisfaction in the products marketed by itself. It closely follows the technological developments in its sector and it 

tries to provide the best quality with the best technology. The organization increases its manufacturing and sales 

capacity by developing new products and by renewing its existing products with its knowledge and technology. 
 

Out-of-home consumer products market: 
The main risk factor that may be encountered by Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel while realizing its targets may be the 

negative impact on the out-of-home consumption market due to changes "that will negatively affect the tourism 

sector and/or that may cause consumers to postpone their habits of eating and drinking out". In this regard, 2016 was 

a challenging year for the out-of-home consumption market where the company is active. 
 

Nevertheless, under these difficulties encountered in the out-of-home consumption market, Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel 

first tried to "increase the diversity in its customer portfolio" and followed the strategy of "focusing on alternative 

customer (channel) types" being less connected to the tourism sector. In addition, the company started researching 

the "exportation" opportunities more actively in 2016 in order to be less affected by the fluctuations in the domestic 

market and an individual team was created in the company for this purpose. Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel tried to maintain 

its position in the market through these precautions taken. 
 

Coiffeur products market: 

The main factors affecting the performance of Eczacıbaşı- Schwarzkopf Kuaför Ürünleri are the activities of the 

rival companies and the economic variables particularly the exchange rate as almost all of its sales are imported. 

Monitoring closely the market data and benefiting from the required financing instruments to hedge the exchange 

rate risks are among the policies applied against these changes. 
 

Considering also healthcare and fashion, the applications to increase its market share are importing new products, 

promoting the utilization of the brands while providing development of hairdressers with seminars, gaining new 

coiffeur salons with various support activities and giving periodical promotion supports. 

 

Prices, sales turnover, sales conditions of goods and services subjecting of the activity and developments 

observed in these within the year, developments in efficiency and productivity coefficients, reasons for 

significant changes in these compared to the previous years 

 

Consumer products market: 
The price increases in the products of Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri are realized considering the 

reasons such as inflation and competition. The sales conditions vary by the distribution channel and the customer 

groups. While the sales conditions are created considering rival prices and market conditions within the scope of 

contracts made with customers, the discounts are made as total invoice discount and issued as service invoice. An 

advance payment discount is applied for advance payments. The organization receives guaranty from its customers 

against the products to be sold.  
 

Wet towel market: 
The price increases in the products are realized considering the reasons such as inflation and competition. The sales 

conditions vary by the distribution channel and the customer groups and they are created considering rival prices and 

market conditions within the scope of contracts made with customers.  
  

Out-of-home consumer products market: 
The price increases in the products of Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel are realized considering the reasons such as inflation 

and competition. The sales conditions vary by the distribution channel and the customer groups. While the sales 

conditions are created considering rival prices and market conditions within the scope of contracts made with 

customers, the discounts are made as total invoice discount and issued as service invoice. An advance payment 

discount is applied for advance payments. The organization receives guaranty from its customers against the 

products to be sold.  
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Coiffeur products market: 

The sales are supported with the activities within the scope of the annual contracts made with coiffeur salons and 

with the monthly consumer and coiffeur campaigns. The sales and distribution activities of Eczacıbaşı- Schwarzkopf 

Kuaför Ürünleri are realized by Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri through the dealers. 

 

Descriptions related to characteristics of the Organization's manufacturing units, capacity usage ratios and 

trends, overall capacity utilization ratio and comparison of developments, amount, quality, sales and prices in 

production of goods and services in its field of activity with figures of the previous period 

 

Consumer products market: 
Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri does not have any manufacturing plant as its manufacturing 

department was transferred by means of sales to Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel at the end of December 2015. 
 

Wet towel market: 
Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri manufactures the products of its brands in its modern manufacturing plant which was put 

into use in 2016 in Gebze Organized Industrial Zone. The filling of shampoo and detergent-similar liquid products 

under Uni brand is performed by Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel and the company has some products manufactured by 

competent firms through contract manufacturing. 
 

Out-of-home consumer products market: 
In its manufacturing plant, it has focused on new products and system products to significantly increase tonnage. 

The organization has produced economical solutions for customers particularly in large professional points with its 

dilution and dosing systems developed specific to their products. The quality and cost optimization studies are 

ongoing. 
 

Coiffeur products market: 
There is not any manufacturing activity as all products are imported. 

 

Research and development activities performed 

 

Consumer products market: 
As a result of the transfer of the manufacturing plants of Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri by means 

of sales to Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel as its affiliate company at the end of 2015, the research and development 

activities are carried out by the mentioned affiliate company. 

 

Wet towel market: 
Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri carries out constant development activities for new products. The R&D activities 

performed with the sources of the organization are directly targeted to add new products to its portfolio and to 

develop its existing products. 

 

Developing its product portfolio with new products every year, the organization realized about 1/10 of its turnover 

in 2016 from the sales of the new products it launched to the market in the recent year. 

 

The organization closely and constantly follows consumer requirements and developments in the sector in order to 

launch first and innovative products to the market. Every year, it launches new products to the market thanks to its 

knowledge, quality and technology. It increases its manufacturing quality day by day with its technological 

improvements. 

 

Out-of-home consumer products market: 
The manufacturing plant and the R&D structure of Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel were established to provide the 

development of all formulas by the organization instead of purchasing certain formulas.  

 

Coiffeur products market: 

The products in this market are imported from Germany. The R&D activities are conducted by the manufacturing 

companies. 
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Developments in investments, incentives used and the extent of incentive use 

 

Consumer products market: 
As of 31

st
 December 2016 , the investment spending of Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri was TL 

5,312 thousand. The company did not use any incentives. 

 

Wet towel market: 
Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri completed its plant investment in March 2016 and continues its manufacturing activities 

in its new plants. In its new plants where significant developments were achieved in accordance with hygiene and 

productivity standards, it achieved the infrastructure to increase the manufacturing capacity without making 

investment. 

 

Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri made a total investment of TL 58,492 thousand in 2016. Within the scope of the 

investment incentive certificate obtained, it purchased machinery with VAT exemption of TL 1,675 thousand. 

 

Finance sources and risk management policies of the organization 

 

Consumer products market: 
In Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri; receivables, stocks and fixed assets are mainly financed with 

equities. In 2012, a bank loan was used in order to finance the investments supporting the purchase of new office 

building and its growth in out-of-home utilization field.  

 

The receivables are guaranteed based on sales channel. Real estate mortgage or bank letter of guarantee is received 

from customers as guaranty. As of 31
st
 December 2016 , 86% of its receivable risk in wholesaler dealers have been 

covered with the existing guaranties. 

 

The purchase of the organization from abroad is made in cash and does not pose exchange rate risk. The sudden rate 

changes are closely followed and the cost increases based on exchange rate are balanced with price increases or 

savings measures. The expenses of all departments within the organization are made proportionately with budget 

and actual comparisons, and the realization of cost cutting is expected in parallel with sales deviation. 

 

Wet towel market: 
The receivables in the organizations in this market are financed with stocks, fixed assets and equities as well as 

short-term loans.  

 

The export sales are directly realized by Ekom to 53 countries, the domestic sales of branded products are realized 

by Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri, and PL ("Private Label") product sales are directly realized by 

the organization. An increase is aimed in the number of distribution points and in the sales through the utilization of 

the active and extensive domestic distribution strength of Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama. 

 

The foreign receivables are covered within Eximbank insurance by Ekom, and the local receivables are covered 

within insurance through a private insurance company determined by Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim 

Ürünleri. 

 

Related to the inputs imported from abroad and locally purchased in foreign currency, it is tried to balance the risk to 

be created in debts in foreign currency, by sudden increases in exchange rates, with the receivables from export 

sales. 

 

Out-of-home consumer products market: 
Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel finances its activities with equities as well as short-term loans.  

 

Coiffeur products market: 

The main financing policy of Eczacıbaşı- Schwarzkopf Kuaför Ürünleri is not to have deficit of operational capital. 

As the products are completely imported, precautions are taken where deemed necessary through derivative 

instruments against the possible exchange rate risks. 

 

 

 



EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 

30 

 

Precautions planned to improve the financial structure of the organization 

 

Consumer products market: 
Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri uses the direct debiting system in order to remove the risk of 

noncollection of receivables at maturity. The studies are ongoing to generalize this system. With the purpose of 

reducing the receivable risk, the Receivable Insurance started to be applied as of 2015 and is actively used. 

 

In addition to monitoring the effectiveness of receivable collection, the stock optimization studies are also 

conducted. The stock with relatively low turnover are regularly monitored. 

 

Wet towel market: 
The domestic sales of Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri have been performed through Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama 

Tüketim Ürünleri since 2013. The commercial receivables, which were significantly out of guaranty before, were 

considerably guaranteed by this means. In addition, the number of days sales in receivables decreased in sales 

maturities both upon the decrease in sales maturity days and the pro rota increase in cash sales. Despite these, the net 

financial debt increased due to the increase in the losses of previous year and to the financing of the new plant 

investment. 

 

The organization maintained its sales growth, realized in the last two years, also in 2016 with a growth of 20%. It is 

forecasted that the plant investment completed within the year will provide significant cost saving in rental and 

logistic items and will reflect on the profitability in the following years. 

 

Related to the operational capital, it is aimed that the organization will have improvement targets related to 

receivable, debt and stock days; and the financial debts will be gradually reduced in years by creating operating 

profit. 

 

Out-of-home consumer products market: 
Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel uses the Direct Debiting System (DDS) in order to remove the risk of noncollection of 

receivables at maturity. The studies are ongoing to generalize this system.  

 

In addition to monitoring the effectiveness of receivable collection, the stock optimization studies are also 

conducted. The stock with relatively low turnover are regularly monitored. 

 

Extending the maturity of payments made to vendors and shortening the maturity given to customers are among the 

precautions planned. 

 

Coiffeur products market: 

Extending the maturity of payments made to vendors and shortening the maturity given to customers are among the 

precautions planned. 

 

Personnel and worker movements, collective contract applications, rights and benefits provided to personnel 

and workers 

 

Consumer products market: 
Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri has 286 employees as of 31

st
 December 2016 (31

st
 December 2015: 

476). There is not any collective contract application in the organization. The rights and benefits provided to the 

personnel are in parallel with the human resources applications of Eczacıbaşı Group. 

 

Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel organization was established in January 2013 in order to focus more on the out-of-home 

utilization (“OOHU”) channel. The relevant marketing department was established with the general manager to lead 

this organization and it is aimed to have a greater market share from OOHU channel by increasing the number of 

staff in other departments. These staffs were transferred to Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel in the beginning of 2016 upon the 

establishment of Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel. 

 

Wet towel market: 
As of 31

st
 December 2016, Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri has 248 employees (31

st
 December 2015: 177). There is not 

any collective contract application in the organization. The rights and benefits provided to the personnel are in 

parallel with the human resources applications of Eczacıbaşı Group. 
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Out-of-home consumer products market: 
Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel has 157 employees as of 31

st
 December 2016 (31

st
 December 2015: 64). There is not any 

collective contract application in the organization. The rights and benefits provided to the personnel are in parallel 

with the human resources applications of Eczacıbaşı Group. 

 

Coiffeur products market: 

There is not any collective contract application in Eczacıbaşı-Schwarzkopf Kuaför Ürünleri. The rights and benefits 

provided to the personnel are in parallel with the human resources applications of Eczacıbaşı Group, and Eczacıbaşı-

Schwarzkopf Kuaför Ürünleri has 19 employees in total as of 31
st
 December 2016 (31

st
 December 2015: 19). 

 

Information on organizational units apart from the headquarters 

 

Consumer products market: 
Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri has sales offices in 4 regions apart form its headquarters. 

 

Wet towel market: 
Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri does not have any organizational unit apart from its headquarters. 

 
Out-of-home consumer products market: 
Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel has sales offices in 5 regions in total together with its plant established in Gebze, apart from 

its headquarters. 

 
Coiffeur products market: 

Eczacıbaşı- Schwarzkopf Kuaför Ürünleri does not have any operational unit apart form its headquarters. 



Real Estate Activities
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 Analysis and assessment of the management regarding the activity results 
  

Ormanada Project, realized in Uskumruköy - Zekeriyaköy location in Istanbul, was completed as of 31
st
 December 

2014 as planned. The delivery of all of the sold residences was realized and the sales of the remaining residences is 

ongoing.  

 

The housing sector, negatively affected from the economic and political developments in 2016, completed 2016 with 

an increase of about 5% compared to the previous year, with the support of the campaigns realized under the 

leadership of GYODER, KONUTDER and various real estate development companies and of various incentives 

provided by the government, despite the economic shrinkage during the 3. quarter of the year. However, these 

campaigns and incentives were effective rather in the medium segment. 

 

Nevertheless, Ormanada Project was affected in a more limited way from the developments in the real estate sector 

thanks to its location, features and construction quality, and it maintains its attraction thanks to the life-style it offers 

to its residents and as it is a reliable investment instrument. In addition, due to the fact that its construction was 

completed, there is not any risk that may result from increase in exchange rate and thus from cost increase. 

 

Regarding the land of Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar in Ayazağa-Cendere; the studies are monitored 

before KAYADER, of which we are a member, and the process proceeds as forecasted. The land organization 

studies are ongoing pursuant to the 1/5000 scale land use plan and 1/1000 scale implementary development plan as 

well as the Article 18 of the Zoning Law number 3194. 
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Sector in which the organization is active and its position in this sector 

 

Kanyon:  

The shopping center ("SC") and retail sector is a recent fast-growing sector in our country and the competition is 

gradually becoming difficult in this sector. Although the square meter of the shopping centers in proportion to the 

population in Turkey is still the half of the average of Europe, the density observed particularly in Istanbul and in 

certain quarters of its has brought competition with it. 

 

Compared to the other SCs in the region, Kanyon is different with its architecture and physical environment as well 

as its operation, activities and brands. The trends observed throughout the market are as follows: 
 

 Opening of a large number of new shopping centers targeting the same audience, 
 

 Effort to moving away from the traditional shopping center concept and emphasizing entertainment elements in 

SC, 
 

 Increasing selectiveness of customers, 
 

 Expectation of a more quality and larger brand diversity, 
 

 Competition of shopping with other activities in terms of free time, 
 

 World-famous chain restaurants newly opened in rival shopping centers. 

 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar has the ownership of the total office block of 26 floors in Kanyon 

which made tremendous impact as the first outdoor shopping center project of Turkey both at home and on abroad. 

 

Kanyon and Kanyon Office Building fulfilled the criteria of the international “BREEAM In - Use” certificate, 

commonly used in England and around the world, and was awarded with the certificate in September 2012. In 

accordance with “BREEAM In - Use” criteria, Kanyon was awarded with “Excellent” certificate in building 

management for its material, energy, water, health-comfort, land use- ecology, waste management and 

transportation. Among 192 “BREEAM In - Use” certificates obtained up to now around the world, 15 of them are 

excellent certificate in building management; and Kanyon and Kanyon Office Building has been the 16
th

 in the 

world and the first in Turkey to have “excellent” certificate in the categories of shopping center and office building. 

 

As a result of the assessments made in terms of design, building management and environmental performance in line 

with “BREAM” criteria applied for the buildings taken into operation; Kanyon achieved an important success by 

being the first commercial building in Turkey to obtain the “Extraordinary” certificate. Being the first commercial 

structure to obtain this certificate in Turkey in building management, Kanyon was granted with award by 

outdistancing the other candidates in “BREEAM Retail In - Use” category for multi-usage buildings such as store, 

office and residence, during the “BEST OF BREEAM 2016” award ceremony held in London. 

 

Constantly realizing improvements with the studies such as obtaining ISO 14001 environmental management system 

certificate, taking cogeneration system into operation following the solar energy system of 100 panels, popularizing 

LED lighting, acoustic measurements and insulations, putting carbon filter in exhaust hood and cooperation with 

İTÜ (Istanbul Technical University) Energy Institute; Kanyon improved its “Excellent” certificate to 

“Extraordinary” certificate, as the top level in this area, and became the first commercial structure in Turkey to 

obtain this certificate in building management. 

 

Real estate development: 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım carries on business in real estate development and project 

management fields in real estate sector. The main purpose of the organization is to assess the existing real estates of 

Eczacıbaşı Group as well as to create solution partnerships such as profit sharing and profit allowance; to develop 

original, ecological and sustainable projects considering lifestyles with architectural difference and design 

leadership; and to create "Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul" brand in the sector. 
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Forecasts related to the development of the organization 

 

Kanyon: 

The occupancy rate of the stores and of the offices in Kanyon is 100%. The studies are ongoing to strengthen the 

brand mix and to place the brands with high potential in Kanyon. The new brands are also given place by hiring 

short-term pop-up stores and stands.  

 

The main focuses in terms of marketing activities are advertising, public relations and customer relationship 

management activities. The activity plan was created in a way to cover the whole year and to create additional 

customer traffic. 

 

The advertisements are mainly designed according to the activities and the PR (“Public Relations”) opportunities are 

assessed by benefiting from the activities. The CRM (“Customer Relationship Management”) studies continue 

advancing. Within the scope of Kanyon’s image campaign, the advertisements continue on magazines such as 

SKYLIFE, Time Out, The Guide and Where Istanbul.  

 

Real estate development: 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım took part as main contractor in addition to project management in 

Ormanada Project. This development had positive effects both in terms of the knowledge of the organization and of 

its financial position. 

 

The main factors affecting the performance of the organization, the significant changes in the environment 

where the organization is active and the policies applied by the organization against these changes 

 

Kanyon: 

The new shopping centers opened in different regions increased the competition in the sector. Despite the increasing 

competition, Kanyon continues making difference and attracting a loyal customer group. The marketing plan is 

enriched against the increasing competition and economic fluctuations, and it is tried to increase the activities in this 

field by applying optimum stand lease costs. 

 

Within this market structure, the strengths and weaknesses of Kanyon can be summarized as follows: 
 

STRENGTHS WEAKNESSES 

Central location  / 

Being preferred in summer due to weather conditions 
Unfavorable weather conditions in winter 

Different architectural design Traffic density 

Outdoor shopping Gaps in brand mix 

Density of entertainment, culture and art factors  

OPPORTUNITIES THREATS 

Density of working class in immediate environment New shopping centers opened 

High income region 
Impact of terrorist incidents on consumer 

behaviors 

 Decay in the tourism sector 

 

The demand by the retail market in opening shops in shopping centers caused rentals to gradually increase; the 

retailers opening shops to have difficulties during the economic crisis period, which took effect as of the last months 

of 2008, due to high rentals; and some of the retailers to close their shops. The crisis environment causes the 

retailers to take action deliberately for opening new shops and to rigorously assess the demands of shopping centers. 

The studies are ongoing to strengthen the brand mix with pop-up stores and to place the brands, having high 

potential to attract customers to Kanyon and to create traffic, in the place of the empty stores; and the gap in the 

brand mix has been removed. 

 

Kanyon has a position of being a shopping center constantly preferred by the customers with its regular activities 

and art activities, concerts, children activities, digital marketing and social media projects, youth-oriented 

organization and shopping campaigns are principal examples of these activities. 
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Related to the social responsibility awareness, stand opportunities are provided to organizations such as WWF, 

Lösev, Greenpeace, etc. The revenues of the various events organized are donated to TOG. As the stores are 

considered as a very important stakeholder of Kanyon, any store activity to contribute to Kanyon image is 

supported. 

 

Carrying Kanyon to mobile phones, the application of Kanyon will be put into use in IOS and Android phones with 

its renewed version as of November 2016. Having reality feature with augmented loyalty application of Kanyon, 

WeBubble will make Kanyon more attractive with the discounts it will provide in food and beverage categories 

while rewarding Kanyon visitors for being in Kanyon. 

 

Thanks to its character and project study, Kanyon was awarded with silver prize in the category of Brand Awareness 

& (Re) Positioning by ICSC (International Council of Shopping Centers) in ICSC Solal Marketing Awards 2016. 

 

According to the survey of "Attention-Grabbing Mobile Application of the Year" that is semiannually realized in 

cooperation with Digital Age Mobile Marketing Association Turkey, the Kanyon applications outdistanced other 

shopping center applications by being the most downloaded applications in the category of shopping centers. The 

success of Kanyonfit, Kanyon application and WeBubble was once again proved. 

 

Real estate development: 

The main factors affecting the performance of Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım are the investment 

decisions of its investors, to whom it provides service in real estate development, and the general condition of the 

sector. The real estate development studies already conducted are making progress as planned. 

 

The determination of land development and structure production issues as constant areas of activity by the 

organizations, to whom service is provided, indicates that their investment decisions in this area will not be changed 

in the short and medium term. The organization will maintain its different position with its high quality concept, its 

different architectural designs and its ambitious projects to create brand. 

 

Prices, sales turnover, sales conditions of goods and services subjecting of the activity and developments 

observed in these within the year, developments in efficiency and productivity coefficients, reasons for 

significant changes in these compared to the previous years 

 

Kanyon: 

As of 31
st
 December 2016, the total rental income generated by Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar from 

Kanyon offices and shopping center was TL 70,570 thousand (31
st
 December 2015: TL 63,588 thousand). As the 

leasing term is for 5-10 years as of 2006, there will be increase in the rental income within the scope of the contracts 

in the upcoming period. 

 

Ormanada: 

On 31
st
 December 2007, Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar purchased the half of 22 lands of 196,409.74 

m
2
 in total which were situated in Yorgancı Çiftliği Location, Uskumru Quarter of Sarıyer District. And the other 

half them belongs to Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. A construction of 90 thousand m
2
 in total was built on the mentioned 

real estates, and this project completed is mainly for residence purpose and it has partially commercial areas. The 

occupancy permits were obtained for all of the buildings (residence and commercial units). 

 

 In Ormanada which was created in collaboration with Torti Gallas and Partners, Kreatif Mimarlık and Rainer 

Schmidt Landscape Architects having international knowledge and experience; the residences are of 170 to 700 

square meters and the unit sales price for the residence is USD 500 thousand to USD 2,7 million. 
 

 In Ormanada, there are 273 residences as 188 villas and 85 row houses; and there are 150 residences on the 1
st
 

Phase and 123 residences on the 2
nd

 Phase. 
 

 As of 31
st
 December 2016 , 121 of the residences on the 1

st
 Phase and 86 of those on the 2

nd
 Phase were sold in 

total. 
 

- The delivery of the residences on the first phase started as of April 2013 and the transfer and delivery 

operations of 121 residences were realized as of 31
st
 December 2016, and  

 

- The delivery of the residences on the second phase started as of December 2013 and the transfer and 

delivery operations of 86 residences were realized as of 31
st
 December 2016. 
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Real estate development: 

The operating revenue of Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım is gained from the service contracts and the 

projects of which management is undertaken. The revenue of 2016 comprised mainly of the additional works 

conducted within the scope of Ormanada project and sales, marketing and coordination service income. As the 

projects conducted in 2016 are the continuation of 2015 projects, there is not a significant difference in revenue 

when compared to 2015.   

 

Descriptions related to characteristics of the Organization's manufacturing units, capacity usage ratios and 

trends, overall capacity utilization ratio and comparison of developments, amount, quality, sales and prices in 

production of goods and services in its field of activity with figures of the previous period 

 

Kanyon: 

Aiming to provide service of higher quality standards compared to the other shopping centers and office buildings, 

Kanyon has shown attention to maintain its quality-service balance at optimum level since June 2006 without 

compromising its quality service standards for its services provided with its personnel (training, worker health, 

importance attached to occupational safety, healthcare services such as ambulance, hygiene audits, high level safety 

precautions, utilization of high technology devices). 

 

Real estate development: 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım realizes its service manufacturing with its experienced, qualified and 

competent management and technical personnel. While conducting the projects, all phases of the manufacturing are 

realized by benefiting from the subcontractors. 

 

Research and development activities performed 

 

Real estate development: 

Conducted by Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım within the scope of its real estate development 

contract, the development studies are ongoing for the land in Kartal. The seeking of suitable project for the approach 

of the group to develop exclusive projects in real estate sector is conducted by the business development department. 

 

Developments in investments, incentives used and the extent of incentive use 

 

Real estate development: 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım does not have projects, of which investor is itself, among the projects 

it conducted in 2016 and it did not use any incentive. 

 

Other real estate development investments: 

 

Ayazağa, Cendere Valley, Urban Transformation Area 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar owns the plants and the administrative building in Ayazağa, where 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri conducted its manufacturing activities until the half of 2016; and it has rental 

income from these plants. The mentioned land is situated in the Urban Transformation Area of Ayazağa, Cendere 

Valley and Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri terminated its manufacturing activities in these plants on 30
th

 June 

2016. As a result of this decision of Eczacıbaşı-Baxter, a Rental Contract was concluded on 18
th

 October 2016 with 

Koçak related to making the serum production facilities be used until 31
st
 December 2017. In accordance with the 

Rental Contract, the monthly rental is TL 325 thousand (The facility was delivered to Koçak on 1
st
 November 2016 

and the rental payments started as of this date.).  

 

With its decision dated 10
th

 April 2015, the Board of Directors acquired all of the shares of Yeni Tekstil Sanayi 

A.Ş., having border with the real estate which is located on Cendere road in Ayazağa location and which has the 

manufacturing plants still leased to Koçak, from its existing partners (Can Malta, Sezen Malta, Lütfü Paker, 

Mihriban Paker and Hülya Paker) for USD 24,250 thousand. The amount of USD 24 million of the sales price was 

paid, the balance amount of USD 250 thousand was blocked until 31
st
 December 2016, and this amount was paid to 

the partners according to their share percentages on 29
th

 December 2016. 
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Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar made the required application to the Capital Markets Board on 2
nd

 

October 2015 within the scope of the “simplified merger” of Yeni Tekstil Sanayi A.Ş. by way of its "transfer" with 

all of its assets and liabilities. The mentioned merger was approved with the decision number 31/1396 dated 13
th
 

November 2015 of the Capital Markets Board and was registered in Trade Register on 7
th

 December 2015. 

 

Other investments 

On 29
th

 June 2015, Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar acquired 21 lands of 265,930 m
2
 in total, which 

were situated on Uğur Bıçaker Avenue, Kurfallı Village, Silivri District of Istanbul City, for a price of TL 16,425 

thousand + VAT. In addition, it purchased the land with layout number 308 for TL 765 thousand on 1
st
 December 

2015 and the land with layout number 1985 for TL 484 thousand on 1
st
 March 2016 both of which were adjoin to 

these lands. 

 

Upon the decision dated 7
th

 June 2016 of the Board of Directors, the total shares owned by the owners on the land 

with layout number 2007, having a total area of 685.026 m² and situated on Karasinan Avenue in Akören Village of 

Silivri District in Istanbul, were acquired for investment purpose for a cost price of TL 67,995 thousand considering 

the value determined on the appraisal study conducted by LOTUS Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. 

 

Finance sources and risk management policies of the organization 

 

Real estate development: 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım covers all of its expenses from its own activity income. Its operating 

incomes consist of the income from the contracts made in consultancy and land development areas, and the income 

from additional works in the completed Ormanada Project. 

 

Precautions planned to improve the financial structure of the organization 

 

Kanyon: 

The effective budget and cost control was performed by revising the existing financial and technical information 

processing programs. Extending the maturity of payments made to vendors and shortening the maturity given to 

customers are among the precautions planned. 

  

Real estate development: 

In 2016, it is aimed to strengthen the financial structure of the organization as a result of the income to be gained 

from the additional works to be performed in Ormanada project, of which contractorship was undertaken by the 

organization in the previous years, and from the income to be gained from the services provided within the scope of 

the real estate development activities. 

 

Personnel and worker movements, collective contract applications, rights and benefits provided to personnel 

and workers 

 

Real estate development: 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım has 14 employees as of 31
st
 December 2016 (31

st
 December 2015: 

16) and there is not any collective contract application in the organization. The rights and benefits provided to the 

personnel are in parallel with the human resources applications of Eczacıbaşı Group. 

 

Information on organizational units apart from the headquarters 

 

Real estate development: 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım does not have any construction site office within the scope of 

Ormanada project apart from its headquarters. 

 

 

 



Other Activities
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Sector in which the organization is active and its position in this sector 

 

Ceramic coating market:  

Under Eczacıbaşı Yapı Grubu, Karo Group is one of the important market actors in the markets of Germany, 

France, England, Russia and Turkey being in the first place and selected by the Group as the strategic market with 

the brands of Vitra and Villeroy&Boch. In addition, it performs sales to many countries around the world. 
 

Exportation services: 

Within the scope of its exportation intermediate activities for Eczacıbaşı Group’s organizations, Ekom provides 

operation, customs, financing and risk management services. It is not possible to make an industrial positioning and 

comparison due to the specific nature of the work and as it is limited with the Group. 
 

Forecasts related to the development of the organization 

 

Ceramic coating market:  

Innovative products and maximum customer satisfaction have great importance under the fierce competition 

conditions where Vitra Karo carries on business. In this respect, the intense studies are conducted in terms of new 

product design and the new products are offered to the customers in the important fairs organized. In addition, the 

processes conducted in the organization are improved and developed in a way to increase the customer satisfaction. 
 

Encountered during the end of the last year in the Turkish domestic market, the slowdown in the existing residence 

stock to transform into sales continued same all the year round. The slowdown observed in the domestic sales and 

order input are such as to confirm this issue. In spite of this; the situation of 2B lands, the urban transformation 

envisaged within the scope of the earthquake precautions, and the finalization of the law preparations in terms of 

granting real estate acquisition right to foreigners can be considered among the issues of which effect is expected in 

the medium and the long term. An increase is expected in the renovation market in Germany as one of the strategic 

markets of Vitra Karo, and it is observed that the sales are rapidly increasing upon the activation of the 

manufacturing plants in Russia as another strategic market of the organization. 
 

In order to increase the productivity and the profitability; the improvement studies are continued to use the cost-

effective replacement materials instead of some raw materials of which cost prices show a higher increase than 

expected; and the cost improvement studies are continued also in the other areas to reduce the effect of the expected 

increase in the price of natural gas and electricity. In addition, the studies continue to minimize the negative effect, 

observed on the gross profit level due to sales and cost increases resulting from law exchange rate, on the operating 

income before depreciation with controlled expenses and savings measures to be made in operating expenses. 
 

Exportation services: 

Ekom increases its trading volume in parallel with the development of the exportation activities of Eczacıbaşı 

Group.  
 

The main factors affecting the performance of the organization, the significant changes in the environment 

where the organization is active and the policies applied by the organization against these changes 

 

Ceramic coating market:  

The majority of the sales of Vitra Karo are performed to foreign markets. And the majority of its purchases are 

domestic-based. Its financial expenses include also the exchange rate effect of the foreign currency-based loans and 

the positive or negative changes in exchange rates have direct effect on its financial results. Due to the domestic 

market conditions and the competition, the cost increase cannot be directly reflected on the prices and this decreases 

the operating profitability. 
 

The productivity and production increase projects are conducted in its manufacturing plants on abroad and the 

studies are conducted in order to increase the company’s performance in the upcoming periods by concentrating 

more on the foreign market. The company also conducts studies on reducing the costs by simplifying the 

manufacturing process, on gaining cost advantage through the effective use of the sources in the supply chain, and 

on reducing the number of products with low profitability by canalizing the products with high profitability in the 

sales portfolio. 
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Exportation services: 

Being the international trading company of Eczacıbaşı Group, the purpose of Ekom is to provide exportation, 

customs, financing and risk management services in the most effective way to the Group’s organizations for which it 

mediates for the exportation of Eczacıbaşı products. The performance of the organization is partially affected by the 

changes in the macro indicators of the economy. In particular, as the fluctuations in the exchange rate policy affect 

the commission income received over sales; they directly reflect to the financial results of the organization. 

 

Prices, sales turnover, sales conditions of goods and services subjecting of the activity and developments 

observed in these within the year, developments in efficiency and productivity coefficients, reasons for 

significant changes in these compared to the previous years 

 

Ceramic coating market:  

The consolidated sales of Karo Group were realized 6.3% more than the last year based on TL at the end of 2016. 

 

Exportation services: 

As the marketing and the sales organization is performed by the manufacturing companies to which service is 

provided, the developments in these issues are made out of the initiative of the organization. 

 

Descriptions related to characteristics of the Organization's manufacturing units, capacity usage ratios and 

trends, overall capacity utilization ratio and comparison of developments, amount, quality, sales and prices in 

production of goods and services in its field of activity with figures of the previous period 

 

Ceramic coating market:  

Vitra Karo has a wide product range with its product sizes. Together with its subsidiaries on abroad, the organization 

still has a manufacturing capacity of 32 - 34 million m
2 

depending on the variety of product size and a capacity 

usage ratio of 90-95% accordingly. Ever year, it starts the manufacturing of about 8-10 new products. 

 

Exportation services: 

As it is an intermediary firm, the organization does not join in manufacturing, marketing and sales policies of the 

products it intermediates. The cost and quality measurements are regularly made for the intermediary services 

provided. 

 

Research and development activities performed 

 

Ceramic coating market:  

Eczacıbaşı Yapı Ürünleri Group completed the construction of the R&D plant providing service for Vitra Karo and 

Eczacıbaşı Yapı Ürünleri in Bozüyük, and the plant acting as the "innovation center" of Yapı Ürünleri Group has 

been conducting its activities as of May 2011. Karo continues its studies particularly in terms of the utilization of 

cost-reducer replacement materials and raw materials. 

 

Exportation services: 

Ekom does not have any R&D activity. 

 

Developments in investments, incentives used and the extent of incentive use 

 

Ceramic coating market:  

Targeted as EUR 37 million in total, the investment of Russia Tile Plant was completed. Based on amount, 5% of 

the Karo Group's sales are met by the Russian plant.  

 

Obtained for the general modernization in Bozüyük, the investment incentive certificate, of TL 5 million and with 

number 112448 dated 14
th

 November 2013, was approved by the Ministry and the acquisitions within the scope of 

the certificate were completed in 2016. 

 

Obtained for the activation of the revision of 10
th

 kiln line in Bozüyük, the investment incentive certificate, of TL 

4,7 million and with number 117194 dated 23
rd

 December 2014, was approved by the Ministry and the acquisitions 

within the scope of the certificate are ongoing and the certificate is valid until 25
th

 November 2017. 
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Exportation services: 

Ekom makes limited investments as required by its operational services. The Group’s organizations, to which it 

provides service, benefit from the advantages that it has with its statute of being an international trading company.   

 

Finance sources and risk management policies of the organization 

 

Ceramic coating market:  

More than half of 2016 sales of Vitra Karo are comprised of the foreign sales. As the majority of its revenue is 

foreign exchange revenue, it covers also its financing requirements from foreign-currency loans. In addition, the 

organization benefits from the risk-reducer financial instruments (forward, collar, etc.) where required. 

 

Exportation services: 

As the equity of Ekom, being an intermediary institution and undertaking minimum risk during this intermediate 

process, is sufficient for this activity; Ekom does not use external financing for its requirements. However, Ekom 

has a very extensive bank relations network and reputation as a result of its financial intermediate services, and it 

has the opportunity to easily benefit from the external financing sources where required. 

 

Precautions planned to improve the financial structure of the organization 

 

Ceramic coating market:  

In order not to limit its revenue with the domestic markets, Vitra Karo continues its investments for growth both 

with acquisitions and establishing new companies in the foreign markets. The company, whose finance requirements 

have increased due to its ongoing investments, develops precautions to decrease costs and to reduce the need for net 

operational capital.  

 

The existing capital of Vitra Karo of TL 260 million was increased to TL 450 million by covering all of it in cash. 

The amount corresponding to 25% of the increased capital was paid in December 2016 and the balance part of 75% 

will be paid in cash in accordance with the decisions to be made in this regard by the Board of Directors and within 

24 months at the latest. 

 

Exportation services: 

The organization constantly activates the administrative and technological regulations to decrease the general 

expenses. 

 

Personnel and worker movements, collective contract applications, rights and benefits provided to personnel 

and workers 

 

Ceramic coating market: 

As of 31
st
 December 2016, Vitra Karo has 2,340 employees in total, as blue collars and white collars (excluding the 

subcontracted workers), together with its subsidiaries (31
st
 December 2015: 2,340). There is the collective contract 

application in the organization’s company at home and the blue collar employees have the rights and the benefits 

provided within the scope of this contract. 

 

The white collar employees have the rights and the benefits determined by Eczacıbaşı Group. The increases in the 

salaries of white collar employees were made in the beginning of the second quarter in Vitra Karo in accordance 

with the group's policy. The increases in the salaries of blue collar employees are made in accordance with the 

collective labor contracts. 

 

Exportation services: 

As of 31
st
 December 2016, Ekom has 19 employees (31

st
 December 2015: 19) and there is not any collective 

contract application in the organization. The rights and benefits provided to the personnel are in parallel with the 

human resources applications of Eczacıbaşı Group. 
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Information on organizational units apart from the headquarters 

 

Ceramic coating market: 

Vitra Karo has plants in Istanbul and Bilecik/Bozüyük at home and in Russia, Germany and France through its 

subsidiaries on abroad. Its outlet sales points in Tuzla, Diyarbakır and Bozüyük at home were closed at the end of 

2016.  

 

Exportation services: 

Ekom does not have any organizational unit apart from its headquarters. Ekom perform marketing and importation 

activities on behalf of its registered offices and manufacturers in China. 
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PROFIT DISTRIBUTION PROPOSAL 
 

During the meeting of our Board of Directors held on 20
th

 March 2017;  

 

It was determined that our company's distributable net profit of the period as of 31
st
 December 2016 was TL 

173,045,026 on the consolidated financial statements, which were issued pursuant to the “Communique on 

Principles Related to Financial Reporting in Capital Market” number II-14.1 of Capital Markets Board (“CMB”) 

and which were independently audited, and was TL 223,401,511 on the financial statements issued according to 

the legal records. 

 

Related to the distribution of the profit of 2016, the distributable net profit of the period included in the 

consolidated financial statements was taken as basis for the share distribution of the period in accordance with 

the regulations of CMB on profit distribution, the article 26 of our Articles of Association and the principles 

indicated in our Profit Distribution Policy; and it was deemed appropriate to distribute profit as indicated below, 

and it was decided to submit it to the General Assembly. 

 

Accordingly, it was decided to make proposal to our partners regarding the following issues; 

1) To distribute cash dividend of TL 342,630,000 corresponding to 50% of the issued capital of our company, 
 

2) Related to the dividend to be distributed; 

- To cover the amount of TL 157,609,800, corresponding to 23% of the capital, from the profit of the 

period, 

- To cover the amount of TL 46,463,695, corresponding to 6.78% of the capital, from the “retained 

earnings” in the consolidated financial statements and from the “extraordinary reserves of 2007” in the 

legal financial statements, 

- To cover the balance amount of TL 138,556,505, corresponding to 20.22% of the capital, from the 

"Funds of Participation Stock and Real Estate Return on Sales" monitored within the account item of 

"Restricted Reserves Allocated from Profits" in the consolidated financial statements and from the 

"Funds of Participation Stock and Real Estate Return on Sales" monitored within the account item of 

"Specialized Funds" in the legal financial statements, 
 

3) To pay dividend of gross 50% in cash to a share of TL 1 nominal value, and of the net amount found, after 

deducting the withholding rates included in the tax laws, to our full taxpayer real person partners and to our 

limited taxpayer real and legal person partners, 
 

4) To transfer the balance amount of TL 53,457,031, after deducting the legal obligations and the forecasted 

dividend to be distributed from the pre-tax period profit of TL 267,551,734 accrued according to the legal 

records, to the Extraordinary Reserves, 
 

5) And to start the distribution on 8
th

 May 2017, 

  

during the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting to be held for the calendar year 2016. 
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1. 685,260,000

2. 58,329,937

There are no 

preferred shares.

As per Capital 

Markets Board

As per Statutory 

Records

3. 214,434,000 267,551,734

4. (29,631,000) (32,392,249)

5. 184,803,000 235,159,485

6. 0 0

7. (11,757,974) (11,757,974)

8. 173,045,026 223,401,511

9. 1,900 1,900

10. 173,046,926 223,403,411

11.

157,609,800 157,609,800

0 0

157,609,800 157,609,800

12. 0 0

13.

0 0

0 0

0 0

14. 0 0

15. 0 0

16. 30,836,700 30,836,700

17. 0 0

18. 0 0

19. 3,100,546 53,457,031

20. 185,020,200 185,020,200

INFORMATION ON DIVIDEND PER SHARE


CASH         

(TL)

SHARES 

(TL)
RATIO (% ) AMOUNT (TL) SHARE (% )

NET (*) - 291,235,500 0 168.30 0.42500 42.50

(*) In calculating the net dividend, Income Tax witholding ratio was taken as 15%.  
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PROFIT DISTRIBUTION TABLE FOR 2016 (TL)

Paid-in/Authorised Share Capital


General Legal Reserves (as per Statutory Records)


Information concerning preferred shares, if, as per the Company's Articles of Association, 

there are any exceptions for preferred shares in distribution of dividend

Profit for the Period


Taxes (-)


Net Profit for the Period (=)


Prior Years' Losses (-)


Legal Reserve Fund (-)


NET DISTRIBUTABLE PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD (=)


Grants made during the year (+)


Net distributable profit including grants


First Category Dividend to Shareholders


    - Cash


    - Shares

    - Total

Dividends Distributed to Preferred Shareholdres


Other Dividends Distributed 

    - Members of theBoard of Directors


    - Employees


    - Non-shareholders


Dividends Distributed to Holders of Usufruct Right Certificate 

Second Category Dividend to Shareholders


Legal Reserve Fund


DIVIDEND PER SHARE FOR 1 TL 

NOMINAL VALUE

Status Reserves


Special Reserves


EXTRAORDINARY RESERVES


Other Sources Planned for Distribution


GROUP

TOTAL DIVIDEND 

AMOUNT

TOTAL DIVIDEND AMOUNT NET 

DISTRIBUTABLE PROFIT FOR 

THE PERIOD
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SECTION I - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT 

 
The Corporate Governance Compliance Report for the financial year of 1

st
 January - 31

st
 December 2016 has been 

issued in accordance with the "Corporate Governance Communique No. II-17.1" ("Communique") of the Capital 

Markets Board ("CMB") published on the Official Gazette dated 3
rd

 January 2014 and numbered 28871.  

 

Studies Conducted Within Period for Compliance with Principles 

 

 Our Board of Directors and our Committees of the Board of Directors have been established in accordance with 

the regulations under the Corporate Governance Communique. Within this scope, during the meeting of the 

Board of Directors dated 27
th
 April 2016, the Investor Relations Department Manager of the Company was 

appointed as the member to the Corporate Governance Committee. 

 The "Compensation Policy" for the Board of Directors and Senior Executives was determined and submitted for 

the information of partners during the General Assembly Meeting. 

 The General Assembly information document issued and the information on the General Assembly such as 

voting rights and organizational changes, compulsory to disclose as required by the principles, as well as the 

background of the Board members, the compensation policy determined for the Board members and senior 

executives, the reports required to be issued regarding related party transactions, and other information required 

to be disclosed were submitted for the information of the investors 3 weeks before the General Assembly 

Meeting. 

 All of our related party transactions were submitted for the information of the Board of Directors and it was 

decided to continue the mentioned transactions upon approval of our independent members of the Board. 

 The Disclosure Policy of the Company was reviewed and required updates were made, and the updated policy 

text was published on the Public Disclosure Platform ("PDP") and on the Company's website.  

 

Developments and applications in the legislation will be taken into consideration and required studies will be 

conducted for compliance with the Corporate Governance Principles also in the upcoming period. 

 

Corporate Governance Principles Not Yet Implemented 

 

Within framework of the Communique in force, while the compulsory principles to be complied have been complied 

in full, compliance has been also provided with a great majority of those principles not compulsory to be complied. 

Although it is aimed to fully comply with the noncompulsory Corporate Governance Principles, it has not been 

possible yet to achieve full compliance due to the reasons such as the difficulties encountered in the implementation 

of some principles; the ongoing discussions, in terms of compliance with some principles, both in our country and in 

the international platform; and some principles not fully overlapping with the current structure of the market and of 

the Company. The studies are conducted on those principles not yet implemented and it is planned to put them into 

practice following the completion of the administrative, legal and technical infrastructure studies in a way to make 

contribution to the effective management of our organization. There is not any conflict of interest resulting from 

those principles not yet implemented. The studies conducted in our organization within framework of the corporate 

governance principles and the principles not yet complied are presented based on principles in relevant sections of 

the report.  

 

Within this framework; 
 

 Considering the existing structure of our Company's board of directors, some members of the Board had to take 

office in several committees within the scope of the compulsion to establish three different committees pursuant 

to the Capital Market legislation. 

 Concerning the principle number 4.3.9, a target rate and a target time have not been determined yet for the 

woman member rate in the Board of Directors and the assessment studies in this regard are ongoing. Detailed 

information in this regard is available in section 5.1 of the report. 

 Concerning the principle number 4.6.5, the payments made to the senior executives are collectively disclosed to 

public in the marginal notes of our financial statements in parallel with the general applications. 
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SECTION II - SHAREHOLDERS 
 

2.1 Investor Relations Department 
 

In EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. ("Company"), the relations with 

shareholders were managed by the Department of Relations with Capital Market and Partners established in 1993 

under the Financial Affairs Department. However, as a result of the organizational and operational changes made in 

2006, the CMB Relations and Reporting Manager of the Company has started conducting the duties of this 

department as of 1
st
 November 2006. 

 

In parallel with the amendments in CMB legislation, the name of this department was updated as "Investor Relations 

Department" and during the meeting of the Board of Directors dated 27
th

 April 2016, the Investor Relations 

Department Manager of the Company was appointed as the member to the Corporate Governance Committee. 
 

Information regarding the executives in the Investor Relations Department: 
 

Investor Relations Department Manager: 

Name-Surname   : Gülnur Günbey Kartal 

Title    : CMB Relations and Reporting Manager 

Telephone    : 0 212 371 73 94 

Fax    : 0 212 371 73 99 

e-mail    : gulnur.gunbey@eczacibasi.com.tr 

Type / Number of License Certificate : Capital Market Activities, Advanced / 204571 

       Specialty in Corporate Governance Rating / 700606 
 

Investor Relations Department Officer: 

Name-Surname   : Betül Aktekin Aytar 

Title    : Senior Accounting Specialist 

 

The Investor Relations Department of the Company plays an effective role in facilitating and protecting the 

shareholder rights, particularly the right to information and examination. 

 

Main activities conducted in the Investor Relations Department are as follows: 

 To ensure that records pertaining to shareholders are kept proper, secure and updated, 

 To satisfy all verbal and written demands of information made by shareholders to the Company, except for 

undisclosed, confidential information and commercial secrets related to the company and in a way not to cause 

information asymmetry, 

 To hold General Assembly Meeting in accordance with the effective legislation, the articles of association and 

other internal regulations, 

 To issue documents that may be utilized by shareholders during the General Assembly meeting,  

 To keep records of voting results and to ensure that reports related to results are sent to shareholders who 

demand it,  

 To observe and follow any and all issues related to public disclosure, including the legislation and the Disclosure 

Policy of the Company, 

 To satisfy information demands of analysts and academicians, conducting research and assessment about the 

Company and the sector, within the scope of information previously disclosed to public and except for 

commercial secrets, 

 To issue, both in Turkish and English, the content of the Investor Relations section on the corporate website of 

the Company (www.eczacibasi.com.tr), to update the content as frequent as possible and to enable shareholders 

to access information about the Company via Internet in a fast and easy way, 

 To ensure two-way communication between shareholders and the senior management and the Board of Directors 

of the Company, 

 To present information and disclosures which are likely to affect the exercise of rights by shareholders on the 

Company’s corporate website for the use of shareholders, 

mailto:gulnur.gunbey@eczacibasi.com.tr
http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/
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 To notify Special Situation Disclosures through PDP to BIST within framework of the Communique number II-

15.1 of CMB, 

 To observe and monitor that obligations arising from the Capital Market legislation, including any issue related 

to Corporate Governance and Public Disclosure, are met.  

 

The Investor Relations Department submitted its report regarding its activities conducted in 2016 to the Corporate 

Governance Committee on 16
th

 January 2017, and the report examined by the Committee was assessed by the Board 

of Directors on 25
th

 January 2017. 

 

In 2016, the Company received 26 written demands of information from the shareholders and they were replied 

within framework of the disclosure policy. 

  

2.2 Exercise of Right to Information by Shareholders 

 

In the satisfaction of demands for exercise of shareholder rights, utmost attention is showed for compliance with the 

CMB legislation, the Articles of Association and other internal regulations, and measures are taken to procure the 

exercise of such rights, and all shareholders are treated equally. In 2016, there was no written and/or verbal 

complaint received by the Company in relation with the exercise of shareholder rights or there was no administrative 

and/or legal proceedings brought in this regard against the Company within our knowledge. 

 

The Company makes no distinction between the shareholders for the exercise of rights to information and 

examination, and it shares all required information, excluding commercial secrets, with the shareholders in order to 

properly protect the shareholder rights. Information is provided in full timely and carefully in a way to fairly reflect 

the reality.  

 

Questions received by the Investor Relations Department within year are replied, excluding confidential information 

and commercial secrets, both by phone and in writing following communication with the highest authority in 

respective subject. In order to extend the rights of shareholders to obtain information, any and all information that 

may affect the exercise of their rights is presented to the shareholders in updated form in electronic media. Such 

information and developments that may affect the exercise of shareholder rights are disclosed to public with special 

situation disclosures and are also published on the website of the Company. 

 

Our Articles of Association does not include any regulation regarding the appointment of a special auditor as an 

individual right; however, pursuant to the article 438 of the Turkish Commercial Code, each shareholder may 

request from the General Assembly the clarification of certain issues through special auditing, even though it is not 

included in the agenda in order to exercise shareholder rights, where necessary and if rights of information and 

examination have been exhausted. The shareholders have not made any such demand until today. In addition, the 

Company's activities are periodically audited by the Independent Audit Company approved during the General 

Assembly Meeting. 

 

2.3 General Assembly Meetings  

 

Invitation to General Assembly meetings is announced by the Board of Directors at least 3 weeks prior to date of 

General Assembly meeting, excluding the days of announcement and meeting, by considering the Turkish 

Commercial Code, the Capital Market legislation, the Articles of Association of the Company and the Corporate 

Governance Principles. The Company's Articles of Association has been issued pursuant thereto.  

 

On the date when our Board of Directors decides on General Assembly meeting, the public is informed by making 

required disclosures, including the items of the agenda, through PDP and Electronic General Assembly Meeting 

System ("EGAMS").  

 

The announcement for invitation to the General Assembly meeting is published on the Company's website and on a 

daily newspaper no less than 3 weeks in advance of the date of the General Assembly meeting using any means of 

communication, including electronic communication, in addition to the methods set forth in the legislation, so that 

the invitation is received by the maximum number of shareholders.  

 

In order to facilitate participating in the General Assembly meeting, meetings are held open to public in city center. 

Meetings can be watched by our stakeholders and media. 
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Financial statements and reports including annual activity report, profit distribution proposal, General Assembly 

Information Document issued regarding general assembly agenda, other documents forming basis to general 

assembly agenda, the last version of the Articles of Association and, if there shall be amendment in the Articles of 

Association, amendment text and its reason are kept open for examination in the places to which shareholders can 

reach in the most easiest way, including the Company's headquarters and website, as of the date of announcement 

made for the invitation to the general assembly meeting. On the information documents related to agenda, 

information envisaged for each agenda item is provided to shareholders. In addition, the Company's website 

includes the English translation of all documents to be necessary for foreigner shareholders in order to inform them 

about General Assembly meeting and agenda. 

 

Power of attorney samples for those to be represented by attorney are announced before the General Assembly 

meeting and are provided for the use of shareholders on the Company's website.  

 

At the General Assembly meeting, the issues on the agenda are conveyed impartially, in detail, clearly and in a 

comprehensible manner; and shareholders are given the opportunity to express their opinions and to ask questions 

under equal circumstances; and the opportunity is given to discuss annual activity report and performance indicators 

of the Company.  

 

Minutes of General Assembly Meeting is disclosed to public through PDP and can be also accessed from EGAMS 

and the Company's website. Moreover, minutes is kept open for examination of the shareholders in the Company's 

headquarters and is delivered to those who demand it. 

 

During 2016, the Company held 1 General Assembly Meeting. The Ordinary General Assembly Meeting held on 

26th April 2016, during which the activities of the year 2015 were discussed, was realized with a 87.5 percent 

quorum. Among the holders of public shares, 4 natural and 70 legal persons were recorded in the List of Attendants. 

Our General Assembly Meeting was held under supervision of the Ministerial Representative appointed by Istanbul 

Provincial Directorate of Commerce of Istanbul Governorate of the Republic of Turkey. At the General Assembly 

meeting, our shareholders exercised their right to ask question. The questions were replied by the Board Members 

and the General Manager depending on subjects of the questions. The Company received no demand for addition of 

an article to the agenda by the shareholders. All questions posed by our partners at the General Assembly meeting 

were replied during the meeting. No written question was submitted to the Investor Relations Department due to the 

fact that such question could not be replied at the General Assembly meeting.  

 

At the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting held in 2016, information was provided with an individual agenda item 

about the donations and aids made in 2015; the upper limit for donations to be made in 2016 was determined ad TL 

500,000; and no change was made in the donation policy. 

 

According to CMB regulations, in 2016, there was no transaction where the affirmative vote of the majority of the 

Independent Board Members was sought in order to make decision at the Board of Directors but where the decision 

was left to the General Assembly due to negative vote of the mentioned members. 

 

In 2016, it was not in question performance of any significant transaction, by the shareholders and board members 

having management control or senior executives having administrative responsibility and their spouses and second 

degree relatives by blood and marriage, which might cause conflict of interests with the Company or its affiliate 

companies and/or performance of any transaction in type of commercial business within the subject of the business 

of the Company or its affiliate companies by the same or their participation in another partnership, engaging in the 

same type of commercial businesses, with the title of personally liable partner. 

 

2.4 Voting Rights and Minority Rights 

 

In our Company, practices that make it difficult to exercise the voting right are avoided, and each shareholder, even 

cross-border, is given the chance to exercise the voting right in a fair, easy and convenient way. Regarding the 

voting for agenda items during the General Assembly Meetings, open vote method by show of hands is used 

provided that the provisions for voting in electronic media are reserved. Each agenda item is individually voted 

during the meeting. 

 

There is not any privilege in our Articles of Association regarding the exercise of voting right and each share has 

one voting right. In our Company, there is no regulation prescribing that voting right is to be used after a while from 

the date of acquisition. In our Articles of Association, there is no provision which prevents a person, who has no 

share, from voting by proxy as representative. Cumulative vote method is not applied.  
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Our main partner Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş., which owns 50.62 percent of shares of our Company's capital and whose 

37.28 percent of capital is owned by our Company (reciprocal shareholding), votes at our General Assembly 

meetings. 

 

2.5 Dividend Right 

 

The profit distribution policy of our Company and the annual profit distribution proposal of our Board of Directors 

are prepared in accordance with the profit distribution statement determined by CMB and are submitted for the 

information of our shareholders in PDP environment simultaneously with the decision of our Board of Directors. 

The mentioned proposal is available in our annual activity report and is submitted to approval of the partners at the 

General Assembly meeting. In addition, profit distribution statement and profit distribution history as well as 

detailed information regarding capital increases are disclosed to public on the Company's website. In 2016, a gross 

cash dividend of 40% was distributed to the partners. 

 

Profit Distribution Policy 

 

During its meeting on 18
th

 March 2014, our Board of Directors decided, regarding the distribution of the profit of 

2013, to implement a profit distribution policy within framework of the following concept in accordance with CMB 

regulations on profit distribution, the article 26 of our Articles of Association and the principles indicated in our 

Company's "Profit Distribution Policy" disclosed to public; and to submit this policy to approval of the partners 

during the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting to be held for 2013. 

 

 The principle was adopted to distribute dividend as cash and/or bonus share over the “distributable profit for the 

period”, calculated within the scope of the Capital Markets Legislation and the other relevant legislations, based 

on the net profit for the year in the financial statements issued within the scope of the Capital Markets 

Legislation and made be subject to independent audit. 

 In our Articles of Association, there is not a specific regulation envisaging the application of giving profit share 

to the employees and the members of the Board of Directors together with preferred stock related to obtaining 

share from profit, and promoter’s dividend share. 

 The profit distribution proposals submitted by our Board of Directors to the approval of our General Assembly 

are issued by considering the delicate balances between the possible expectations of our shareholders and the 

envisaged growth strategies of our organization.   

 The attention is paid to make the profit share payments (cash and/or bonus share) within the legal periods and as 

soon as possible following the General Assembly Meeting so as to be until the end of the period envisaged 

within the legislation at the latest. 

 

This dividend policy is still applied and our Board of Directors has not made any change within this regard. 

 

2.6 Transfer of Shares 

 

In our Articles of Association, there is not any provision restricting or making difficult free transfer of shares. 

 

 

SECTION III – PUBLIC DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY 
 

3.1 Corporate Website and Its Content 

 

In order to carry out its relations with shareholders much efficiently and rapidly and to be in constant contact with 

shareholders, the Company has been actively using its corporate website www.eis.com.tr, as stipulated by the 

Corporate Governance Principles, since April 2005. Thus, the information about our organization, the human 

resources, our affiliates as well as the investor relations have been open for the information of the society. As a 

result of the reorganization of our organization in 2007, the studies to update the website in compliance with the new 

structure were completed in 2008. The information on Investor Relations accessed from our Company's website 

www.eis.com.tr was directed to the address www.eczacibasi.com.tr as of 8
th

 May 2009.  

 

The information for the last 5 years at the least is available both in Turkish and English on the section of Investor 

Relations. The information contained therein is constantly updated, is identical and consistent with the disclosures 

made in accordance with the relevant legislation, and does not contain any conflicting or missing information.  

http://www.eis.com.tr/
http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/
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The Investor Relations Department is responsible for preparing the content on the website, updating the information 

changed and adding additional information. The studies to provide better service of the website always continue.  

 

3.2 Activity Report 

 

The activity report of the Board of Directors is issued in a way to allow the public to access complete and accurate 

information about the activities of the Company and in such detail required by the Turkish Commercial Code (TCC) 

and CMB legislation. 

 

 

SECTION IV - STAKEHOLDERS 
 

4.1 Informing the Stakeholders 

 

Information is provided to the stakeholders through General Assembly and by replying personal applications 

provided that it is within the scope of CMB legislation. Information to public is provided both during press 

conferences held and statements made through media, and information is provided to employees during various 

organizations such as Strategic Planning, General Manager information and dissemination meetings (in such 

meetings, changes such as target sharing, salary, social benefits and allowances are announced). In Eczacıbaşı 

Group, there is a portal accessed by the employees and it has been ensured that the employees can access any 

information and document to concern them, significant announcements, changes in management and press releases 

through this portal. In addition, the Corporate Communication Department in Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. publishes an 

internal periodical magazine "Yaşam" in order to increase the communication with the employees. 

 

The problems of Kanyon hirers, being our most important customers, are resolved with direct meetings and Kanyon 

Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş., providing management services of Kanyon complex, gives support to resolve 

such problems. 

 

The corporate management structure of the Company gives opportunity for all stakeholders including employees 

and representatives to convey their concerns, regarding transactions not appropriate in terms of laws and ethics, 

verbal-written and through other means of communication. The Audit Committee is responsible also for examining 

the complaints received by the Company.  

   

4.2 Stakeholders’ Participation in Management 

 

Models (surveys, interviews, etc.) supporting the participation of stakeholders, notably including employees, in the 

Company's management are carried out provided that the Company’s activities are not hindered. On the other hand, 

requests and suggestions made during meetings held with employees and other stakeholders are assessed by the 

managers, and policies and applications for these are realized. Within this framework, it is ensured that the 

stakeholders participate in the management with information provided at the General Assembly for shareholders and 

with information provided through various meetings, Corporate Portal and electronic mail for employees. In 

addition, the evaluations of employees regarding applications are collected with the Employee Loyalty 

questionnaires made throughout Eczacıbaşı Group, and employee loyalty and satisfaction are measured. The 

improvement targets for questionnaire results are added to performance cards of General Managers by also 

considering the Company's activities. 

 

4.3 Human Resources Policy  

 

Our human resources policy, based on Eczacıbaşı values and placing human in the focus of all activities as the most 

important factor providing competitive advantage, is based on the following principles: 

 To ensure a structure flexible in organization and open for change requirements in line with the Corporate 

Strategic Plan and Objectives,  

 To ensure that human resources are used actively and effectively in line with the Corporate Objectives, 

 To regularly review and improve the human resources processes and systems,  

 To increase performance at individual, team and organization level by promoting learning activities and 

developing knowledge, skills and behaviors of employees, 

 To create personal development and career development opportunities for employees in line with the 

requirements of our organization and with results of performance evaluation studies, 
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 To constantly improve the satisfaction level by realizing required improvements in parallel with the 

measurement of satisfaction perception of employees and other relevant performance indicators, 

 To introduce persons who have competences required by work and strong communication skills, who are 

creative, innovative, active, open to changes, transparent, energetic, who aim to develop themselves and their 

work, who raise competent person and who will adopt and sustain our values, to our organization, 

 To ensure that, among man and woman candidates with equal characteristics, woman candidate is preferred. 

 

Our Company's Human Resources management is conducted by the Financial Affairs Department and the common 

policies, fundamental principles and procedures, determined by the Group Presidency of Human Resources in 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. for all organizations in the Group, are implemented as our Company is an organization of 

Eczacıbaşı Group. These fundamental principles and procedures are shared with the employees of Eczacıbaşı Group 

through the Corporate Portal. There is no union member personnel in our Company. 

 

No complaint about discrimination has been received from the employees until today. 

 

4.4 Code of Conduct and Social Responsibility 

 

Code of Conduct 

 

The activities of the Company are conducted within framework of the following code of conduct determined by 

Eczacıbaşı Group. These codes are published also in our Corporate Governance Compliance Report and on the 

Company's website within framework of the compliance with the Corporate Governance Principles published by 

CMB. 

 

With the purpose of realizing its main objective "to have the perfect human resources supported with the best 

human resources practices", our organization has adopted the following policies: 

 In line with the strategic plans and objectives of the organizations under the Group, to ensure that they keep their 

organization structures dynamic and that they are ready for changes,  

 To improve individual and team performance with constant processes and system to improve quality, and to 

create opportunities for our employees to have a professional working environment and to develop career in 

order to use the human resources in the most active and effective way and to direct the management power in 

line with the objectives of the Group, 

 To introduce persons who have high education level, who are open for innovations and changes, who have 

entrepreneurial ability, who are energetic, who aim to develop themselves and their work, who raise person and 

who will adopt and sustain the values of the Group, to the society. 

 

Quality, customer satisfaction, productivity, participative management, teamwork, flexibility and open 

communication were concentrated upon while realizing these objectives and policies and for these studies conducted 

and systems developed regarding human resources. 

  

While fulfilling their duties, the employees are liable to respect the below-mentioned Group's Code of Business 

Conduct, to comprehend the importance of responsibilities conferred and to fulfill those responsibilities. 

  

Each employee;  

1. Is responsible for fulfilling his/her duty carefully and rigorously, following and comprehending legal rules and 

changes made regarding his/her respective works, and getting required information to fulfill his/her duty. In the 

event that any difficulty is encountered in this regard, officers of relevant organization should be consulted. 

2.  Conducts his/her studies with productivity and performance expected from him/her in accordance with the 

requirements and qualities of work.  

3.  Is obliged to prioritize the interests of the organization and to avoid from any activity and transaction, to 

damage the organization, while making decision about his/her duty.  

4.  Is liable to keep information that he/she learns about his/her duty but that is considered risky to disclose and is 

required to be kept confidential.  

5. Is obliged to respect the laws and to avoid from any activity to put the organization in a difficult situation and 

to harm its prestige. 
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6. Should be attentive to select reputable persons or organization to adopt and implement the Group's Code of 

Business Conduct, while recruiting employee in his/her respective team or while working directly/indirectly 

with third parties related to his/her works. 

7. Can not try to benefit from private and legal persons due to his/her duty and can not propose or offer an illegal 

payment or help to any person or organization. 

8. Is obliged to always prioritize the Group's Code of Business Conduct for his/her relations both with the 

government and customers, and to avoid from attempts aimed to influence the other party but harming the 

prestige of his/her organization while representing his/her organization in such platforms. 

9. Is responsible for meeting customer satisfaction and treating any person and organization equally by 

prioritizing quality, speed, convenience, kindness and respect provided being honest, reliable and dignified for 

his/her relations with customers and business owners. 

10.   Is liable to respect the organization's workplace working order and working hours, to act in accordance with the 

starting and ending time and the breaks of working hours, and to fulfill his/her service duty without any 

disruption in this regard. 

11.  Is responsible for respecting the working order and hours of the Group and for using all the working hours for 

the Group. He/she can not conduct any work to generate income from any other place, and can not take office 

as manager or consultant in any other organization. He/she can take charge in management bodies of voluntary 

agencies such as association and foundation and of chambers upon approval of CEO. Payments related to 

membership admission fees and annual fees for memberships approved by CEO are made by organization of 

employee. Can never take charge in management bodies of political parties.  

12.  Can not make statement and provide information to press organizations about his/her organization unless 

authorization is given by CEO. 

13.  Is liable to protect any money, official document, tools and equipment related to the organization, to ensure 

their safety and not to use them for personal needs. 

14.  Is liable to respect the Labor Law Legislation, employment contract, the working conditions determined with 

this regulations as an annex to employment contract, and verbal and written instructions given by the employer 

or officers of the employer related to conduct of the work and behaviors in the workplace, as well as working 

discipline and occupational health and safety rules. 

 

Required care is paid to notify those acting against the Group's Code of Business Conduct, by documenting as much 

as possible and assessing objectively such actions, to top executive as soon as possible and to take precautions in 

this regard. 

  

In this scope, the employees are responsible for notifying any change in their familial, marital and address status and 

providing information about them, their families or relatives as well as documents forming basis to these and taken 

basis in terms of rights and obligations regulated by contracts and regulations. Employees are fully responsible for 

notifying changes in their personal information. Notification address is the last address notified by the person, and 

notifications made to such address are deemed to have been duly served. 

  

Likewise, the employees;  

 Are obliged to make decision by valuing the interests of the organization above any thing without being 

influenced by the interests about them or their families, while fulfilling their duties.  

 Within this framework, relations and activities of employees outside the organization should not be in conflict 

with their responsibilities as being a member of the Group and should not be against the laws.  

 The employees are liable not to abuse the sources of the Group and not to harm the prestige of the Group. 

 Regarding the Group, the employees are obliged to take into consideration advantages and disadvantages of their 

relations and activities outside the Group and possible conflicts of interest that may result from such activities.  

  

Social Responsibility 

 

The social, cultural and some sport activities are supported by our organization within the scope of the principles of 

Eczacıbaşı Group. There is no lawsuit brought against our organization due to damage to environment. 

Environmental pollution has been adopted by our organization as our most important social responsibility and our 

environmental policy has been published and announced to all of our employees. 
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Policy of Relations with Society and External Organizations 

 

As an organization having corporate social responsibility, our Company: 

 Will oversee the compliance with the laws and the codes of conduct as a prerequisite for its relations with the 

society and external organizations as for all of its relations with its stakeholders.  

 Will collaborate with the local community and with broader segments of the society where necessary by using 

the working opportunities to provide mutual benefit.  

 Will effectively benefit from the opportunities of collaboration with external organizations in line with its 

principle of constant and mutual development. 

 

Environmental Policy 

 

In line with its excellence objective, our Company adopts the following objectives and principles in order to protect 

the environment and to systematically popularize the awareness of protecting environment: 

 To raise awareness of all employees, partner organizations and the local community in order to create and 

constantly improve environmental conscience, 

 To minimize negative impact likely to be caused on the environment by reducing any kind of pollution, recycling 

wastes and disposing non-recyclable wastes with appropriate techniques, 

 To pay attention to protect the naturality of the environment, 

 To give support to initiatives of the government agencies and society to protect environment, 

 To constantly follow and improve the applications related to occupational health and safety. 

 

In accordance with these objectives and principles, we undertake and announce to public on behalf of the employees 

of our Company that we will fulfill our social responsibilities, that we will recover our impact likely to be cause to 

the environment and we will constantly improve our performance, that we will respect all laws, regulations and 

standards regarding protection of the environment and natural resources for a sustainable future, and that we will 

show an exemplary approach.  

 

Participation in Education and Training Activities 

 

Our Company helps and provides resource to assignments and researches of university students who have such 

demand. It donates computer and equipment within the scope of information technologies to various educational 

institutions. Our Company provides internship opportunity and gives support to vocational high school and 

university students. 

 

Support to Sport and Entertainment Activities 

 

Eczacıbaşı Sports Club, to which our Company makes contribution, has become champion and achieved success for 

many time at home and on abroad, and has played a big role for the development and promotion of Turkish sport. 

Since 1999, our Company has been making donations to the provincial and district sports clubs. In order to cause 

sports to be loved and sports culture and ethics to be adopted, the volleyball school for girls is in service under the 

leadership of Eczacıbaşı Sports Club.  

 

 

SECTION V - BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

5.1 Structure and Formation of the Board of Directors 

 

In accordance with our Articles of Association, the activities and management of our Company are conducted by a 

board of directors, comprised of minimum 5 members, to be elected upon the decision of the general assembly 

pursuant to the Turkish Commercial Code and the Capital Market Legislation. The authorities and responsibilities of 

members of Board of Directors and managers are explicitly defined in the Articles of Association. The authorities 

are specified in the Company’s signature circular in detail. In our organization, the Chairman of the Board of 

Directors and the General Manager are not the same person. 
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Members of the Board of Directors are identified to allow them to carry out efficient and constructive studies, to 

take swift and rational decisions, to set up committees and to organize their studies effectively.  

 

The Board of Directors of the company is formed by six non-executive members.  

 

Name-Surname Title 
Start Date of  

Taking Office 

Status of 

Independency 

F. Bülent Eczacıbaşı Chairman of the Board 26
th
 April 2016 - 

R. Faruk Eczacıbaşı Vice Chairman of the Board 26
th
 April 2016 - 

M. Sacit Basmacı Member 26
th
 April 2016 - 

Ayşe Deniz Özger Member 26
th
 April 2016 - 

Şenol S. Alanyurt Member 26
th
 April 2016 Independent Member 

Akın Dinçsoy Member 26
th
 April 2016 Independent Member 

 

The committees in which the Board Members will take office until the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting of 2017 

and their duties outside the Company are presented below: 

 

Name-Surname 
As of the Latest Situation  

Duties Assigned For out of Partnership 

Committees Participated  

and Title 

F. Bülent Eczacıbaşı 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. - Chairman of the Board / 

Chairman of the Presidency Board of Eczacıbaşı Group 

/ Chairman and Member of the Board in the companies 

of Eczacıbaşı Group 

Not available. 

R. Faruk Eczacıbaşı 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. - Vice Chairman of the Board 

/ Vice Chairman of the Presidency Board of Eczacıbaşı 

Group / Chairman and Member of the Board in the 

companies of Eczacıbaşı Group 

Not available. 

M. Sacit Basmacı 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. - President and General 

Manager of Financial Affairs Group / Member of the 

Board in the companies of Eczacıbaşı Group 

Corporate Governance Committee  

- Member 

Ayşe Deniz Özger 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. - Member of the 

Board / Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi 

A.Ş. - Member of the Board 

Early Risk Detection Committee  

- Member 

Şenol S. Alanyurt 
Technical Advisor (in an organization outside the 

Group) 
Audit Committee - President 

Akın Dinçsoy Not available. 

Audit Committee - Member / 

Corporate Governance Committee 

- President / Early Risk Detection 

Committee - President 

 

The curriculum vitae information of the members of the Board is included on the preamble section of the activity 

report. 

 

During the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting of 2016, 2 independent members having the quality to fulfill their 

duties without being influenced by anything were elected among the Board members in accordance with the 

Corporate Governance Principles of the Capital Markets Board. All of the Independent Members of the Board fully 

meet the "independency criteria" specified in the Communique. The candidates for Independent Member of the 

Board submitted their statements of independence and their background information to the Corporate Governance 

Committee before the General Assembly meeting and all of them were identified as independent members by the 

Board of Directors. 

 

The statements of independence of our Independent Members of the Board are presented below: 
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STATEMENT OF INDEPENDENCE  

 
I hereby declare that within framework of the legislation, the articles of association and the criteria specified in the 

Corporate Governance Communique of the Capital Markets Board, I am candidate for taking office as "independent 

member" in EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar San. ve Tic. A.Ş. (Company), and within this scope; 

 
• That there has been no employment relation at manager level to undertake significant roles and responsibilities, 

that more than 5% of capital or voting rights or privileged shares has not been collectively or individually 

acquired or that no material commercial relationship has been established during the last five years between the 

Company, partnerships in which the Company has management control or material affect, partners having 

management control on the Company or having material affect on the Company, legal persons in which such 

partners have management control, and me, my spouse and my second degree relatives by blood and marriage; 
 

• That during the last five years, I have not taken office as partner (5% and above), employee in capacity of 

manager to undertake significant roles and responsibilities or member of the board of directors in the companies 

from/to which the Company has considerably purchased/sold service or product, within framework of the 

agreements concluded including notably the Company's audit (including tax audit, legal audit, internal audit), 

rating and consultancy, for the period during which such service or product purchase or sales transactions have 

been performed; 
 

• That I have the professional education, knowledge and experience to duly fulfill the duties I will assume due to 

being independent member of the Board of Directors; 
 

• That I will not work for fulltime in public organizations and institutions, except for being faculty member in 

university and provided that it is consistent with the legislation, after being elected as member; 
 

• That I am considered resident in Turkey pursuant to the Income Tax Law; 
 

• That I have strong ethical standards, professional reputation and experience to make positive contributions to 

activities of the Company, to maintain my impartiality in the conflicts of interest between the Company and the 

shareholders, and to make decisions independently by considering the rights of the stakeholders; 
 

• That I will allow time to the works of the Company to such extent that I can follow up functioning of the 

Company's activities and completely fulfill the requirements of the duties I assume; 
 

• That I have not served as member of the Board of Directors for more than six years within the last ten years in 

the Board of Directors of the Company; 
 

• That I do not take office as independent member of the board of directors in the Company and in more than three 

of the companies controlled by the partners having management control on the Company and, in total, in more 

than five of the companies being traded in the stock market; 
 

• And that I have not been registered and announced on behalf of the legal person elected as the member of the 

board of directors. 

 

 

Akın Dinçsoy - 18
th

 March 2016 
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STATEMENT OF INDEPENDENCE 

 
I hereby declare that within framework of the legislation, the articles of association and the criteria specified in the 

Corporate Governance Communique of the Capital Markets Board, I am candidate for taking office as "independent 

member" in EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar San. ve Tic. A.Ş. (Company), and within this scope; 

 
• That there has been no employment relation at manager level to undertake significant roles and responsibilities, 

that more than 5% of capital or voting rights or privileged shares has not been collectively or individually 

acquired or that no material commercial relationship has been established during the last five years between the 

Company, partnerships in which the Company has management control or material affect, partners having 

management control on the Company or having material affect on the Company, legal persons in which such 

partners have management control, and me, my spouse and my second degree relatives by blood and marriage; 
 

• That during the last five years, I have not taken office as partner (5% and above), employee in capacity of 

manager to undertake significant roles and responsibilities or member of the board of directors in the companies 

from/to which the Company has considerably purchased/sold service or product, within framework of the 

agreements concluded including notably the Company's audit (including tax audit, legal audit, internal audit), 

rating and consultancy, for the period during which such service or product purchase or sales transactions have 

been performed; 
 

• That I have the professional education, knowledge and experience to duly fulfill the duties I will assume due to 

being independent member of the Board of Directors; 
 

• That I will not work for fulltime in public organizations and institutions, except for being faculty member in 

university and provided that it is consistent with the legislation, after being elected as member; 
 

• That I am considered resident in Turkey pursuant to the Income Tax Law; 
 

• That I have strong ethical standards, professional reputation and experience to make positive contributions to 

activities of the Company, to maintain my impartiality in the conflicts of interest between the Company and the 

shareholders, and to make decisions independently by considering the rights of the stakeholders; 
 

• That I will allow time to the works of the Company to such extent that I can follow up functioning of the 

Company's activities and completely fulfill the requirements of the duties I assume; 
 

• That I have not served as member of the Board of Directors for more than six years within the last ten years in 

the Board of Directors of the Company; 
 

• That I do not take office as independent member of the board of directors in the Company and in more than three 

of the companies controlled by the partners having management control on the Company and, in total, in more 

than five of the companies being traded in the stock market; 
 

• And that I have not been registered and announced on behalf of the legal person elected as the member of the 

board of directors. 

 

 

Şenol Süleyman Alanyurt - 18
th

 March 2016 
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Upon the decision of the General Assembly dated 26
th

 April 2016, our members of the Board of Directors were 

entitled to make transactions in accordance with the articles 395 and 396 of the Turkish Commercial Code. 

Members of the Board of Directors can take charge in the subsidiaries of Eczacıbaşı Group and as a principle, can 

not take office outside the Group.  

 

It is considered that having diversity in terms of knowledge, experience and point of view in our Board of Directors 

will make positive contribution to the Company's activities and to the effective working of the Board of Directors. 

Our assessment studies are ongoing to determine a target rate for woman members of the board of directors being an 

intermediary to ensure that different opinions are represented in the Board of Directors. Currently, Ayşe Deniz 

Özger is the woman member of the Board of Directors in accordance with the Corporate Governance Principles. 

 

5.2 Principles of Activity of the Board of Directors 

 

As specified in the Articles of Association of our Company, the Board of Directors holds meetings as is necessitated 

by the Company affairs. Agenda of meetings of the Board of Directors is determined upon notification of issues, 

explicitly ordered in our Company's Articles of Association to be submitted to decision of the Board of Directors, by 

relevant departments to the Company's senior management and to the members of the Board of Directors. In 2016, 

our Board of Directors held 25 meetings in total. The meetings were mostly held with participation of all members. 

Meetings are held in the Company's headquarters and invitation to meetings is made by telephone and/or e-mail. 

Decisions of the Board of Directors that are of significance are disclosed to public through PDP, and are published 

in Turkish and English on the website. 

 

Each member of the Board of Directors has one voting right. No prevailing voting right and veto right has been 

granted to members of the Board of Directors. The resolutions taken in the Board of Directors meetings were 

unanimously taken, and there was no member of the Board opposing to the resolutions taken. As no such opposition 

or view was declared at the meetings of the Board of Directors held in 2016, no public disclosure was made in this 

regard. 

 

At the meetings of the Board of Directors, the issues on the agenda are discussed openly and in all respects. The 

Chairman of the Board of Directors uses his best efforts to guarantee active participation of non-executive members 

in the meetings of the Board of Directors.  

 

Our Company offers "executive liability insurance" to members of the board of directors and senior executives. 

 

5.3 Number, Structure and Independence of Committees Established Under the Board of Directors 

 

In our organization, there are committees to enable the Board of Directors to properly fulfill its duties and 

responsibilities and the committees conduct their activities within framework of the determined working principles. 

The members taking office in several committees ensure communication between the committees working for 

related issues and increase the opportunities for cooperation.  

 

The fields of duty and the working principles of the committees as well as the members for form such committees 

are determined by the Board of Directors and announced to public on the website of the Company. 

 

All the members of the Audit Committee and the presidents of the other committees are elected among the 

independent members of the Board of Directors. General Manager can not take charge in committees. Considering 

the structure of our Company's board of directors, some members of the Board had to take office in several 

committees within the scope of the compulsion to establish three different committees pursuant to the Capital 

Market legislation. However, this does not cause any conflict of interest. 

 

The Board of Directors provides the committees with any resource and support required for the fulfillment of their 

duties. The committees can invite any manager they deem required to their meetings and receive opinion of such 

manager. The committees make use of independent expert views on issues which they deem necessary in relation to 

their activities, and fees for consultancy services are borne by the Company. 
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Audit Committee 

 

Established upon the decision made during the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 6
th

 May 2003, the Audit 

Committee fulfills the duties stipulated in the Capital Market Legislation and the Corporate Governance Principles. 

All the members of the Audit Committee are independent members of the Board of Directors. During the meeting of 

our Board of Directors held on 27
th

 April 2016, it was decided to form the committee by 2 members and to appoint 

Şenol S. Alanyurt as President and Akın Dinçsoy as member. The working principles of the Committee are 

announced on the website of the Company and the Committee holds regular meetings four times a year. Moreover, it 

submits in written its opinion related to election of independent auditor and its opinion built regarding accuracy, 

authenticity and compliance of annual and interim financial statements, to be disclosed to public, with the 

accounting principles followed by the partnership also by considering the assessments of the responsible managers 

of the partnership and of the independent auditors. The Audit Committee held 9 meetings related to the activities of 

2016. 

 

Corporate Governance Committee 

 

It was established upon the decision of the Board of Directors dated 31
st
 May 2012 in order to monitor the 

Company’s compliance with the corporate governance principles, to perform improvement studies in this regard and 

to make suggestions to the Board of Directors. During the meeting of our Board of Directors dated 27
th

 April 2016, 

it was decided to form the Corporate Governance Committee by three members and to appoint Akın Dinçsoy, the 

independent member of the Board of Directors, as President and Mustafa Sacit Basmacı and Gülnur Günbey Kartal 

(Investor Relations Department Manager) as members. As individual Nomination Committee and Remuneration 

Committee were not established due to the structure of the Board of Directors, it was decided upon the same 

decision that the Corporate Governance Committee would fulfill also the duties of these committees. 

 

The Corporate Governance Committee determines whether the corporate governance principles are applied in the 

Company, if not, the reason for that and the conflicts of interest arising from not fully observing these principles, 

and makes suggestions to the Board of Directors for improving the practices and oversees the activities of the 

Investor Relations Department. 

 

The working principles of the Committee are announced on the website of the Company. The Corporate Governance 

Committee held 5 meetings related to the activities of 2016. 

 

Early Risk Detection Committee 

 

In accordance with the Communique, with series IV number 63, of CMB entered into force after its publication on 

the Official Gazette number 28567 dated 22
nd

 February 2013; during its meeting held on 17
th

 May 2013, our Board 

of Directors removed the risk issue, included within the duties and responsibilities of the Corporate Governance 

Committee, from the duties and responsibilities of this committee and decided to establish the "Early Risk Detection 

Committee" to work in this regard. During the meeting of our Board of Directors held on 27
th

 April 2016, it was 

decided to form the committee by 2 members and to appoint Akın Dinçsoy as President and Ayşe Deniz Özger as 

member. The working principles of the Committee are announced on the website of the Company. 

 

The Early Risk Detection Committee makes suggestions recommendations to the Board of Directors for the issues 

related to the early determination and assessment of any strategic, operational, financial, legal and any other risks to 

endanger the existence, the development and the continuance of the Company; the calculation of effects and 

possibilities of these risks; the management of these risks in accordance with the corporate risk taking profile of the 

Company; reporting of these risks; implementing the required precautions related to the determined risks; taking 

these precautions into consideration in the decision mechanisms; and creating effective internal control systems 

accordingly and the integration of them, in order to comply both with the regulations of Capital Markets Board on 

Corporate Governance and the article 378 of the Turkish Commercial Code number 6102. The duties and the 

working principles of the Early Risk Detection Committee have been determined within framework of the Capital 

Market Legislation, the Company's Articles of Association, the Turkish Commercial Code and the regulations, 

provisions and principles included in the "Corporate Governance Principles" of the Capital Markets Board. The 

Article 378 of the Turkish Commercial Code stipulates that, with its bimonthly report to be submitted, the 

Committee will assess the relevant period regarding the risks that may affect the existence and the continuation of 

the Company, will refer hazards, if any, and will show solutions. Within this framework, the Early Risk Detection 

Committee held 7 meetings related to the activities of 2016. 
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5.4 Risk Management and Internal Control Mechanism 

 

In Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar, risk management is dealt with an integral perspective. The strategic, 

operational, financial and all of the other issues considered posing risk for the achievement by the Company of its 

short and long-term objectives are assessed at each level of the organization starting from the Board of Directors. 

 

As risk management cannot be considered separated from the management of business processes, the applications 

related to risk management are realized within the Company as much as possible and are not left to external sources 

and advisors. Accordingly, one of the important tasks of the process owners is to manage relevant risks. 

 

The Board of Directors creates internal control systems to include risk management, information systems and 

processes that are able to minimize risks that may affect the Company's stakeholders, including, notably the 

shareholders, by also considering the views of the relevant committees of the Board of Directors. 

 

The primary risks incurred by our organization are monitored under two main titles as financial risks (foreign 

exchange, interest, liquidity and credit) and nonfinancial risks (strategic and operational), and the Board of Directors 

is periodically informed about these risks. Detailed information related to risk management is available in relevant 

section of the activity report. 

 

5.5 Strategic Targets of the Company 

 

The Board of Directors manages and represents the Company through strategic decisions by observing, in the first 

place, long-term interests of the Company, using a reasonable and cautious risk management approach that keeps the 

Company’s risk, growth and yield balance at the right level.  

 

The Board of Directors defines the strategic targets of the Company, determines the needed human and financial 

resources, and audits the performance of the management. 

 

The Board of Directors observes that the Company's activities are in compliance with the legislation, the articles of 

association, internal regulations and the adopted policies. During the Board of Directors and Senior Management 

meetings held periodically, the Company's objectives and its activities realized are monitored so as to include the 

performances of the previous periods. The current situation of the Company is reviewed and new targets and 

strategies are developed where deemed necessary as a result of existing conditions. 

 

5.6 Financial Benefits 

 

 Our Company's "Compensation Policy for the Board of Directors and Senior Executives", including any rights and 

benefits provided to the members of the Board of Directors and Senior Executives as well as the criteria to 

determine these and the compensation principles, was submitted for review of our partners on our website through 

the "Information Document" published three weeks before the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting dated 26
th

 April 

2016. 

 

According to the Articles of Association of our Company, the rights to be provided to the members of the Board of 

Directors are determined at the General Assembly. The Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors may 

be provided with fee appropriate to their positions as a result of their service and provided that they are also 

employees. Regarding the compensation for the independent members of the Board of Directors, there is not any 

compensation system based on stock options or Company's performance. The independent members of the Board of 

Directors are paid with the fee determined in accordance with the decisions of the General Assembly.  

 

There is no transaction to cause conflict of interest such as lending to the members of the Board of Directors or to 

senior executives, making loan available to them, making loan available to them by means of personal loan through 

a third person or giving security on their behalf. 

 

The Company collectively discloses to public the total benefits provided to the senior executives in the marginal 

notes of its financial statements in parallel with the general applications. 
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(CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION OF 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH) 

 

 

To the Board of Directors of  

EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 

İstanbul 

 

 

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together will be referred as the 

“Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, consolidated statement 

of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 

The Group Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

The Group Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with Turkish Accounting Standards (“TAS”) and for such internal control as management 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with standards on auditing issued by Capital Markets Board and Independent Auditing 

Standards which is a part of Turkish Auditing Standards published by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing 

Standards Authority (“POA”). Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 

misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 

assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Group’s preparation and fair presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but for 

the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 

Group Management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion. 

 

http://www.deloitte.com.tr/
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31 December 31 December 

  Notes 2016 2015 

ASSETS 

       Current assets 

   Cash and cash equivalents 7 661,541 699,023 

Financial investments    

   - Restricted bank balances 8 2,754 1,277 

   - Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 8 1,082 788 

Trade receivables    

   - Trade receivables due from related parties 10 26,374 4,713 

   - Trade receivables due from third parties 11 313,720 214,391 

Other receivables    

 - Other receivables due from related parties  1,480 - 

 - Other receivables due from third parties 12 558 307 

Derivative financial instruments 32 6,512 - 

Inventories 13 128,248 133,900 

Prepaid expenses 14 5,309 5,597 

Current income tax assets 15 327 6,050 

Other current assets 22 15,647 24,296 

  

  

Total current assets   1,163,552 1,090,342 

Non-current assets 

 

  

Trade receivables 

 

  

 - Trade receivables due from third parties 11 7 162 

Other receivables    

 - Other receivables due from related parties  422 - 

 - Other receivables due from third parties 12 14 45 

Financial investments    

   - Restricted bank balances 8 - 2,533 

   - Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 8 2,396 2,238 

   - Financial investments available for sale 8 2,157,822 1,677,886 

Investments accounted for using equity method 5 83,693 86,348 

Investment properties 16 363,017 295,971 

Property, plant and equipment 17 122,388 102,181 

Intangible assets    

   - Goodwill 19 24,117 24,117 

   - Other intangible assets 18 35,066 33,348 

Prepaid expenses 14 2,635 11,855 

Deferred tax assets 30 23,727 19,704 

Other non-current assets 22 13,847 23,100 

  

  

Total non-current assets   2,829,151 2,279,488   

  

  

Total assets   3,992,703 3,369,830 
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  Notes 

 

31 December   

2016 

31 December 

2015 

    LIABILITIES 

       Current liabilities 

       Short term borrowings    

- Short term borrowings due to related parties 10 121,726 109,125 

- Short term borrowings due to third parties 9 86,086 80,837 

Trade payables    

- Trade payables due to related parties 10 145,112 117,422 

- Trade payables due to third parties 11 203,531 135,725 

Employee benefit obligations 21 4,167 2,801 

Other payables    

- Other payables due to third parties 12 9,623 13,872 

Deferred income 14 700 2,884 

Current income tax liabilities 30 18,162 - 

Short term provisions    

- Short term provisions for employee benefits 21 5,928 5,042 

- Other short term provisions 20 3,578 3,199 

Other current liabilities 22 3,538 5,019 

  

  

Total current liabilities 

 
602,151 475,926 

  

  

Non-current liabilities 

 

  

  

  

Long term borrowings    

- Long term borrowings due to related parties 10 - 33,504 

- Long term borrowings due to third parties 9 32,081 29,576 

Other payables    

- Other payables due to related parties  526 - 

Deferred income 14 637 923 

Long term provisions    

 - Long term provisions for employee benefits 21 7,774 7,533 

Deferred tax liabilities 30 105,044 79,775 

Other non-current liabilities 22 - 2,533 

  

  

Total non-current liabilities 
 

146,062 153,844 
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  Notes 31 December  2016 31 December 2015 

    EQUITY 

     

  

Attributable to equity holders of the Company  3,250,755 2,736,132 

    

Share capital 23 685,260 548,208 

Adjustments to share capital 23 105,777 105,777 

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    

- Defined benefit plans re-measurement gains/losses 5 (4,228) (4,646) 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently  to profit or loss    

  - Foreign currency translation differences  10,010 10,010 

  - Gains / losses on available for sale financial assets due to 

revaluation or/and reclassification  1,912,833 1,456,903 

Restricted reserves 23 277,913 312,763 

Retained earnings  78,387 239,470 

Net income for the period  184,803 67,647 

Non-controlling interests  (6,265) 3,928 

  
  

Total equity   3,244,490 2,740,060 

  

  

Total liabilities and equity   3,992,703 3,369,830 

 

The consolidated financial statements for 1 January - 31 December 2016 fiscal year were approved for issue by the 

Board of Directors on 13 March 2017 and signed on its behalf by Bülent Avcı, Financial Director and by, Gülnur 

Günbey Kartal, CMB Relations and Reporting Manager. The consolidated financial statements are subject to approval 

of the General Assembly. 
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  1 January- 1 January- 

  Notes 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

    PROFIT OR LOSS    

    

Revenue 24 1,412,645 1,170,563 

Cost of sales (-) 24 (1,056,190) (907,688) 

  

 

 

Gross profit 

 
356,455 262,875 

  

 

 General administrative expenses (-) 25 (98,370) (95,855) 

Marketing expenses (-) 25 (205,091) (157,567) 

Research and development expenses (-) 25 (1,850) (1,361) 

Other operating income 27 199,450 195,047 

Other operating expenses (-) 27 (95,686) (79,360) 

  
 

 
Operating profit  

 
154,908 123,779 

 

 

 

 Income from investing activities 28 64,247 8,466 

Expenses from investing activities (-) 28 (841) (4,134) 

Share of loss of investments accounted for using  

equity method (-) 5 (5,605) (29,028) 
 

 

 

 
Operating income/ (loss) before finance expense 

 
212,709 99,083 

 

 

 

 Financial income 29 9,869 - 

Financial expenses (-) 29 (25,390) (25,430) 
 

 

 

 

Profit before tax 

 
197,188 73,653 

    

Tax expense from continuing  operations  (29,631) (18,674) 

Income tax expense (-) 30 (32,392) (26,852) 

Deferred tax income 30 2,761 8,178 
    

Profit for the period  167,557 54,979 

    

Attributable to    

 -  Non-controlling interests  (17,246) (12,668) 

 -  Equity holders of the parent 31 184,803 67,647    
    

Net profit / (loss) for the period  167,557 54,979 

    

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  

with face value of KR 1 each 31 67,546,552,900 60,754,300,000 
    

Basic and diluted earnings / (loss) per share  31 0.2736 0.1113 
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1 January - 1 January - 

  Notes 

31 December 

2016 

31 December 

2015  

   

 

Profit / (loss) for the period 

 

167,557 54,979 

  
  

Other comprehensive income / (expenses) 

 
  

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    

 - Gain / loss on remeasurement of defined benefit plans 21 - (2,966) 

 - Gain / (loss) on remeasurement of defined benefit plans of 

investments accounted for using equity method  5 418 (351) 

 - Tax relating to items that will not be reclassified subsequently  30 - 592 
    

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    

 -  Currency translation differences  - (1,100) 

 -  Gains / losses on available for sale financial assets due to  

     revaluation or / and reclassification 8 480,127 (39,819) 

 -  Group’s share in equity method accounted investments’  

     comprehensive income 5 (205) 2,301 

- Tax relating to items that may be reclassified subsequently  30 (24,007) 1,992 

  
  

Other comprehensive (expenses) / income (after tax)   456,333 (39,351) 

  
  

Total comprehensive income / (expense)   623,890 15,628   

  
  

Total comprehensive income / (loss) attributable to: 

 
  

 -  Non-controlling interest 

 

(17,261) (13,276) 

 -  Equity holders of the parent 

 

641,151 28,904    

  
  

Total comprehensive income / (loss)   623,890 15,628 
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Items that will 

not be 

reclassified 

subsequently to 

profit or loss 

 

Items that may be 

reclassified 

subsequently to profit or 

loss  Retained Earnings    

   

Defined   Financial   

 
Attributable to  

  

  

Adjustment benefit plans  Cumulative assets’   Net (loss)/  equity holders Non- 

 

 

Share to share re-measurement  translation fair value Restricted Retained profit for of the  controlling Total 

 

Capital capital gains / losses  differences reserve reserves earnings the period Company interest Equity 

   

   

       As of 1 January 2016 548,208 105,777 (4,646)  10,010 1,456,903 312,763 239,470 67,647 2,736,132 3,928 2,740,060 

 

            

Transfers 137,052 - -    (34,850) (34,555) (67,647) - - - 

Dividends paid - - -  - - - (219,283) - (219,283) - (219,283) 

Other (Effect of transactions with 

equity holders acting in their 

capacity as equity holders) - - -  - - - 92,755 - 92,755 7,068 99,823 

Total comprehensive income / (loss) - - 418  - 455,930 - - 184,803 641,151 (17,261) 623,890 

 

            

31 December 2016 685,260 105,777 (4,228)  10,010 1,912,833 277,913 78,387 184,803 3,250,755 (6,265) 3,244,490 

 

            

As of 1 January 2015 548,208 105,777 (2,534)  9,566 1,495,231 308,538 322,348 (43,293) 2,743,841 17,204 2,761,045 

Transfers - - -  - - 4,225 (47,518) 43,293 - - - 

Dividends paid - - -  - - - (43,857) - (43,857) - (43,857) 

Other (Sales effect of the entity under 

common control) - - -  (1,253) - - 8,497 - 7,244 - 7,244 

Total comprehensive income / (loss) - - (2,112)  1,697 (38,328) - - 67,647 28,904 (13,276) 15,628 

 

            

31 December 2015 548,208 105,777 (4,646)  10,010 1,456,903 312,763 239,470 67,647 2,736,132 3,928 2,740,060 
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1 January - 1 January - 

  Notes 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   

 

A. Cash flows from operating activities 

  

 

    

Income / (loss) for the period 

 
167,557    54,979    

Adjustments for reconciliation of profit / loss for the period: 

 

  

Adjustments for depreciation and amortisation 25 21,261    17,812    

Adjustments for goodwill impairment 19 - 4,042 

Adjustments for provisions related with employee benefits 26 3,009    3,338    

Adjustments for (reversal of) lawsuit and/or penalty provisions 27 468    979    

Adjustments for impairments of receivables 11 266    531    

Adjustments for impairment of inventories 13 4,143    (850)    

Adjustments for losses (gains) on disposal of non-current assets 28 (2,602)    (45)    

Adjustments for share of profit of investments accounted for 

using the equity method 5 2,727    29,028    

Adjustments for interest income 27 (39,469)    31,888    

Adjustments for interest expense 27, 29 32,407    (30,775)    

Adjustments for tax expense / (income) 30 29,631    18,674    

Adjustments for fair value losses (gains) of derivative  

financial instruments  29 (9,783)    - 

Adjustments for dividend (income) expenses 28 (59,705)    (8,310)    

Adjustments for unrecognized foreign exchange differences  (10,340)    (88,482)    

Other adjustments for non-cash items  

(Expense / income accruals) 11 4,308    (355)    

Other adjustments for other investing or financing transactions 

(Gain on sale of financial assets)  (1,082)    19    
    

  142,796       32,473    
    

Changes in working capital: 

 

  

Adjustments for increase / decrease in trade receivables 

 

(118,129)    (4,962)    

Adjustments for increase / decrease in inventories 

 

(7,621)    4,913    

Adjustments for increase / decrease in trade payables 

 

88,134    27,517    

Adjustments for increase / decrease in other operating receivables 15,780    (366) (366)    

Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses  8,375    - 

Adjustments for increase / decrease in other operating payables   (91,236)    (6,290)    

Increase (decrease) in deferred income  (2,470)    - 
    

  35,629       53,285    

  

  

Cash flows from operating activities: 

 

  

Interest received 

 

39,049    32,514    

Taxes returns( payments) 21 (8,507)    (34,821)    

Payments related with provisions for employee benefits  (1,882)    (1,561) 

Other cash inflows / (outflows)   (9,827) (10,766) 

  

  

  
54,462       38,651    
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1 January - 1 January - 

  Notes 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   

 

B. Cash flows from investing activities 

  

 

    

Cash outflows for the acquisition of tangible and  

intangible assets 17, 18 (36,520)    (129,167)    

Cash inflows from the sale of tangible and intangible assets  17, 18, 28 6,431    4,842    

Cash inflows from the sale of investment properties 16 1,201    - 

Cash outflows for the acquisition of investment properties 16 (68,479)    - 

Cash outflows for the capital advance payments to joint 

ventures and associates 5 (45,775)    (2,539)    

Dividends received 10, 28 105,621       9,199    

Other cash inflows  

(Cash inflows from sales of financial assets)  1,273    167    

Other cash outflows  

(Sales effect of the entity under common control)  - (465) 
    

   (36,248)    (117,963)    

    

C. Cash flows from financing activities    

    

Cash inflows / outflows from bank borrowings 

 

(11,280)    106,203    

Cash flows from derivative financial instruments  3,271    - 

Dividends paid  (219,283)    (43,857)    

Interest paid 

 

(22,498)    (22,190) 

Other cash inflows (Effect of transactions with equity 

holders acting in their capacity as equity holders)  99,823    - 

  

  

 

  (149,967)    40,156    

    

Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents 

before the impact of foreign currency translation 

differences (A+B+C) 

 
(131,753)    (39,156)    

    

D. Impact of foreign currency translation differences 

on cash and cash equivalents  93,851    90,199    
    

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C+D)   (37,902)    51,043    

  

  

E. Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  

of the period 7 698,404    647,361    

  

  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 

(A+B+C+D+E) 7 660,502    698,404    
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NOTE 1 - ORGANISATION AND NATURE OF THE GROUP 
 

EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“the Company”) was established on 24 October 

1951. The Company has no production activity; but has a holding structure with its subsidiaries, joint ventures and 

associates. The Company directly operates in the real estate development industry and in health, personal care, consumer 

goods and cosmetics industries through its joint ventures, subsidiaries and associates. 

 

The Company’s registered address is as follows: 

 

Büyükdere Caddesi, Ali Kaya Sokak No: 5 Levent 34394, İstanbul 

 

The Company is registered with the Capital Markets Board of Turkey (“CMB”) and its shares have been quoted on the 

Borsa İstanbul A.Ş. (“BIST”) (formerly named as İstanbul Menkul Kıymetler Borsası (“İMKB”)) since 1990. As of 31 

December 2016, 20.17% (31 December 2015: 20.92%) of total shares are quoted on the BIST. The ultimate parent 

company of the Group is Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. (“Eczacıbaşı Holding”), which possesses 50.62% (31 December 2015: 

50.62%) shares of the Company (Note 23). 

 

As of 31 December 2016, the personnel number of the Group is 1,160 (31 December 2015: 1,024). 

 

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are referred to as “the Group” in this report. 

The operations of the subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates included in the consolidation are stated below: 

 

Subsidiaries: 

 
The Company’s subsidiaries (the “Subsidiaries”), the nature of businesses of the Subsidiaries and their business 
segments are as follows: 
 

Companies accounted by line by line consolidation: 

 

Subsidiaries Nature of business Segment 

   

EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. (“EİP”)  

Marketing and selling of 

pharmaceuticals Health 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç Ticaret A.Ş. (“EİT”) 

Marketing and selling of 

pharmaceuticals Health 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç (Cyprus) Ltd. (“Eczacıbaşı Cyprus”) (*) 

Marketing and selling of 

pharmaceuticals Health 

Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri  Marketing and selling of 

    Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Eczacıbaşı Girişim”) consumption products Consumption 

Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. Marketing and selling of  

   (“Eczacıbaşı Hijyen”) consumption products Consumption 

Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel Ürün ve Hizmetler Sanayi Marketing and selling of  

   ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel”) consumption products Consumption 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş.    

   (“Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul”) Real estate development Construction 

 

(*) All Subsidiaries of the Company, except for Eczacıbaşı İlaç (Cyprus) Ltd. registered in Northern Cyprus Turkish 

Republic, are registered in Turkey. 
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NOTE 1 - ORGANISATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (Continued) 

 

Joint Ventures 

 

The Company’s joint ventures are listed below. All Joint Ventures are registered in Turkey. The nature of business of 

the Joint Ventures and their respective businesses segments for the purpose of the consolidated financial statements are 

as follows: 

 

Joint Ventures Nature of business Partner Segment 

  

  

Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri  Pharmaceuticals and   

 Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“EBX”) serum production Baxter S.A. Health 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi Production and sales  Uğur Bozluolçay and  

 ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Eczacıbaşı-Monrol”) of radiopharmaceuticals Şükrü Bozluolçay Health 

Eczacıbaşı-Schwarzkopf Kuaför Sale of personal Hans Schwarzkopf  

 Ürünleri Pazarlama A.Ş. (“ESK”) care products Gmbh & Co. KG Consumption 

 

Associates 
 

The associates of the Group (“Associates”) and their respective business segments are as follows: 

 

Associates Nature of business 

  Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. (“Ekom”) Export services 

Vitra Karo Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Vitra Karo”) Production of ceramic tiles 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. (“ESH”) Special care and nursing services 

Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. (“OSGB”) Occupational health and safety services 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“EBAXA”) Marketing and selling of pharmaceuticals 

 

NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

2.1 Basis of Presentation 

 

Statement of compliance 

 

The Company and its subsidiaries operating in Turkey maintains its books of account and prepares its statutory financial 

statements in accordance with accounting principles in the Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”) and tax legislation. 

Subsidiaries of the company which currently operate in foreign countries maintain their books of account and prepare 

their financial statements in accordance with the local tax legislations of the countries where they are operating and they 

maintain their books of account and prepare their financial statements in terms of national currency.  

 

The accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with the CMB’s Communiqué Serial II, No: 14.1, 

“Basis of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” (“the Communiqué”) published in the Official Gazette numbered 

28676 on 13 June 2013. According to the article 5 of the Communiqué, financial statements are prepared in accordance 

with Turkish Accounting Standards/Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TAS/TFRS”) and its addendum and 

interpretations (“IFRIC”) issued by Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority (“POA”). Financial 

statements and notes are prepared in accordance with the new format of CMB released on 7 June 2013. 

 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the financial assets and liabilities 

which are expressed with their fair values. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given 

in exchange for assets. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 

2.1 Basis of Presentation (continued) 

 

Functional currency 

 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 

economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements 

are presented in TL, which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation currency of the Group.  

 
Restatement of the financial statements in Hyperinflationary periods 

 

With the decision taken on 17 March 2005, the CMB announced that, effective from 1 January 2005, for companies 

operating in Turkey and preparing their financial statements in accordance with CMB Financial Reporting Standards, 

the application of inflation accounting is no longer required. Accordingly, TAS 29, “Financial Reporting in 

Hyperinflationary Economies”, issued by the TASB, has not been applied in the financial statements for the accounting 

periods starting 1 January 2005. 

 
Comparative information and restatement of prior period financial statements 

 
Consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared comparatively with the prior period in order to give 

accurate trend analysis regarding financial position and performance. In order to maintain consistency with current year 

consolidated financial statements, comparative information is reclassified and significant changes are disclosed where 

necessary. 

 

2016 TAS Taxonomy, which is prepared in accordance with paragraph 9(b) of Decree Law No .660 to enable users to 

analyse TAS financial statements in Extensible Business Reporting Language “XBRL” format, was approved upon the 

POA’s decision No.30 as at 2 June 2016. 2016 TAS Taxonomy is taken into account in the accompanying financial 

statements. Differences arising from reclassifications of previous years financial statements are detailed below: 

 

The Group has reclassified restricted bank balances of 2015 amounting TL 1,277 thousand from “Other Current Assets” 

to “Financial Investments” in current assets. 

 

The Group has reclassified restricted bank balances of 2015 amounting TL 2,533 thousand from “Other Non-Current 

Assets” to “Financial Investments” in non-current assets. 

 

These reclassifications have no effect on statement of profit or loss. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 

2.1 Basis of Presentation (continued) 
 

Basis of Consolidation 
 

Subsidiaries:  
 

The proportion of voting power held by the parent company, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi 

ve Ticaret A.Ş., its Subsidiaries and Eczacıbaşı Family members and the total proportion of ownership interests at 31 

December are presented below: 
 

Subsidiaries 

Proportion of 

voting power held 

by the Company 

and its 

Subsidiaries (%)  

Proportion of 

voting power 

held by 

Eczacıbaşı 

Family 

members (%)  

Total proportion of 

voting power held 

(%)  

Total proportion of 

ownership interests 

(%) 

 2016  2015  2016  2015  2016  2015  2016  2015 
                

EİP 99.94  99.94  0.02  0.02  99.96  99.96  99.93  99.93 

EİT 99.88  99.88  -  -  99.88  99.88  99.82  99.82 

Eczacıbaşı Cyprus 100.00  100.00  -  -  100.00  100.00  99.96  99.96 

Eczacıbaşı Girişim 48.13  48.13  4.00  4.00  52.13  52.13  48.13  48.13 

Eczacıbaşı Hijyen 100.00  100.00  -  -  100.00  100.00  48.13  48.13 

Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel 100.00  100.00  -  -  100.00  100.00  48.13  48.13 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul 99.49  99.49  0.02  0.02  99.51  99.51  99.49  99.49 
 

Subsidiaries are companies in which EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. has power to 

control the financial and operating policies for the benefit of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve 

Ticaret A.Ş. either through the power to exercise more than 50% of the voting rights relating to shares in the companies as a 

result of shares owned directly and indirectly by itself and/ or by certain Eczacıbaşı Family members and companies whereby 

EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. exercises control over the voting rights of (but does 

not have the economic benefit of) the shares held by them or although not having the power to exercise more than 50% of the 

voting rights, through  the exercise of actual dominant influence over the financial and operating policies. Proportion of 

ownership interest represents the effective shareholding of the Group through the shares held by EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. and indirectly by its Subsidiaries. 
 

Control is achieved when the Company: 
 

 has power over the investee; 

 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 
 

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 

to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 
 

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting 

rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company 

considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are 

sufficient to give it power, including: 
 

 the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other 

vote holders; 

 potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties; 

 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

 any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to 

direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous 

shareholders’ meetings. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 

2.1 Basis of Presentation (continued) 

 

Basis of Consolidation (continued) 

 

Subsidiaries (continued) :  

 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company 

loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are 

included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Company gains 

control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 

 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 

non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 

non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line 

with the Group’s accounting policies. 

 

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the 

Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

 

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries 

 

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries 

are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are 

adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the 

non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity 

and attributed to owners of the Company. 

 

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference 

between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the 

previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. 

All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the 

Group had directly disposed of the r elated assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred 

to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable TAS). The fair value of any investment retained in the 

former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting 

under TAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 

2.1 Basis of Presentation (continued) 

 

Basis of Consolidation (continued) 

 

Investments in associates and joint ventures: 

 

The proportion of voting power held on joint ventures by the parent company, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal 

Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., its Subsidiaries and Eczacıbaşı Family members and the total proportion of 

ownership interests at 31 December are presented below: 

 

Joint Ventures  

Proportion of 

voting power 

held by the 

Company and its 

Subsidiaries (%)  

Proportion of 

voting power 

held by 

Eczacıbaşı 

Family 

members (%)  

Total proportion 

of voting power 

held (%)  

Total proportion 

of ownership 

interests (%) 

  2016  2015  2016  2015  2016  2015  2016  2015 
                 

EBX (*)  50.00  50.00  -  -  50.00  50.00  50.00  50.00 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol (**)  50.00  50.00  -  -  50.00  50.00  50.00  50.00 

ESK  47.00  47.00  -  -  47.00  47.00  47.00  47.00 

 

(*) All of the subsidiaries consolidated in the financial statements of EBX are operating in Turkey and presented 

below:  

 

  

Direct and 

indirect control of 

EBX (%)  

Total proportion 

of ownership 

interests of EBX 

(%) 

  2016  2015  2016  2015 

         

RTS Renal Tedavi Hizmetleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“RTS Renal”)  -  100.00  -  60.00 

Transmed Diyaliz ve Tıbbi Hizmetler Ticaret A.Ş. (“Transmed”)  -  100.00  -  60.00 

Ren-Tıp Özel Sağlık Hizmetleri Ltd. Şti. (“Ren-Tıp”)  -  100.00  -  60.00 

RTS İzmit Renal Tedavi Hizmetleri A.Ş. (“RTS İzmit”)  -  100.00  -  60.00 

RTS Antalya Renal Tedavi Hizmetleri A.Ş. (“RTS Antalya”)  -  100.00  -  60.00 

Onur Diyaliz Hizmetleri A.Ş. (“Onur Diyaliz”)  -  100.00  -  60.00 

Renal Tedavi Sistemleri A.Ş. (in liquidation process) (“Renal”)  -  99.40  -  59.64 

Güneydoğu Özel Sağlık Hizmetleri Ltd. Şti. (“Özel Güneydoğu”)  -  98.35  -  59.00 

Almet Sağlık Hizmetleri Ticaret A.Ş. (“Almet”)  -  80.00  -  48.00 
RTS Beyhekim Renal Tedavi Servisleri A.Ş. (“RTS Beyhekim”)  -  80.00  -  48.00 
Özel Başar Tıp Teşhis ve Tedavi Kliniği Hizmetleri A.Ş. (“Özel Başar”)  -  79.98  -  47.98 

RTS Seyhan Renal Tedavi Hizmetleri A.Ş. (“RTS Seyhan”)  -  73.00  -  43.80 

 



EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 
 

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.) 

 

15 

NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 

2.1 Basis of Presentation (continued) 

 

Basis of Consolidation (continued) 
 

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued): 

 

(**) The subsidiaries consolidated in the financial statements of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol are as follows: 
 

 Country   

Direct and indirect 

control of  

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol 

(%)  

Total proportion 

of ownership 

interests of 

Eczacıbaşı-

Monrol (%) 

   2016  2015  2016  2015 
          

Monrol Poland Ltd. Poland  100.00  100.00  100.00  100.00 

Monrol Europe S.R.L Romania  100.00  100.00  100.00  100.00 

Moleküler Görüntüleme A.Ş. Turkey  -  100.00  -  100.00 

Monrol Egypt Ltd. Egypt  100.00  100.00  100.00  100.00 

Radiopharma Egypt SAE Egypt  75.00  75.00  75.00  75.00 

Monrol Bulgaria Ltd. Bulgaria  100.00  100.00  100.00  100.00 

Eczacıbaşı Monrol Jordan Jordan  100.00  100.00  100.00  100.00 

Capintec Inc. USA  100.00  100.00  100.00  100.00 

Monrol Mena Ltd. Dubai  100.00  100.00  100.00  100.00 

HSM Consulting Ltd. Dubai  100.00  100.00  100.00  100.00 

Monrol Gulf DMCC Dubai  80.00  80.00  80.00  80.00 
 

The proportion of voting power held by the parent company, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi 

ve Ticaret A.Ş., its Subsidiaries and Eczacıbaşı family members and the total proportion of ownership interests in 

Associates accounted for using the equity method at 31 December are presented below: 

 

Associates  

Proportion of 

voting power 

held by the 

Company and its 

Subsidiaries (%)  

Proportion of 

voting power 

held by 

Eczacıbaşı 

Family 

members (%)  

Total proportion 

of voting power 

held (%)  

Total proportion 

of ownership 

interests (%) 

  2016  2015  2016  2015  2016  2015  2016  2015 
                 

ESH  48.35  48.35  -  -  48.35  48.35  48.35  48.35 

Ekom  26.36  26.36  1.72  1.72  28.08  28.08  26.36  26.36 

OSGB  48.35  48.35  -  -  48.35  48.35  48.35  48.35 

Vitra Karo (*)  25.00  25.00  0.92  0.92  25.92  25.92  25.00  25.00 

EBAXA  40.00  40.00  -  -  40.00  40.00  40.00  40.00 
 

(*) The subsidiaries consolidated in the financial statements of Vitra Karo are as follows: 
 

  Country 

 Direct or indirect control of  

Vitra Karo (%) 

    2016  2015 
       

Engers Keramik Gmbh & Co. KG  Germany  100.00  100.00 

Engers Keramik Verwaltungs GmbH  Germany  100.00  100.00 

Vitra Tiles Llc.  Russia  100.00  100.00 

Vitra Ireland Ltd.  Ireland  95.98  95.98 

Villeroy & Boch Fliesen GmbH  Germany  97.71  97.71 

ZAO Vitra Bath and Tiles JSC  Russia  50.00  50.00 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 

2.1 Basis of Presentation (continued) 

 

Basis of Consolidation (continued) 

 

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued): 

 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in 

the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies. 

 

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net 

assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists 

only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 

 

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial 

statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held for 

sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with TFRS 5. Under the equity method, an investment in associate or a 

joint venture is initially recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to 

recognize the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or a joint venture. When 

the Group's share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or a joint venture 

(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate or a 

joint venture), the Group discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized only to the 

extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or a joint 

venture. 

 

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the 

investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, any 

excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 

the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the 

Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after 

reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired. 

 

The requirements of TAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognize any impairment loss with 

respect to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the 

investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with TAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its 

recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss 

recognized forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognized in 

accordance with TAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases. 

 

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint 

venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate or 

joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date 

and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with TAS 39. The difference between the 

carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any 

retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the 

determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all 

amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same 

basis as would be required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 

Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by  that associate or joint venture would 

be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from 

equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued. 

 

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the 

transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the 

extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 

2.2  Changes in accounting policies 

 

Significant changes in accounting policies are applied retrospectively and prior period consolidated financial statements 

are restated.  

 

2.3  Changes in the accounting estimates and errors 

 

If changes in estimates are for only one period, changes are applied to the current year but if changes in estimates are 

for the following periods, changes are applied both to the current and following years prospectively. The Group did not 

have any major changes in the accounting estimates during the current year. 

  

Significant accounting errors are corrected retrospectively, by restating the prior period consolidated financial 

statements. 

 

2.4 New and Revised Turkish Accounting Standards 

 

a) Amendments to TASs affecting presentation and disclosures only 

 

None. 

 

b) New and Revised TFRSs effective since the year 2016 with no material effect on financial statements with 

amendments and interpretations on current TFRSs 

 

Amendments to TAS 16 and TAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 

Amortisation 
1
 

Amendments to TAS 16 and TAS 41 and 

amendments to TAS 1, TAS 17, TAS 23, 

TAS 36 and TAS 40 

Agriculture: Bearer Plants 
1
  

Amendments to TFRS 11 and TFRS 1  Accounting for Acquisition of Interests in Joint operations 
1
  

Annual Improvements to 2011-2013 Cycle  

TFRS 1 
2
  

Amendments to TAS 1  Disclosure Initiative 
2
 

Annual Improvements to 2012-2014 Cycle  

TFRS 5, TFRS 7, TAS 34, TAS 19 
2
 

Amendments to TAS 27  Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 
2
 

Amendments to TFRS 10 and TAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 

Associate or Joint Venture 
2
 

Amendments to TFRS 10, TFRS 12 and 

TAS 28 

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception 
2
 

TFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 
2
 

 
1
 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 31 December 2015. 

2
 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 

 

Amendments to TAS 16 and TAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation 

 

This amendment clarifies that that a depreciation method that is based on revenue that is generated by an activity that 

includes the use of an asset is not appropriate for property, plant and equipment, and introduces a rebuttable 

presumption that an amortisation method that is based on the revenue generated by an activity that includes the use of 

an intangible asset is inappropriate, which can only be overcome in limited circumstances where the intangible asset is 

expressed as a measure of revenue, or when it can be demonstrated that revenue and the consumption of the economic 

benefits of the intangible asset are highly correlated. The amendment also adds guidance that expected future reductions 

in the selling price of an item that was produced using an asset could indicate the expectation of technological or 

commercial obsolescence of the asset, which, in turn, might reflect a reduction of the future economic benefits 

embodied in the asset. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 

2.4 New and Revised Turkish Accounting Standards 

 

b) New and Revised TFRSs effective since the year 2016 with no material effect on financial statements with 

amendments and interpretations on current TFRSs 

 

Amendments to TAS 16 and TAS 41 and Amendments to TAS 1, TAS 17, TAS 23, TAS 36 and TAS 40 

Agriculture: Bearer Plants 

 

This amendment include ‘bearer plants’ within the scope of TAS 16 rather than TAS 41, allowing such assets to be 

accounted for a property, plant and equipment and measured after initial recognition on a cost or revaluation basis in 

accordance with TAS 16. The amendment also introduces a definition of ‘bearer plants’ as a living plant that is used in 

the production or supply of agricultural produce, is expected to bear produce for more than one period and has a remote 

likelihood of being sold as agricultural produce, except for incidental scrap sales, and clarifies that produce growing on 

bearer plants remains within the scope of TAS 41. 

 

Amendments to TAS 16 and TAS 41 also led to amendments in related provisions of TAS 1, TAS 17, TAS 23, TAS 36 

and TAS 40, respectively. 

 

Amendments to TFRS 11 and TFRS 1 Accounting for Acquisition of Interests in Joint operations  

 

This amendment requires an acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity constitutes a business to: 

 

 apply all of the business combinations accounting principles in TFRS 3 and other TAS, except for those 

principles that conflict with the guidance in TFRS 11, 

 disclose the information required by TFRS 3 and other TAS for business combinations. 

 

Amendments to TFRS 11 also led to amendments in related provisions of TFRS 1. 

 

Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle 

 

TFRS 1: Clarify which versions of TAS can be used on initial adoption (amends basis for conclusions only). 

 

Amendments to TAS 1 Disclosure Initiative 

 

This amendment addresses perceived impediments to preparers exercising their judgment in presenting their financial 

reports. 

 

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle 

 

TFRS 5: Adds specific guidance in TFRS 5 for cases in which an entity reclassifies an asset from held for sale to held 

for distribution or vice versa and cases in which held-for-distribution accounting is discontinued. 

 

TFRS 7: Additional guidance to clarify whether a servicing contract is continuing involvement in a transferred asset, 

and clarification on offsetting disclosures in condensed interim financial statements. 

 

TAS 34: Clarify the meaning of ‘elsewhere in the interim report’ and require a cross-reference. 

 

Annual Improvements to 2012-2014 Cycle also led to amendments in related provisions of TAS 19. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 

2.4 New and Revised Turkish Accounting Standards 

 

b) New and Revised TFRSs effective since the year 2016 with no material effect on financial statements with 

amendments and interpretations on current TFRSs 

 

Amendments to TAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 

This amendment permits investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates to be optionally accounted for using 

the equity method in separate financial statements. 

 

Amendments to TFRS 10 and TAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 

Venture 

 

This amendment clarifies the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from an investor to its associate or joint 

venture. 

 

Amendments to TFRS 10, TFRS 12 and TAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception 
 

This amendment addresses issues that have arisen in the context of applying the consolidation exception for investment 

entities by clarifying the following points: 

 

 The exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements for an intermediate parent entity is available to 

a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, even if the investment entity measures all of its 

subsidiaries at fair value. 

 A subsidiary that provides services related to the parent’s investment activities should not be consolidated if the 

subsidiary itself is an investment entity. 

 When applying the equity method to an associate or a joint venture, a non-investment entity investor in an 

investment entity may retain the fair value measurement applied by the associate or joint venture to its interests 

in subsidiaries. 

 An investment entity measuring all of its subsidiaries at fair value provides the disclosures relating to investment 

entities required by TFRS 12. 

 

TFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts  

 

TFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts permits an entity, which is a first-time adopter of Turkish Financial Reporting 

Standards to continue to account, with some limited changes, for ‘regulatory deferral account balances’ in accordance 

with its previous GAAP, both on initial adoption of TFRS and in subsequent financial statements. 

 

TFRS 14 also led to amendments in related provisions of TFRS 1. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 

2.4 New and revised Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (continued) 

 

c) New and revised TAS in issue but not yet effective 

The Company has not applied the following new and revised TAS that have been issued but are not yet effective: 

 

TFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
1
 

TFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
1
 

 
1
 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 

 

TFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

 

TFRS 9, issued by Public Oversight Authority (“POA”) in 2010, introduces new requirements for the classification and 

measurement of financial assets. TFRS 9 is amended in 2011 to include requirements for the classification and 

measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition. 

 

Revised version of IFRS 9 is issued by POA in January 2017 mainly to include a) impairment requirements for 

financial assets and b) limited amendments to the classification and measurement requirements by introducing a “fair 

value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) measurement category for certain simple debt instruments. 

  

TFRS 9 is effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Early adoption is permitted unless 

before 1 February 2015.  

 

TFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

 

TFRS 15 provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers. 

 

The five steps in the model are as follows: 

 

 Identify the contract with the customer, 

 Identify the performance obligations in the contract, 

 Determine the transaction price, 

 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts, 

 Recognise revenue when the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 

 

The Group evaluates the effects of these standards, amendments and improvements on the consolidated financial 

statements. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

Where necessary, accounting policies for Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates has been changed to ensure 

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. Except for the consolidation policies mentioned in “Group 

accounting” (Note 2.1), the significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial 

statements are summarized below: 

 
3.1 Cash and cash equivalents and statement of cash flows 

 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, byank deposits and short-term investments, which can easily be 

converted into cash for a known amount, and which have high liquidity and insignificant conversion risk with maturities of 

three months or less (Note 7). Cash flow statements as an integral part of other financial statements are prepared to inform 

financial statement users about changes in group net assets, financial structure and capability to direct the amount and 

timing of cash flows in accordance with changing conditions. 

 

3.2 Trade receivables and provision for doubtful receivables 

 

Trade receivables that are originated by the Group by way of providing goods or services directly to a debtor are carried at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method. Short-term trade receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at 

original invoice amount unless the effect of imputing interest is significant (Note 11). 

 

A credit risk provision for trade receivables is established if there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to 

collect all amounts due. The amount of the provision is the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable 

amount, being the present value of all cash flows, including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, 

discounted based on the original effective interest rate of the originated receivables at inception. 

 

If the amount of the impairment subsequently decreases due to an event occurring after the write-down, the release of the 

provision is credited to other operating income. 

 

3.3 Credit finance income / expenses 

 

Credit finance income / expenses represent imputed finance income/expenses on credit sales and purchases. Such 

income / expenses are recognized as financial income or expenses over the term of credit sale and purchases, and 

included under other operating income and expenses (Note 27). 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

3.4 Related parties 

 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial statements (Note 10). 

 

a) A person or a close member of that person's family is related to a reporting entity if that person: 

 

i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity; 

ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or  

iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting entity. 

 

b) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies: 
 

i) The entity and the company are members of the same group (each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is 

associated with others).  

ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a 

group of which the other entity is a member). 

iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 

iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity. 

v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the reporting entity or an 

entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are 

also related to the reporting entity.  

vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).  

vii) A person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management 

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). 

 

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related parties, regardless of 

whether a price is charged. 

 

3.5 Inventories 

 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of fixed and 

variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventories held by the method most appropriate to the particular class of 

inventory, with the majority being valued on a weighted average out basis. Net realizable value represents the estimated 

selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make a sale. When the net realizable value of 

inventory is less than cost, inventory is written down to net realizable value and expense is included in statement of 

income/(loss) in the period in which the write-down or loss occurred. When circumstances that previously caused 

inventories discounted to net realizable value no longer exist or when there is clear evidence of an increase in net 

realizable value because of the changes in economic circumstances, the amount of the write-down is reversed. The 

reversal amount is limited to the amount of the initial write-down (Note 13). 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
3.6 Financial assets 

 

The Group classifies its financial assets in two groups: 

 

“Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” are financial assets that are acquired or incurred principally for 

the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or, regardless of purpose, are part of a portfolio of identified 

financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term 

profit taking. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at cost, being the fair value of 

the consideration given including directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured at fair value. The 

gains or losses that result from this measurement are recognized in consolidated statement of income (Note 8). 

 
“Financial assets available for sale”, intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in 
response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates are classified as available-for-sale. These financial assets are 
included in non-current assets unless management has the intention of holding the investment for less than 12 months 
from the balance sheet date, or unless they will need to be sold to raise operating capital, in which case they are 
included in current assets. Management determines the appropriate classification of its financial assets at the time of the 
purchase and re-evaluates such designation on a regular basis (Note 8). 
 

All financial assets available for sale are initially recognized at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given 

including acquisition charges associated with the investment. After initial recognition, financial assets that are classified 

as “available-for-sale” are measured at fair value unless fair value cannot be reliably measured. The unrealized gains 

and losses that result from the changes in the fair values of available-for-sale investments are directly recognized in the 

equity and are not released to the consolidated statements of income until they are disposed or sold. 

 

The fair values of quoted investments are calculated based on current market prices. If the financial asset is not traded in 

an active market, the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques include the 

use of recent arm’s length transactions or reference to other instruments that are substantially the same and discounted 

cash flow analysis considering the specific conditions of the company invested in (Note 8). 

 

At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of 

financial assets is impaired. In the case of financial assets classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged 

decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost is considered in assessing whether the investment is impaired. 

If such evidence exists for impairment of available-for-sale financial assets, cumulative net loss, measured as the 

difference between the acquisition cost (net value after principle payments and amortisation) and current fair value (for 

common stocks), less any impairment loss on this financial asset previously recognized in profit or loss, is removed 

from shareholders’ equity and recognized in the statement of income for the period. Impairment losses on financial 

assets classified as available-for-sale are not reversed through the statement of income. 

 

Available-for-sale financial assets, in which the Group has interests below 20% and over which the Group does not 

have significant influence, that do not have quoted market prices in active markets, for which fair value estimates 

cannot be made as the other valuation techniques are not applicable and therefore fair value cannot be reliably 

measured, are carried at cost less any provision for diminution in value. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

3.7 Business combinations and goodwill 

 

The acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration 

transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date 

fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquire 

and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquire. Acquisition-related costs are 

generally recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

 

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value at 

the acquisition date, except that: 

 

i) deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are recognized 

and measured in accordance with TAS 12 Income Taxes and TAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively; 

ii) liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquire or share-based 

payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquire are 

measured in accordance with TFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and 

iii) assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with TFRS 5 Non-current Assets 

Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard. 

 
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 

interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquire (if any) over 

the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after 

reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds 

the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquire and the fair value of 

the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquire (if any), the excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss as a 

bargain purchase gain. 

 

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a 

contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and 

included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent 

consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding 

adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information 

obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and 

circumstances that existed at the acquisition date. 

 

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as 

measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration 

that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for 

within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting 

dates in accordance with TAS 39, or TAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, 

with the corresponding gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss. 

 

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquire is 

remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control) and the resulting gain or 

loss, if any, is recognized in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date 

that have previously been recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such 

treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
3.7 Business Combinations and Goodwill (continued) 

 

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 

combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those 

provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are 

recognized, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if 

known, would have affected the amounts recognized at that date. Business combinations that took place prior to 1 

January 2010 were accounted for in accordance with the previous version of TFRS 3. 

 

In business combinations under common control, assets and liabilities subject to business combination are accounted for 

at carrying value in consolidated financial statements. Statements of income are consolidated starting from the 

beginning of the fiscal year in which the business combination is realized. Financial statements of previous fiscal years 

are reorganized in the same manner in order to maintain consistency and comparability. Any positive or negative 

goodwill arising from such business combination is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. The 

residual balance calculated by netting off investment in subsidiary and the share acquired in subsidiary’s capital is 

directly accounted under equity as “effect of share transfers under common control” under “Retained earnings”. 

 

3.8 Investment properties 

 

Buildings and land held to earn rent or for capital appreciation or both rather than for use in the production or supply of 

goods or services or for administrative purposes or sale in the ordinary course of business are classified as investment 

property (Note 16). Investment properties are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Investment properties (except 

land) are depreciated on a straight-line basis. 

 

In the Kanyon complex, different useful lives are assigned for each part of the complex (includes building, lift, escalator, 
parking lot equipment’s, heat and cooling system and many other property, plant and equipment) and each part of the 
complex is depreciated separately. 
 
The depreciation periods for investment properties, which approximate the useful lives of the Kanyon complex 
concerned, are as follows: 

 

Buildings 50 years 

Machinery, plant and equipment 4 - 15 years 

Furniture and fixtures 4 - 15 years 

 

Investment properties are reviewed for impairment losses and when the carrying amount of the investment property is 

greater than the estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of the 

investment property is the higher of the asset’s net selling price or value in use. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

3.9 Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation 

 

Property, plant and equipment acquired prior to 31 December 2004 are carried at acquisition costs adjusted for inflation; 
whereas those purchased after 2004 are carried at acquisition costs less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is 
provided using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets (Note 17). 
 
The depreciation periods for property, plant and equipment, which approximate the useful lives of assets concerned, are 

as follows: 

 

Land improvements 5 - 50 years 
Buildings 10 - 50 years 
Machinery, plant and equipment 3 - 20 years 
Motor vehicles 4 - 5 years 
Furniture and fixtures 3 - 20 years 
Leasehold improvements 5 - 10 years 
Other tangible assets 2 - 20 years 
 
Land is not depreciated due to having infinite useful life. 

 

Gains or losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amounts 

are included in the related income and expense accounts, as appropriate. 

 

Where the carrying amount of the asset is greater than its recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its 

recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recorded in the income statement. 

 

Expenses for repair and maintenance of property, plant and equipment are normally charged to the statement of income. 

They are, however, capitalised in exceptional cases if they result in an enlargement or substantial improvement of the 

respective assets. 

 

3.10 Intangible assets and amortisation 

 

Intangible assets comprise acquired computer software, intellectual property, capitalised development costs and other 

identifiable rights. These are recorded at their acquisition costs and amortised using the straight-line method over their 

estimated useful lives for a period not exceeding 20 years from the date of acquisition. When the carrying amount of any 

intangible asset is greater than its recoverable amount, it is immediately written down to its recoverable amount (Note 18). 

 

The Group estimated useful lives for intangible assets with definite useful lives such as customer relationships, 

trademarks and licences for 25, 15 and 10 years; respectively. These intangibles are amortised based on the estimates 

regarding the economic benefits that will be provided to the Group in the future periods. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
3.11 Taxes 

 

Tax provision for the period consists of current year tax and deferred tax provisions. Current year tax liability includes tax 

liability calculated over taxable income for the period with the tax rate at the balance sheet date and corrections on tax 

liabilities of previous periods. 

 

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, for all temporary differences arising between the tax base of assets 

and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. Currently enacted tax rates are used to 

determine deferred taxes at the balance sheet date. 

 
The principal temporary differences result from carried forward tax losses, provision for employment termination 
benefits, the differences between the tax base and the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment, investment 
properties, inventories and available-for-sale financial assets, deferred finance income and expenses on credit sales and 
purchases. 

 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, whereas deferred tax assets resulting from 
deductible temporary differences are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised (Note 30). 

 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities, related to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority, are offset 
when there is a legally enforceable right to set-off current tax assets against current tax liabilities 

 
3.12 Financial liabilities 

 

Financial liabilities are recognized initially at proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. In subsequent 

periods, financial liabilities are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any difference between 

proceeds (net of transaction costs) and redemption value is recognized in the consolidated statements of income over the 

period of the financial liabilities (Note 9). 

 

Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has the unconditional right to defer the 
corresponding payment for 12 months since balance sheet date. 

 
3.13 Leases 

 

Finance leases 

 

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group substantially assumes all the risks and rewards of ownership 

are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are included in the property, plant and equipment at the inception of the 

lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments. The 

finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate. The property, 

plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the useful life of the asset. An impairment loss 

is recognized when a decrease in the carrying amount of the leased property is identified. Interest expenses and foreign 

exchange losses related to the finance lease liabilities are accounted in the income statement. Lease payments are 

deducted from finance lease liabilities. 

 
Operational leases 

 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as 

operational leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to 

the statement of income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

 

There is no legal decision regarding the renewals in operational leasing contracts or escalation of buying options. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
3.13 Leases (continued) 

 
Operational leases (continued) 

 

Assets leased out under operational leases are classified under property, plant and equipment in the consolidated 

balance sheet and rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 
3.14 Employment termination benefits 

 

Provision for employment termination benefits is provided as a requirement of Turkish Labour Law to each employee 

who has completed one year of service and retires, whose employment is terminated without due cause, who is called 

up for military service, or who dies; and represents the present value of the estimated total reserve of the future probable 

obligation of the Group (Note 21).  

 
3.15 Foreign currency transactions 

 

Foreign currency transactions during the period have been translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 

transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies have been translated into new Turkish lira at 

the exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet dates. Exchange gains or losses arising from settlement and translation of 

foreign currency items have been included in the consolidated statements of income (Note 27). 

 

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations 

are expressed in TL using exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at 

the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the 

exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and 

transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss in the period in 

which the foreign operation is disposed of. 

 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of 

the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. 

 
3.16 Revenue recognition 

 

Revenue is recognized at the fair value of consideration received or receivable on an accrual basis at the time deliveries are 

made, the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably and it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the 

transaction will flow to the Group (Note 24). Net revenues represent the invoiced value of goods shipped less sales returns, 

discounts and commissions. When the arrangement effectively constitutes a financing transaction, the fair value of the 

consideration is determined by discounting all future receipts using an imputed rate of interest. The difference between the 

fair value and the nominal value of the consideration is recognized as interest income on a time proportion basis that takes 

into account the effective yield on the asset (Note 27). 

 

Rent and royalty income earned by the Group are recognized on an accrual basis. Interest income is recognized using the 

effective interest method. Dividend income is recognized when the right to collect the dividend is established. 

 
3.17 Share capital and dividends 

 

Ordinary shares are classified as capital. Dividends payable on ordinary shares are recognized as an appropriation of the 
profit in the period in which they are declared. 



EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 
 

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.) 

 

29 

NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
3.18 Research and development costs 

 

Costs incurred on development projects relating to the design and testing of new or improved products are recognized 

as intangible assets if the project will be successful considering its commercial and technical feasibility and 

expenditures can reliably be measured. Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognized as 

expense when incurred. Development costs previously recognized as expense are not capitalised as an asset in 

subsequent periods. Capitalised development costs are amortised in line with estimated useful life, starting from the 

production of the product using the straight-line method (Notes 18 and 25). 

 
3.19 Borrowing costs 

 

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset, one that 

takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset 

in the period in which the asset is prepared for its intended use or sale. Borrowing costs that are not in this scope are 

recognized directly in the income statement (Note 29). 

 
3.20 Provisions, contingent assets and liabilities 

 

Provisions are recognized at the present value of the obligation when the Group has a present legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that on outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation, and of the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. 

 

Possible assets or obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence 

or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Company are not included 

in financial statements and treated as contingent assets or liabilities (Note 20). 

 
3.21 Government grants 

 

Investment incentives can only be utilised when the Group’s application for incentives is approved by the related 

authorities. 

 
3.22 Financial instruments 

 

Fair value of the financial instruments 

 

Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing 

parties, other than in a forced sale or liquidation, and is best evidenced by a quoted market price, if one exists. 

 

The estimated fair values of financial instruments have been determined by the Group using available market information 

and appropriate valuation methodologies. However, judgment is necessarily required to interpret market data to estimate 

the fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Group could 

realise in a current market exchange (Notes 3.6 and 8). 

 

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of the financial instruments for which it is 

practicable to estimate fair value:  

 

Fair value estimations, methods and assumptions used for financial assets available for sale measured at cost and financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss are described in detail in Note 8.  
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
3.22 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Fair value of the financial instruments (continued) 

 
Remaining assets and liabilities: 

 
Monetary assets 

 

The fair values of balances denominated in foreign currencies, which are translated at year-end exchange rates, are 

considered to approximate their carrying value.  

 

The fair values of certain financial assets carried at cost, including cash and amounts due from banks, are considered to 

approximate their respective carrying values due to their short-term nature and ignorable collection failure.  

 

The carrying value of trade receivables along with the related allowances for recoverability is estimated to be their fair 

values. 

 
Monetary liabilities 

 

The fair values of short-term bank borrowings and other monetary liabilities are considered to approximate their respective 

carrying values due to their short-term nature. Foreign currency denominated long-term borrowings is measured at 

amortised values discounted with the effective interest rates in the consolidated financial statements. 

 
3.23 Segment reporting 

 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the reporting provided to the chief operating decision 

maker. The chief operating decision maker is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 

operating segments. The category “Undistributed” generally consists of assets like cash and cash equivalents, financial 

investments, which are attributable to the parent and utilizable for all segments, and assets and liabilities of the other 

sectors, which do not meet the required quantitative thresholds to be a reportable segment. 

 

For an operating segment to be identified as a reportable segment, its reported revenue, including both sales to external 

customers and intersegment sales or transfers, is 10% or more of the combined revenue, internal and external, of all 

operating segments; the absolute amount of its reported profit or loss is 10% or more of the combined profit or loss or 

its assets are 10% or more of the combined assets of all operating segments. Operating segments that do not meet any of 

the quantitative thresholds may be considered reportable, and separately disclosed, if the management believes that 

information regarding the segment would be useful to users of the financial statements (Note 6). 

 
3.24 Earnings per share 

 

Earnings per share disclosed in the consolidated statements of income are determined by dividing net profit for the 

period by the weighted average number of shares that have been outstanding during the period. In Turkey, companies 

can increase their share capital by making a pro-rata distribution of shares (“bonus shares”) to existing shareholders 

from retained earnings. For the purpose of earnings per share computations, such bonus shares are regarded as issued 

shares. Accordingly, when calculating the weighted average number of shares to be used in earnings per share 

computations, the retroactive effect of such bonus shares is taken into consideration for comparative purposes (Note 

31). 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
3.25 Events after the balance sheet date 

 

Events after the balance sheet date represent events that have occurred in favour or in opposition of the Group between 

the balance sheet date and the date financial statements were approved. The Group adjusts the consolidated financial 

statements when there is evidence of events existing at or after the balance sheet date that necessitate the adjusting of 

the consolidated financial statements. If events after the balance sheet date do not necessitate the adjusting of the 

consolidated financial statements, the Group explains the events in a corresponding note to the consolidated financial 

statements. 

 
3.26 Derivatives 

 

Derivatives, primarily options and foreign currency forward contracts, are initially recognized at acquisition cost 

including the transaction fees on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at their 

fair value. The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined based on the comparison of the original 

forward rate with the forward rate calculated in reference to the market interest rates of the related currency for the 

remaining period of the contract. All derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities 

when the fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of derivatives at fair value through profit or loss are included 

in the consolidated income statement. 

 
3.27 Impairment of assets 

 

The Group reviews assets, except goodwill, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 

the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset's 

carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount in the consolidated statements of income. The recoverable amount is 

the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are 

grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). Impairment 

losses are recognized in the consolidated income statements (Note 18). 

 

3.28 Changes in accounting policies, accounting estimates and errors 

 

Changes in accounting policies or determined accounting errors are applied retroactively and the financial statements of 

the previous year are adjusted. If changes in estimates are for only one period, changes are applied to the current year 

but if changes in estimates are for the following periods, changes are applied both to the current and following years 

prospectively. 

 

3.29 Management’s estimates 

 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires estimates and assumptions regarding the amounts for the 

assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date, explanations for the contingent assets and liabilities as well as the amounts of 

income and expenses realised in the reporting period. Although these estimates and assumptions are based on the best 

information held by the Group management, actual results may differ from these. 

 

In the next financial reporting period, the predictions and assumptions likely to cause significant adjustments on the 

recorded values on the assets and liabilities are stated below: 

 
a) Impairment assessments on the intangible assets with infinite useful lives and goodwill 

 

In accordance with the accounting policy for the intangible assets which have indefinite useful lives and goodwill, these 

assets are reviewed for impairment at least annually or whenever triggering events or changes in circumstances indicate 

impairment by the Group. The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units are determined using the method of 

value in use. Certain estimates for expected cash flows were used in these calculations. Impairment determined based 

on these calculations is detailed in Note 19. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
3.29 Management’s estimates (continued) 

 
b) Fair values of the available for sale financial assets 

 

The Group estimates the fair values of financial assets which are not traded in an active market by referencing to similar 

undisputed transactions, fair values of similar financial instruments and using discounted cash flow analysis. As a result, 

the estimates used in the analysis, may not be indicative for the value that the Group may obtain in a current market 

transaction and actual values may significantly deviate from those estimates (Notes 3.6 and 8). 

 

c) Non-current Value Added Tax (“VAT”) receivables 

 

Group classifies VAT receivables as non-current assets when recovery of such receivables is estimated to take more than 

one year in the ordinary course of business (Note 22). The total VAT receivables amount to TL 29,402 thousand as of 31 

December 2016 (31 December 2015: TL 47,311 thousand). VAT receivables amounting to TL 13,847 thousand (31 

December 2015: TL 23,100 thousand) have been classified as long-term receivables. 

 
d) Deferred tax 

 
The Group recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities based upon temporary differences arising between its financial 

statements as reported for CMB financial reporting standards purposes and its statutory tax financial statements. The 

subsidiary of the Group have deferred tax assets resulting from operating loss carry-forwards and deductible temporary 

differences, all of which could reduce taxable income in the future. Based on available evidence, both positive and 

negative, it is determined whether it is probable that all or a portion of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The main 

factors which are considered include future earnings potential; cumulative losses in recent years; history of loss carry-

forwards and other tax assets expiring; the carry-forward period associated with the deferred tax assets; future reversals of 

existing taxable temporary differences; tax-planning strategies that would, if necessary, be implemented, and the nature of 

the income that can be used to realize the deferred tax asset. If based on the weight of all available evidence, it is the 

Group’s belief that taxable profit will not be available sufficient to utilize some portion of these deferred tax assets, then 

some portion of or all of the deferred tax assets are not recognized. As of 31 December 2016, total carry forward tax losses 

amounting to TL 22,085 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 69,327 thousand). For the tax loss of EİP, the Group has not 

recognized deferred tax assets because it is not apparent that taxable profit will be available sufficient to recognize deferred 

tax assets. If future results of EİP operations exceed the Group’s current expectations, the existing unrecognized deferred 

tax assets may be recognized, resulting in future tax benefits. 

 
NOTE 4 - BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 

 
None (31 December 2015: None). 
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NOTE 5 - INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD 

 

a) Subsidiaries 

 

Group’s composition: 

 

Composition of the Group is disclosed at Note 1. 

 

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests: 

 

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling interests: 

 

i) The Group owns 48.13% ownership interest in Eczacıbaşı Girişim. However, the Group has the power to remove 

and change the majority of the board of directors of Eczacıbaşı Girişim by virtue of shares which have the power of 

voting rights (but does not have the economic benefit of) held by certain Eczacıbaşı Family members. The Board of 

Directors of Eczacıbaşı Girişim has the power to direct the relevant activities on the basis of majority of voting 

rights. Therefore the Group management concluded that the Group has control over Eczacıbaşı Girişim and hence 

Eczacıbaşı Girişim is consolidated.  

 

Summarized financial information in respect of each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests 

is set out below. The summarized financial information below represents amounts before intragroup eliminations. 

 

Eczacıbaşı Girişim 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Current assets 204,205 260,380 

Non-current assets 127,855 70,987 

Current liabilities 262,784 299,826 

Non-current liabilities 3,781 4,085 

Attributable to equity holders of the Company 65,495 27,456 

 

 

2016 2015 

   Revenue 808,247 852,352 

Expenses (817,409) (867,217) 

Profit / (Loss) for the period (9,162) (14,865) 

Other comprehensive income/ (loss) (15) (730) 

Name of subsidiary 

Place of 

incorporation 

and 

operation 

 Proportion of  

ownership interests 

and voting rights 

held by non-

controlling interests   

Profit/(loss) 

allocated to non-

controlling interests  

Accumulated non-

controlling interests 

 

  
31 

December  

2016 

31 

December  

2015  

31 

December  

2016 

31 

December  

2015  

31 

December  

2016 

31 

December  

2015 

Eczacıbaşı Girişim Turkey  51.87 51.87  (4,504) (7,710)  17,409 14,241 

Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Turkey  51.87 51.87  (3,472) (3,744)  (13,268) (9,174) 

Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel Turkey  51.87 51.87  (9,265) (1,198)  (10,464) (1,198) 
           

The subsidiaries with an insignificant  

    amount of non-controlling interest  (5) (16)  58 59 

      (17,246) (12,668)  (6,265) 3,928 
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NOTE 5 - INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD (Continued) 

 

a) Subsidiaries (continued) 

 

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests (continued): 

 

Eczacıbaşı Hijyen 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Current assets 56,806 47,837 

Non-current assets 79,620 64,234 

Current liabilities 100,533 80,930 

Non-current liabilities 41,104 36,621 

Attributable to equity holders of the Company (5,211) (5,480) 

 

 

2016 2015 

   Revenue 110,767 92,487 

Expenses (116,375) (99,704) 

Profit / (loss) for the period (5,608) (7,217) 

Other comprehensive income/ (loss) - (446) 

 

Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Current assets 66,605 47,923 

Current liabilities 123,393 100,642 

Non-current liabilities 645 275 

Attributable to equity holders of the Company (16,172) (1,310) 

   

 2016 2015 

Revenue 132,078 - 

Expenses (149,939) (2,310) 

Profit / (loss) for the period (17,861) (2,310) 

Other comprehensive income/ (loss) - - 
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NOTE 5 - INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD (Continued) 

 

b) Associates and Joint Ventures 

 

 
31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

 
  

Associates   

Vitra Karo - - 

Ekom 16,968 13,570 

ESH - - 

EBAXA 38,074 - 

 

  

Joint Ventures   

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol - 20,392 

ESK - 975 

EBX 28.651 51,411 

 
  

  83,693 86,348 

 

Cumulative share of loss of an associate 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Vitra Karo (84,306) (57,118) 

ESH (6,976) (565) 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol (46,903) (4,984) 

ESK (634) - 
   

 (138,819) (62,667) 

 

  2016 2015 

   As of 1 January 86,348 114,369 

The Group’s share in investments accounted for using  

    equity method’ profit / (loss) (*) (2,727) (29,028) 

Capital advance payments 45,775 2,539 

Differences due to actuarial gain and loss 418 (351) 

Sales effect of the entity under common control -    (2,593) 

Change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets (205) (494) 

Increases due to currency translation differences -    2,795 

Dividend payments / dividend to be paid (45,916) (889) 

 
  

As of 31 December 83,693 86,348 

 

(*) The profit resulted from the sale of hospital products to EİP has been eliminated by the Company’s interest in EBX. 

TL 2,878 thousand has been eliminated from the profit of EBX for the period ended 31 December 2016.  
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NOTE 5 - INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD (Continued) 

 

b) Associates and Joint Ventures (continued) 

 

The Group’s share in the assets, liabilities as of 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, net sales of the associates 

for the period ended 31 December are presented below: 

 

 31 December 2016 

   
Goodwill 

  

Total 

   
attributable 

 

Net proportion of 

   
to equity 

 
profit / (loss) ownership  

 

Assets Liabilities holders Net sales for the period interest (%) 

   

 

   Ekom 1,771,496 1,707,113 - 1,695,033 4,522 26.36 

Vitra Karo 1,116,538 1,449,519 - 954,441 (11,875) 25.00 

ESH 13,492 27,920 - 41,922 - 48.00 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol 202,257 294,401  124,739 (20,392) 50.00 

ESK 12,526 13,874 - 19,861 (975) 47.00 

EBX 72,664 15,359 - 175,864 18,941 50.00 

EBAXA 143,081 66,934 - 222,782 4,174 50.00 

 

      

 

    (5,605)  

 

 31 December 2015 

   
Goodwill 

  

Total 

   
attributable 

 

Net proportion of 

   
to equity 

 
profit / (loss) ownership  

 

Assets Liabilities holders Net sales for the period interests (%) 

   

 

   Ekom 1,590,376 1,538,886 - 1,373,785 1,023 26.36 

Vitra Karo 889,063 1,117,536 - 862,220 - 25.00 

ESH 9,403 10,572 - 37,709 (2,515) 48.00 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol 226,871 235,174 20,392 119,764 (16,812) 50.00 

ESK 11,010 8,935 - 20,673 (644) 47.00 

EBX 368,778 265,951 - 513,406 (10,055) 50.00 

EBAXA 115 (152) - - (25) 50.00 
       

      (29,028)  

 

NOTE 6 - SEGMENT REPORTING 

 

The Group determined its operating segments based upon the reports reviewed and used by the Board of Directors 

while giving strategic decisions. 

 

During evaluations made for the requirements of TFRS 8 “Operating Segments” effective as of 1 January 2009, the 

Group decided that operating segments shown below in the disclosures prepared in line with CMB requirements are 

compatible with the reports presented to Decision Making Authorities related to current operations and that there is no 

new reportable segment. 
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NOTE 6 - SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 

 

The Group continues to operate primarily in three reportable segments as of 31 December 2016: 

 

1. Health: 

 

Production and sale of human health and veterinary medicine. 

 

2. Consumption: 

 

Production, marketing and sale of consumption products. 

 

3. Real estate development: 

 

Kanyon 

 

The sale and lease of the real estate constructed with a 50% - 50% partnership with İş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı 

A.Ş. (“İŞ GYO”) located on Büyükdere Caddesi, in the Şişli district of Istanbul. The lease regards to half of the 

shopping mall and whole of the office building. 

 

Ormanada project 

 

The Company acquired %50 and Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. acquired %50 of the 22 pieces of land with a total area of 

196,409.74 m² in Yorgancı Çiftliği Mevkii, Uskumru Mahallesi, Sarıyer district in Istanbul. The size of houses varies 

between 170 and 700 square meters with sales price range from USD 500 thousand to USD 2.2 million in Ormanada. 

 

Ayazağa facilities 

 

Lease is related to serum facilities located in Ayazağa district of Istanbul. 

 

Lands 

 

In addition to the aforementioned lands of Ayazağa facilities, the Company acquired all the shares of Yeni Tekstil 

Sanayi A.Ş. which owns a land plot in Ayazağa Cendere Valley, Urban Transformation Area as well as merged with it 

by facilitated merging transaction method on 7 December 2015. 

 

Moreover the Company acquired 21 fields with the total surface area of 265,930 m2 located in province of Istanbul, 

district of Silivri, Kurfallı village, Uğur Bıçaker Street, a field with the total surface area of 5,250 m2 located in 

province of Istanbul, district of Silivri, Yoğurtdere on 1 March 2016 and a field qualified as a parcel numbered 2007 

with the total surface area of 685,026 m2 located in province of Istanbul, district of Silivri, Akören village, Karasinan 

Street on 7 June 2016. 

 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul: 

 

Providing consulting services regarding land development and project management to Eczacıbaşı Group companies 

which are operating in real estate development sector. 
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NOTE 6 - SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 

 

3. Real estate development (Continued) 

 

Segment assets consist of cash and cash equivalents (except the cash and cash equivalents of the parent company), trade 

and other receivables, inventories, tangible and intangible assets and other current and non-current assets. Financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets available for sale and deferred tax assets are excluded from 

segment assets. 

 

Segment liabilities consist of liabilities related to operations. Current and deferred tax liabilities, financial liabilities and 

financial liabilities provided by related parties are excluded from segment liabilities. 

 

Capital expenditures consist of purchases of tangible and intangible assets, investment property and goodwill arisen as a 

result of acquisitions in the current year. 

 

Financial information has not been reported in geographical segments since primary sales and purchases of the Group 

are performed in Turkey and the majority of the assets of the Group are in Turkey. 

 

Segment assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015: 

 

 
31 December 2016 

 

31 December 2015 

        

 
Assets 

 

Liabilities 

 
Assets 

 

Liabilities 

        Health 179,862     (131,478)     93,171  (59,497) 

Consumption 536,429        (484,247)     540,627  (473,697) 

Real estate development 494,529     (6,878)   453,000  (12,352) 

Undistributed 2,781,883        (125,610)    2,283,032  (84,224) 

 

       

Total 3,992,703        (748,213)     3,369,830  (629,770) 
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NOTE 6 - SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 

 

Capital expenditures and non-cash expenses of segments as of 31 December: 

 

     
Real estate 

   
Inter-segment  

  1 January 2016 - 31 December 2016 Health   Consumption   development   Undistributed   elimination    Total 

            Capital expenditures (Notes 16, 17 and 18) 7,651     29,547     67,801     -       -       104,999    

Non-cash expenses:            

 

           

- Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 16, 17 and 18) 2,972     10,549     7,740     -       -       21,261    

- Provision for diminution in value of inventories (Note 13) 946     3,197     -       -       -       4,143    

- Provision for employment termination benefits and 

actuarial loss (Note 21) 861    614     (40)     -  -  1,435    

- Provision for unused vacation (Note 21) 483     1,003     88     -       -       1,574    

- Provision for litigations (Note 20)  (698)     1,166     -       -       -       468    

- Provision for doubtful receivables (Note 11) -       266     -       -       -       266    

- Expense accruals (Note 11) 160     7,202     -       -       -       7,362    

 

           

  4,724     23,997     7,788     -       -       36,509    

 

           

1 January 2015 - 31 December 2015            

Capital expenditures (Notes 16, 17 ve 18) 2,251     49,740     77,176     -  -  129,167    

Non-cash expenses:            

 

           

- Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 16, 17 ve 18) 2,242     7,530     8,040     -  -  17,812    

- Provision for diminution in value of inventories (Note 13) 644     (1,494)     -  -  -  (850)    

- Provision for employment termination benefits and 

actuarial loss (Note 21) 425     1,667     135     -  -  2,227    

- Provision for unused vacation (Note 21) 138     973     -  -  -  1,111    

- Provision for litigations (Note 20) -  807     172     -  -  979    

- Provision for doubtful receivables (Note 11) 71     387     73     -  -  531    

- Expense accruals (Note 11) 107     2,108     -  -  -  2,215    

 

           

  3,627     11,978     8,420     -  -  24,025    
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NOTE 6 - SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 
 

Segment results for the year ended at 31 December: 
 

   
 

 
Real estate 

   
Inter-segment  

  1 January - 31 December 2016 Health   Consumption   development   Undistributed   elimination    Total 

            Total sales 381,792     1,051,096     104,619     -       -       1,537,507    

Elimination of sales within the Group (-) (52)     (122,880)     (1,930)     -       -       (124,862)    

Sales to third parties 381,740     928,216     102,689     -       -       1,412,645    
            

Cost of sales (-) (254,947)     (770,755)     (30,488)     -  -  (1,056,190)    

 

           

Gross Profit 126,793     157,461     72,201     -  -  356,455    

 

           

General administrative expenses (-) (35,252)     (50,130)     (7,753)     (5,235)     -  (98,370)    

Marketing expenses (-) (86,849)     (106,291)     (11,951)     -  -  (205,091)    

Research and development expenses (-) -  (1,850)     -       -  -  (1,850)    

Other operating income 10,330     18,503        821     169,796     -  199,450    

Other operating expenses (-) (13,583)     (30,027)     (312)     (51,764)     -  (95,686)    

 

           

Operating (loss) / profit 1,439     (12,334)     53,006     112,797     -  154,908    

 
           

1 January - 31 December 2015            

Total sales 237,107  945,309  95,421  2  -  1,277,839    

Elimination of sales within the Group (-) (21)  (105,995)  (1,260)  -  -  (107,276)    

Sales to third parties 237,086  839,314  94,161  2  -  1,170,563    

 

           

Cost of sales (-) (159,963)  (709,663)  (38,062)  -  -  (907,688)    

 

           

Gross Profit 77,123  129,651  56,099  2    262,875    

 

           

General administrative expenses (-) (33,829)  (47,514)  (10,713)  (3,799)  -  (95,855) 

Marketing expenses (-) (59,627)  (86,535)  (11,165)  (240)  -  (157,567)    

Research and development expenses (-) -  (1,361)  -  -  -  (1,361) 

Other operating income 7,292  17,276  534  169,945     -  195,047    

Other operating expenses (-) (10,043)  (16,478)  (276)  (52,563)  -  (79,360)    

 
           

Operating (loss) / profit (19,084)  (4,961)  34,479  113.345     -  123,779    
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NOTE 6 - SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 

 

Confirmation of operating profits related to operating segments with profit before tax: 

 

 1 January - 1 January - 

  31 December 2016 31 December 2015 
 

Operating (loss) / profits related to operating segments 
 

46,166 
 

15,520 

 

 

 
Undistributed income 108,742    108,259 

Income from investing activities 64,247       8,466 

Expenses from investing activities (-) (841)    (4,134) 

Losses shares from associates (-) (5,605)    (29,028) 

Financial income 9,869    - 

Financial expenses (-) (25,390)    (25,430) 

 
 

 

(Loss) / profit before tax 197,188       73,653 

 

NOTE 7 - NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

  31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Cash in hand 7 20 

Banks 661,534 699,003 

 - demand deposits 2,908 4,369 

 - time deposits 658,626 694,634 

 

  

  661,541 699,023 

 

Interest rates for TL denominated time deposits vary between 10.75% and 11.95% (31 December 2015: 12.00% - 14.50%) 

whereas interest rates for foreign currency denominated time deposits vary between 1.75% and 3.75% (31 December 2015: 

1.65% - 2.90%) Maturity dates of foreign currency time deposits are between 2 January 2017 and 25 January 2017. The 

weighted average interest rates per annum for TL, USD and EUR denominated time deposits are 11.42%, 3.63% and 1.83%, 

respectively (31 December 2015: 13.01%, 2.48% and 1.78%). Currency denominations of time deposits are as follows: 

 

 

31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   TL denominated time deposits 86,918    144,851     

USD denominated time deposits (TL equivalent) 439,544    316,687     

EUR denominated time deposits (TL equivalent) 132,164    233,096     

 

  

 

658,626    694,634     

 

Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended 31 December are 

presented below: 

 

  31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Cash and cash equivalents 661,541 699,023 

Interest accruals (-) (1,039) (619) 

 

 

 

  660,502 698,404 
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NOTE 8 - FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 

The details of financial investments included in current assets as of 31 December are as follows: 

 

   31 December 2016  31 December 2015 

   Restricted bank balances 2,754 1,277 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 1,082 788 

 

  

Financial investments, current 3,836 2,065 

Restricted bank balances - 2,533 

Financial assets available-for-sale 2,157,822 1,677,886 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 2,396 2,238 

 

  

Financial investments, non-current 2,160,218 1,682,657 

 

TFRS 13 defines technical classifications for fair value measurement. 

 

The classification of financial instruments at fair value is shown as following: 

 

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); 

 

Level 3: Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 

According to the observability of the data used in fair value measurement, the fair value hierarchy of the Group’s 

financial assets at fair value is shown as follows: 

 

31 December 2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 

    

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss -    1,082 -    1,082 

 
    

Financial investments, current -      1,082    -      1.082    

 

    

Financial assets available-for-sale 43,278 266,656 1,847,888 2,157,822 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss -    2,396 -    2,396 

 
    

Financial investments, non-current 43,278 269,052 1,847,888 2,160,218    

 

31 December 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 

    

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - 788 - 788 

 

    

Financial investments, current - 788 - 788 

 

    

Financial assets available-for-sale 43,948 266,656 1,367,282 1,677,886 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - 2,238 - 2,238 

 
    

Financial investments, non-current 43,948 268,894 1,367,282 1,680,124    
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NOTE 8 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 

Reconciliation of period beginning and period end for the assets measured at fair value based on 3
rd

 level is as follows: 

 

  2016 2015 

  

 

As of 1 January 1,367,282 1,271,950 

Total income / (loss) accounted in other comprehensive income 472,526 (123,810) 

Classification from the 3rd level to other levels - (25,206) 

Classification from the other levels to 3rd level  - 224,266 

Disposals for the period (-) - (151) 

Effect of share purchases and rate changes 8,080 20,233 

 

  

As of 31 December 1,847,888    1,367,282 

 

a) Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss: 

 

Financial assets at fair value related to income statements portfolio consist of international financial investment 

instruments and national liquid funds.  

 

The Company management has decided to transfer the assets in portfolio accounts considering their maturities and 

liquidity, to banks in Turkey in the second half of 2008. As of 31 December 2009, a significant portion of the funds have 

been transferred to banks in Turkey and transfer of remaining part of the funds is in progress. Total fair value of funds not 

yet transferred is TL 3,478 thousand as of 31 December 2016 (31 December 2015: TL 3,026 thousand). As of 31 

December 2016, Group estimates to transfer TL 1.082 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 788 thousand) of these funds 

within 2015 and the remaining TL 2,396 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 2,238 thousand) after 2016. TL 3,478 

thousand (31 December 2015: TL 3,026 thousand) of the aforementioned funds are in the funds in North America. 

 

b) Available-for-sale financial assets: 

 

Long-term available-for-sale financial assets: 

 

The following reconciles the long-term available-for-sale financial assets at the beginning and end of the year: 

 

  2016 2015 

  

 

As of 1 January 1,677,886    1,717,856 

 

  

Total income / (loss) accounted in other comprehensive income 480,984    (39,819) 

Total amount of gain accounted in other comprehensive income due to sales (857) - 

Disposals for the period  (191)    (151) 

 

  

As of 31 December 2,157,822    1,677,886 
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NOTE 8 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 

b) Available-for-sale financial assets (continued): 

 

Long-term available-for-sale financial assets (continued): 

 

The list of long-term available for sale financial assets as of 31 December is as follows: 

 

Listed: 31 December 2016  % 31 December 2015 % 
     
Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (*) 4,158 15 3,780 15 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri     

   Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. (*) - 2 1,048 2 

Türkiye İş Bankası A.Ş. (*) 25 <1 25 <1 

Ak Enerji Elektrik Üretim A.Ş. (*) (**) <1 <1 <1 <1 
     

  4,183  4,853  

Not listed:     

 

    

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. (******) 2,152,843 37 1,672,237 37 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (*****) 768 14 768 14 

Eczacıbaşı Menkul Değerler A.Ş. (****) -    <1 - <1 

Other (***) 28 <1 28 <1 

 

    

  2,153,639  1,673,033  

     

Total 2,157,822  1,677,886  
 

(*) Fair values of financial assets in listed companies are calculated based on current market prices. 

 

(**)  As of 31 December 2016, the market prices of Ak Enerji Elektrik Üretim A.Ş. is TL 86 (31 December 2015: TL 96). 

 

(***)  These available-for-sale investments are carried at their acquisition costs since they are not listed and fair values cannot be 

reliably measured. 

 

(****) All of the shares of Eczacıbaşı Yatırım ve Menkul Değerler A.Ş. sold to a Company outside of Eczacıbaşı Group at 1 June 

2015. 

 

(*****)  For financial assets in unlisted companies, the Group determines fair values using valuation techniques. These valuation 

techniques include the use of recent arm’s length transactions or references to other instruments that are substantially the 

same and discounted cash flow analysis considering the specific conditions of the company invested in. Adjustments to fair 

values are accounted for in “Financial assets fair value reserve” under shareholders’ equity. 

 

(******) As of 31 December 2016 and 2015 the acquisition cost of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. shares including the restatement effect 

due to inflation accounting is TL 153,320 thousand. In fair value determination (Fair Value Measurement Methods (I)); 

 

i) Rent income; discounted cash flows (Level 3), 

ii) Real estates; current transaction cost, arm’s length price and expertise values (Level 2 and 3), 

iii) Net asset values of remaining assets and liabilities in cash (Level 3), 

iv) The multiplication of ownership interest rates of Eczacıbaşı Holding with the fair values of all subsidiaries, joint 

ventures and associates.  
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NOTE 8 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 

b) Available-for-sale financial assets (continued): 

 

Long-term available-for-sale financial assets (continued): 

 

The methods used in fair value measurement of Eczacıbaşı Holding are as follows:  

 

Fair Value Measurement Methods Code 
Market price (II) 

Discounted cash flows (III) 

Current transaction price (IV) 

Net asset value (V) 

Net book value (VI) 

 

 

Proportion of 

ownership interests of 

Eczacıbaşı Holding 

A.Ş. (%) (*) 

 

 

Fair value 

measurement 

method (**) 
 

 
Entity Name 2016 

 

2015 

 

2016 

 

2015 

 

2016 2015 

           EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 73.33 

 

72.35 

 

(I) 

 

(I) 

 

(I) (I) 

 

 
   

 
   

 
 İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 76.27 

 
68.44 

 
(II) 

 
(II) 

 
1. Level 1. Level 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. 33.45 
 

33.02 
 

(II) 
 

(II) 
 

1. Level 1. Level 

 

 
   

 
   

 
 Eczacıbaşı Yapı Gereçleri San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 96.37  95.79  (III)  (III)   3. Level 3. Level 

Esan Eczacıbaşı Endüstriyel Hammaddeler San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 99.97 

 

99.97 

 

(III) 

 

(III) 

 

3. Level 3. Level 

Vitra Karo San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 92.23 

 

91.46 

 

(III) 

 

(III) 

 

3. Level 3. Level 

Engers Keramik Gmbh & Co Kg  92.23 

 

91.46 

 

(III) 

 

(III) 

 

3. Level 3. Level 

Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama Tüketim Ürünleri San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 83.16 

 

82.69 

 

(III) 

 

(III) 

 

3. Level 3. Level 

EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. 73.34 

 

72.35 

 

(III) 

 

(III) 

 

3. Level 3. Level 

İpek Kağıt San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 99.49 

 

99.47 

 

(III) 

 

(III) 

 

3. Level 3. Level 

Villeroy & Boch Fliesen GmbH  90.12 

 

89.37 

 

(III) 

 

(III) 

 

3. Level 3. Level 

Kaynak Tekniği San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 46.02 

 

45.81 

 

(III) 

 

(III) 

 

3. Level 3. Level 

E-Kart Elektronik Kart Sistemleri San. ve Tic. A.Ş.  43.05 

 

42.63 

 

(III) 

 

(III) 

 

3. Level 3. Level 

Eczacıbaşı-Schwarzkopf Kuaför Ürünleri Pazarlama A.Ş. 38.24 

 

36.77 

 

(III) 

 

(III) 

 

3. Level 3. Level 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 36.66 

 

36.17 

 

(III) 

 

(III) 

 

3. Level 3. Level 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 36.66 

 

36.18 

 

(III) 

 

(III) 

 

3. Level 3. Level 

Capintec Inc. 36.66  36.18  (III)  (III)  3. Level 3. Level 

Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 83.16  82.69  (III)  (III)  3. Level 3. Level 

Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel Ürün ve Hizmetler San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 83.16  82.69  (III)  (III)  3. Level 3. Level  
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NOTE 8 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 

b) Available-for-sale financial assets (continued): 
 

 

Proportion of 

ownership interests 

of Eczacıbaşı 

Holding A.Ş. (%) (*) 
 

 

Fair value 

measurement 

method (**) 
 

 

Fair value 

hierarchy (**) 
 

Entity Name 2016 

 

2015 

 

2016 

 

2015 

 

2016 

 

2015 

            Eczacıbaşı Bilişim San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 96.45  96.02  (V)  (V)  3. Level  3. Level 

ESİ Eczacıbaşı Sigorta Acenteliği A.Ş. 4.92  4.31  (V)  (V)  3. Level  3. Level 

Eczacıbaşı Havacılık A.Ş. 91.33  91.33  (V)  (V)  3. Level  3. Level 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş.  87.30  86.84  (V)  (V)  3. Level  3. Level 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş. 73.44  72.47  (V)  (V)  3. Level  3. Level 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç Ticaret A.Ş. 73.35  72.38  (V)  (V)  3. Level  3. Level 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Holding Ortaklığı A.Ş. 77.77  76.47  (V)  (V)  2. Level  2. Level 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 50.00  50.00  (V)  (V)  3. Level  3. Level 

Toplu Konut Holding A.Ş. 27.00  27.00  (V)  (V)  3. Level  3. Level 

Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 90.82  90.54  (V)  (V)  3. Level  3. Level 

            
Vitra Bad GmbH 96.37  95.79  (VI)  (VI)  3. Level  3. Level 

Vitra UK Limited 96.37  98.74  (VI)  (VI)  3. Level  3. Level 

Vitra Ireland Limited 89.42  88.70  (VI)  (VI)  3. Level  3. Level 

Vitra Tiles Llc. 92.23  91.46  (VI)  (VI)  3. Level  3. Level 

 
(*) Proportion of ownership interest represents the effective shareholding of Eczacıbaşı Holding directly through the shares held in 

subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates and indirectly by these companies. 

(**) In the current period there is no change in method.  

 

(I) In the fair value measurement of Eczacıbaşı Holding, for the stand-alone fair value of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., the effect of the cross ownership with Eczacıbaşı Holding has been taken into 

consideration. The following have been taken into account in the related stand-alone fair value determination: 

 

i) Kanyon Shopping Mall and Office Building; discounted cash flows of rent income (Level 3), 

ii) Financial assets; current transaction cost (Level 2) and current market prices (Level 1),  

iii) Real estates; current transaction cost, imputed cost and expertise values (Level 2 and 3)  

iv) Net asset value of remaining assets in cash (Level 2) and liabilities in cash (Level 3). 

 

In this context, the fair value has been calculated as TL 1,646,651 thousand as of 31 December 2016 (31 December 2015: 

TL 1,495,752 thousand). As of 31 December 2016, market/stock value of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar 

Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. amounts to TL 1,710,409 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 1,452,751 thousand). 

 

(II) The securities measured at market values are valued by the strike prices as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 on 

BIST. As of 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 there are no financial instruments listed in another stock exchange 

market. 

 

(III) The discount rates used in discounted cash-flow method are determined for each entity separately taking into consideration 

the following factors: 

 

i) The countries in which each entity is located and the risk premiums of these countries, 

ii) The market risk premiums for each entity and  

iii) The industry risk premiums for the sectors in which each entity operates. 

 

Comparable risk premiums (in line with observable market data) are used in the determination of discount rates. 



EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 
 

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.) 

 

47 

NOTE 8 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 

b) Available-for-sale financial assets (continued): 
 

(III) During performing company valuations, risk-free return rates, risk premiums and borrowing costs are 

determined. If as of 31 December 2016 the calculated weighted average cost of capital had been higher by 10%, 

the fair value would have been lower by TL 230,501 thousand (31 December 2015: lower by TL 204,935 

thousand). If the average cost of capital had been lower by 10%, the fair value would have been higher by TL 

295,704 thousand (31 December 2015: higher by TL 262,119 thousand). After calculating average cost of 

capital, the discount rates are determined by using “debt/equity” ratio, average cost of capital and cost of equity 

ratio. In this context, the discount rates used for companies of which the functional unit of currency is TL vary 

between 15.9% - 20.7% (31 December 2015: 16.0% - 20.2%), whereas the discount rates used for companies of 

which the functional unit of currency is EUR 6.9% (31 December 2015: 7.3 - 8.8%). 
 

(IV) Current transaction price consists of the financial instruments of which fair values are measured by comparable 

costs of current transactions as of the balance sheet date. 
 

(V, VI) The fair values of these companies are determined by net asset values and net book values. The net asset value 

is calculated by deducting liabilities from monetary assets, whereas net book values are calculated by their cost 

values. 
 

The fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding has been calculated by multiplying the proportion of ownership interest of 

Eczacıbaşı Holding with the fair values calculated, using the methods explained above, for each company. The 

calculation summary of the amount shown in the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December is as follows: 

 

  31 December 2016 

31 December 

2015 

  

 

Total fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding (*) 4,936,508 3,853,632 

 

  

The share of the Group within the total fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding (**) 1,840,382 1,436,674 

The effect of cross ownership 692,374 530,664 

Fair value before liquidity discount 2,532,756 1,967,338 

 

  

Liquidity discount (-) (379,913) (295,101) 

 

  

Fair value of the Group in consolidated financials 2,152,843 1,672,237 

 
(*) Reflects the amount multiplied with the total proportion of ownership interests. 

(**) As of 31 December 2016 the direct capital share of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 

within Eczacıbaşı Holding totals to 37.28 % (31 December 2015: 37.28%). 

 

As presented in the table above, the share of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. in 

the fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding before liquidity discount amounting to TL 4,936,508 thousand (31 December 2015: 

TL 3,853,632 thousand) has been calculated by using the fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding amounting to TL 1,840,382  

thousand (31 December 2015: TL 1,436,674  thousand) by multiplying this fair value with EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.’s proportion of ownership interest in Eczacıbaşı Holding equalling 37.28% 

and amounting to 31 December 2016 TL 692,374 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 530,664 thousand) and adding the 

effect of cross ownership between EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. and 

Eczacıbaşı Holding amounting to TL 2,532,756 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 1,967,338 thousand). The fair value 

presented in consolidated financial statements amounting to TL 2,152,843 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 1,672,237 

thousand) has been calculated by deducting the liquidity discount at the rate of 15% from this amount. 

 

The effect of a 10% change in liquidity discount rate on the fair value of the financial instruments valued by discounted 

cash-flow method is calculated as TL 253,276 thousand as of 31 December 2016 (31 December 2015:  

TL 196,734 thousand). 
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NOTE 9 - FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

 

31 December 2016 

 
31 December 2015 

      

 
Interest rate range  

  
Interest rate range  

  per annum (%) (*) TL  per annum (%) (*) TL 

 

 

    TL denominated bank borrowings 7.34 - 11.91 79,808 

 

7.34 - 13.26 75,188 

EUR denominated bank borrowings 3.88 6,278  3.88 5,649 
      

Short-term bank borrowings  86,086    80,837 

 

  

 

  

EUR denominated bank borrowings 3.88 31,391  3.88 29,576 

Obligations under financial leases  690    

 

  

 

  

Long-term bank borrowing  32,081   29,576 

 

  

 

  

Total financial liabilities  118,167   110,413 

 

(*) Annual weighted average interest rate of TL denominated short-term bank borrowings is 11.20% (31 December 

2015: 12.98%). Annual weighted average interest rate of EUR denominated short-term bank borrowings is 

3.88% (31 December 2015: 3.88%). Annual weighted average interest rate of EUR denominated long-term bank 

borrowings is 3.88% (31 December 2015: 3.88%). 

 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. is the guarantor of these bank loans. 

 

Long-term bank borrowings of the Group are denominated in EUR financial liabilities of Eczacıbaşı Hijyen. The long- 

term borrowings will be used to finance investments which will commence in 2015 and later. Maturity of borrowing is 

October 2022 and the borrowing has semi-annually principal payments after April 2016. 

 

As at balance sheet date, the Group’s risk due to interest rate changes is as follows: 

 

    31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

    To be paid within 1 year 

 

86,086 80,837 

To be paid in 1-2 years  6,278 5,378 

To be paid in 2-3 years  6,278 5,378 

To be paid in 3-4 years  6,278 5,378 

To be paid in 4-5 years  6,278 5,378 

5 years and more  6,279 8,064 

  
  

Total   117,477 110,413 
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NOTE 10 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES  

 
a) Balances with related parties at 31 December: 
 

Short-term trade receivables due from related parties 

31 December 

2016 

31 December 

2015 

  

 

Due from shareholders     

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş.  761 779 

 

  

  761 779 

 

  

Due from Joint Ventures   

Eczacıbaşı-Schwarzkopf Kuaför Ürünleri Pazarlama A.Ş. 3,396 - 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 67 6 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 1 241 

 

  

  3,464 247 

 

  

Due from Associates   

Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 2,201 3,218 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. 38 4 

Vitra Karo Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 2 - 

 

  

  2,241 3,222 

 

  

Due from other related parties   

İpek Kağıt Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 18,918 217 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 886 199 

Eczacıbaşı Yapı Gereçleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 56 11 

Esan Eczacıbaşı Endüstriyel Hammaddeler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 1  

Other 47 38 

 

  

  19,908 465 

 

  

Short-term trade receivables due from related parties 26,374 4,713 

 

Average maturity of the Group’s receivables from related parties is 15 days (31 December 2015: 18 days) and is amortised 

at per 8.28% annum (31 December 2015: 9.91%) 
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NOTE 10 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 

 
a) Balances with related parties at 31 December (continued): 
 

Short-term trade payables due to related parties 

31 December 

2016 

31 December 

2015 

   Due to shareholders   

 Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 5,149 3,109 
   

  5,149 3,109 

 

  

Due to Joint Ventures   

Eczacıbaşı-Schwarzkopf Kuaför Ürünleri Pazarlama A.Ş. 10,985    7,250 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 143    26 
   

  11,128    7,276 

 

  

Due to Associates   

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. 62    24 
   

  62    24 

 

  

Due to other related parties   

İpek Kağıt Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 127,538 105,797 

Eczacıbaşı Spor Kulübü Derneği 610 392 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 514 945 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 160 413 

ESİ Eczacıbaşı Sigorta Acentalığı A.Ş. 37 19 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 7 - 

Other 209 96 
   

  129,075    107,662 

 

  

  145,414    118,071    

 

  

Deferred credit finance expenses (-) (302)    (649) 

Short-term trade payables due to related parties 145,112    117,422    
 

Average maturity of the Group’s payables to related parties is 101 days (31 December 2015: 92 days) and is amortised at 

9.97 % per annum (31 December 2015: 9.65 %). 
 

Short-term financial liabilities to related parties 

31 December 

2016 

31 December 

2015 

Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 121,726    109,125 
   

Total short-term financial liabilities to related parties 121,726 109,125 
 

Long-term financial liabilities to related parties 

31 December 

2016 

31 December 

2015 

Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. - 33,504 
   

Total long-term financial liabilities to related parties - 33,504    
 

Amount of TL denominated loans obtained through Ekom is TL 91,823 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 133,078 

thousand), and annual interest rates of these loans vary between 11.10% - 13.25% (31 December 2015: 10.60%-

13.25%). Interest rates of EUR denominated loans amounting TL 29,903 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 9,551 

thousand) vary between 1.90% and 1.95% (31 December 2015: 1.65%-1.95%). 
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NOTE 10 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 
 

b) Transactions with related parties for the years ended 31 December: 

 

Product sales 2016 2015 

   

Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 12,365 13,566 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 1,754 2,190 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 394 543 

Other 261 141 
   

  14,774 16,440 

 

  

Service sales   

 

 

 

İpek Kağıt Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 124,673 127,203 

Eczacıbaşı-Schwarzkopf Kuaför Ürünleri Pazarlama A.Ş. 15,742 12,575 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 1,703 1,261 

Other 42 74 

 

 

 
  142,160 141,113 

 

 

 Product purchases  

 
 

 

 

İpek Kağıt Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 473,089    448,956 

Eczacıbaşı-Schwarzkopf Kuaför Ürünleri Pazarlama A.Ş. 32,497    30,210 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 19,562    1,516 

Other 16    - 

 

 

 

  525,164    480,682 

 

 

 Service purchases  

 
 

 

 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 6,616 5,722 

Eczacıbaşı Spor Kulübü Derneği 4,392 3,642 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 1,891 1,609 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 1,015 723 

Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. 400 493 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. 150 400 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 17 120 

Other 60 58 

 

 

 

  14,541 12,767 
 

The Group purchases computer hardware, computer by products and related consumable products from Eczacıbaşı 

Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.; sanitary ware and related consumable products from İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat 

Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. and various raw materials, finished goods and merchandise from other group 

companies.  
 

The Group renders services related to administration of Kanyon complex from Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama 

A.Ş.; IT consultancy services and technical services related to maintenance, operation, update, breakdown and system 

support from Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.; financial audit and consultancy, human resources, social 

affairs, finance, budget, corporate communication, legal, IT systems, communication, technical training etc. services 

from Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş.; advertisement services from Eczacıbaşı Spor Kulübü; custom clearance and brokerage 

services for export registered sales from Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. health services from Eczacıbaşı Sağlık 

Hizmetleri A.Ş.; and various other services from other group companies. 
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NOTE 10 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 

 

b) Transactions with related parties for the years ended 31 December (continued): 
 

Within the context of real estate operations, the Group provide audit, follow-up and subcontractor management services 

to Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. related to construction process of co-executed Ormanada Project. 
 

The Group generates rent income from offices located in Kanyon and real estates located in Ayazağa. 

 

The Group performs the sale and distribution of medical, healthcare and consumer products of Eczacıbaşı Group. In this 

context Group makes merchandise purchase from İpek Kağıt Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. and Eczacıbaşı-Schwarzkopf 

Kuaför Ürünleri Pazarlama A.Ş. and generates revenue from the services related to storage, transportation and sale of 

those merchandises. 

 

As of 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Group does not have any contingent asset or liabilities arising from transactions 

with related parties. 

 

Dividend income from related parties 2016 2015 

   
Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 59,649 7,941 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 56 268 

Other - 101 

 

  

  59,705 8,310 

 

  

Interest paid within the context of operating activities  

  

 

 İpek Kağıt Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 3,541 5,426 

Other 372 358 

 
 

 
  3,913 5,784 

 

c) Other transactions with related parties for the year ended 31 December: 

 

Management and royalty fees paid to related parties 2016 2015 

   
Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. (*) 14,206 12,484 

 

 

 
  14,206 12,484 

 
(*) Management fees paid to Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. comprise law, financial corporate identity, budget planning, 

audit and human resource services received from Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. These expenses are billed for relevant 

services in proportion to the time spent by the relevant department of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 
 

Rent income received from related parties 2016 2015 

   
Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 4,057    3,856 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 2,468    2,496 

İpek Kağıt Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 487      293 

İntema Yaşam Ev ve Mutfak Ürünleri Pazarlama Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 303    - 

Eczacıbaşı Sigorta Acenteliği A.Ş. 211    200 

Other 80    167 

 

 

 

  7,606    7,012 
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NOTE 10 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 
 

c) Other transactions with related parties for the year ended 31 December (continued): 
 

Rent expenses paid to related parties 2016 2015 

   
Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 3,347    2,554 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 845    669 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 106    - 

 

 

 

 
4,298    3,223 

 

  

Other expenses paid to related parties 2016 2015 

 

  

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 822    895 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 331    187 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 283    451 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 286    437 

İpek Kağıt Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 766    353 

Other 572    408 

 

 

 

  3,060    2,731 

 

Donations paid to related parties 2016 2015 

 

  

Dr. Nejat F. Eczacıbaşı Vakfı 2 17 

 

  

  2 17 
 

Asset acquisitions from related parties 2016 2015 

 

  

Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 2,831 - 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 2,692 - 

Cennet Koyu Turizm İşletmeleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 44 16,425 

 

 

 

  5,567 16,425 

 

Key management personnel compensation: 
 

The Group has determined key management personnel as board members, group presidents, vice-presidents and general 

manager. 

 

Short-term benefits provided to key management personnel consists of salaries, premiums, social insurance related 

payments, health insurance and seniority incentive award. Long-term benefits provided to key management personnel 

consists of employee termination benefits paid to discharged key management personnel due to retirement and/or 

transfer and service award payments. 
 

Detail of compensation amounts provided to key management personnel is as follows: 
 

Key management personnel compensation 2016 2015 

   

Short-term benefits provided to key management personnel 16,979 21,632 

Long-term benefits provided to key management personnel 593 1,778 

 

  

  17,572 23,410 
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NOTE 11 - TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES 
 

a) Trade receivables: 
 

Short-term trade receivables: 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Trade receivables 277,291 193,084 

Notes receivables 45,681 28,795 

Income accruals 3,054 2,570 

 

  

  326,026 224,449 

 

  

Deferred credit finance income (-) (3,957) (1,805) 

Provision for doubtful receivables (-) (8,349) (8,253) 

 

  

Short-term trade receivables, net 313,720 214,391 

 

As of 31 December 2016, long-term trade receivables amounting to TL 7 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 162 

thousand), composed of the notes receivables obtained in exchange down payments of preliminary contracts related to 

real estates, which will be built as a part of "Ormanada" real estate project with 50% ownership the Group and 50% 

ownership of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. in the province of Istanbul and in the district of Zekeriyaköy. 

 

Average maturity of the Group’s receivables is 69 days (31 December 2015: 57 days) and TL denominated trade 

receivables are amortised at 8.28% per annum (31 December 2015: 9.91%). 

 

Movement of provision for doubtful receivables is presented below: 

 

 

2016 2015 

 

 

 
As of 1 January 8,253 7,865 

Current year additions (Note 25) 266 531 

Collections (Note 27) (82) (143) 

Provisions no longer required (88) - 

 
  

As of 31 December 8,349 8,253 

 

Maximum credit risk and aging analysis related to trade receivables are included in Note 32. 

 

b) Trade payables: 

 

Short-term trade payables 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 
   

Trade payables 198,758 135,100 

Expense accruals 7,362 2,215 

Deferred credit finance expenses (-) (2,589) (1,590) 

 

  

Short-term trade payables, net 203,531 135,725 

 

Average maturity of the Group’s payables is 118 days (31 December 2015: 86 days) and TL denominated trade 

payables are amortised at 9.18% per annum (31 December 2015: 9.95%), EUR denominated trade payables are 

amortised at 0.06% per annum (31 December 2015: 0.06%) and USD denominated payables are amortised at 0.28% per 

annum (31 December 2015: 0.28%). 
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NOTE 12 - OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES 

 

Other current assets 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 
   

Receivables from tax office 164    142 

Deposits and collaterals given 157    7 

Other 237    158 
   

 558    307 

 

Other non-current assets 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 
   

Deposits and collaterals given 14 45 
   

 14 45 

 

Short-term other liabilities 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 
   

Taxes payable 5,883    10,454 

Deposits and collaterals received 3,530    2,901 

Other 210    517 

 

  

 9,623    13,872 

 

NOTE 13 - INVENTORIES 
 

  31 December 2016 31 December 2015 
   

Raw materials and supplies 15,152 18,628 

Work in progress 20,298 505 

Finished goods 17,474 15,606 

Merchandise 29,263 30,205 

Scrap goods 3,063 5,360 

Other inventories 639 1,047 

Lands, completed and construction in progress houses 54,554 73,685 
   

  140,443 145,036 

Provision for diminution in value of inventories (-) (12,195) (11,136) 
   

  128,248 133,900 

 
Lands, completed and construction in progress houses contains undelivered houses cost of land of purchased by the 
Group in Zekeriyaköy as part of real estate development activities and project development costs incurred. 
 
Movement of provision for diminution in value of inventories is presented below: 
 

  2016 2015 

   As of 1 January 11,136 11,986 

Current year additions (Note 27) 4,880 3,523 

Provisions no longer required (737) (4,373) 

Inventories destroyed (3.084) - 

 

  

As of 31 December 12,195 11,136 
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NOTE 14 - PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME 
 

Short-term prepaid expenses 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Advances given 2,842 254 

Unearned revenue 2,467 5,343 

 

  

  5,309 5,597 

 

Long-term prepaid expenses 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Prepaid expenses 2,463 10,550 

Advances given to subcontractors 172 1,305 

 

  

  2,635 11,855 

 

Short-term deferred income 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Advances received (*) 439 1,635 

Unearned revenue 261 1,249 
   

 700 2,884 

 

Long-term deferred income 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Unearned revenue 637 923 
   

 637 923 

 
(*)  Advances received presented in other non-current liabilities composed of down payments of preliminary 

contracts related to real estates, which will be built as a part of “Ormanada” real estate project with 50% 

ownership the Group and 50% ownership of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. in the province of Istanbul and in the 

district of Zekeriyaköy. Advances received presented in current liabilities amounting to TL 294 thousand (31 

December 2015: TL 1,517 thousand) is also related to the down payments received from clients for the same 

above mentioned project. 
 
NOTE 15 - CURRENT INCOME TAX ASSETS 
 

Current income tax assets 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Prepaid taxes and withholding taxes 327 6,050 

 

  

  327 6,050 
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NOTE 16 - INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

 

Cost 1 January 2016 Additions Disposals 31 December 2016 

     Kanyon  229,691 139    - 229,830 

Buildings 54,294 9,130    (3,537) 59,887 

Lands and land improvements 82,853 68,479    - 151,332 

 

    

  366,838 77,748 (3,537) 441,049 

 

    

Accumulated depreciation     

 

    

Kanyon  50,442 5,386    - 55,828 

Buildings 20,035 1,793    (64)    21,764 

Lands and land improvements 390 50    - 440 

 

    

  70,867 7,229 (64) 78,032 

 

    

Carrying amount 295,971   363,017 

 

Cost 1 January 2015 Additions Disposals 31 December 2015 

     Kanyon  229,629 62 - 229,691 

Buildings 40,862 17,126 (3,694) 54,294 

Lands and land improvements 3,082 79,771 - 82,853 

 

    

  273,573 96,959 (3,694) 366,838 

 

    

Accumulated depreciation     

 

    

Kanyon  44,857 5,585 - 50,442 

Buildings 17,911 2,206 (82) 20,035 

Lands and land improvements 356 34 - 390 

 

    

  63,124 7,825 (82) 70,867 

 

    

Carrying amount 210,449   295,971 

 
The current year depreciation expenses are included in cost of services sold. 
 

For the periods ending at 31 December, total rent income of Kanyon shopping centre and office complex is amounted to 

TL 70,570 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 59,118 thousand) and repair and maintenance expense of the related 

period is amounted to TL 553 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 672 thousand). 

 

Total rent income from other investment properties is amounting to TL 4,836 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 3,749 

thousand) for the period ending at 31 December 2016. 

 
As of 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, there are no pledges or liens on Group’s investment property. 
 
 
 
 

 
 



EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 
 

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.) 

 

58 

NOTE 16 - INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 

 

Fair Value 

 

Kanyon 

 

As of 31 December 2016, fair value of Kanyon is approximately TL 687 million which consist of fair value of Kanyon 

shopping centre amounting TL 275 million and fair value of Kanyon Office complex amounting TL 412 million which 

is calculated from net present value of estimated rent income of Kanyon shopping centre and office complex (31 

December 2015: fair value of Kanyon is TL 658 million which consist of fair value of Kanyon shopping centre 

amounting TL 281 million and fair value of Kanyon Office complex amounting TL 377 million, which is calculated 

from net present value of estimated rent income of Kanyon shopping centre and office complex). 

 

Other 

 

Fair value of other investment properties is amounting to TL 291,044 thousand. Aforementioned fair values are 

determined for properties that generating rent income from the net present value of anticipated rent income by the 

Company Management, whereas they are estimated for lands, which are purchased in current period by an independent 

evaluation company. This evaluation company that authorised by CMB, provides real estate valuation services pursuant 

to capital market legislation and has adequate experience and demonstrable knowledge in valuation of relevant areas. 

Upon valuation report, fair value of acquired properties is determined by comparing the imputed values that is reflected 

the actual transaction values of similar properties.  

 

  



EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 
 

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.) 

 

59 

NOTE 17 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

Cost 1 January 2016 Additions Disposals Transfers 31 December 2016 

      Lands and land improvements 17,225    - - 2,061    19,286       

Buildings  29,093    21    - 42,686    71,800    

Machinery, plant and equipment 49,505    1,131    (16,152)   10,531    45,015    

Motor vehicles 611    17    (203)    - 425    

Furniture and fixtures 18,495    2,643    (1,041)    1,533    21,630    

Construction in progress 36,691    22,226       - (58,672)    245       

Leasehold improvements 4,003    1,913    (2,255)    - 3,661    

Other tangible assets 16,791    3,951    (232)    710    21,220    

 

     

  172,414    31,902       (19,883)       (1,151)    183,282    

 

     

Accumulated depreciation      

 

     

Land improvements 25    141    - - 166    

Buildings 2,876    1,383       - - 4,259    

Machinery, plant and equipment 40,289    3,004       (15,999)    - 27,294    

Motor vehicles  539    21    (175)    - 385    

Furniture and fixtures 13,219    1,891    (759)    - 14,351    

Leasehold improvements 2,847    279    (1,164)       - 1,962       

Other tangible assets 10,438    2,268    (229)    - 12,477    

 

     

  70,233    8,987    (18,326)    - 60,894    

 
     

Carrying amount 102,181       122,388    

 
Allocation of depreciation expenses is as follows: TL 2,208 thousand in cost of goods sold, TL 4,222 thousand in general and administrative expenses, TL 2,504 thousand in 

marketing expenses and TL 53 thousand in research and development expenses. 
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NOTE 17 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 

 

Cost 1 January 2015 Additions Disposals Transfers 31 December 2015 

      Lands and land improvements 17,156 69 - - 17,225 

Buildings  27,841 559 - 693 29,093 

Machinery, plant and equipment 48,762 1,558 (815) - 49,505 

Motor vehicles 638 2 (29) - 611 

Furniture and fixtures 15,667 2,005 (120) 943 18,495 

Construction in progress 501 36,190 - - 36,691 

Leasehold improvements 4,007 267 (271) - 4,003 

Other tangible assets 13,493 3,298 - - 16,791 

 

     

  128,065 43,948 (1,235) 1,636 172,414 

 

     

Accumulated depreciation      

 

     

Land improvements 22 3 - - 25 

Buildings 2,295 581 - - 2,876 

Machinery, plant and equipment 38,644 2,285 (640) - 40,289 

Motor vehicles  544 22 (27) - 539 

Furniture and fixtures 11,551 1,726 (58) - 13,219 

Leasehold improvements 2,392 475 (20) - 2,847 

Other tangible assets 9,303 1,135 - - 10,438 

 

     

  64,751 6,227 (745) - 70,233 
 

     

Carrying amount 63,314    102,181 

 
Allocation of depreciation expenses is as follows: TL 880 thousand in cost of goods sold, TL 3,392 thousand in general and administrative expenses, TL 1,950 thousand in marketing 

expenses and TL 5 thousand in research and development expenses. 
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NOTE 18 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

Cost 1 January 2016 Additions Disposals Impairment Transfers 31 December 2016 

    

 

  Customer relations, licences and royalty 20,370    - - - - 20,370    

Rights 16,215    1,312    - - 2,239    19,766    

Computer software 16,043    2,673    (29)    - 497    19,184    

Construction in progress 3,461    1,561    -      - (1,585)    3,437    

Other intangible assets 160    66    - - - 226    

 
      

  56,249    5,612    (29)    - 1,151    62,983    

 

      

Accumulated amortisation       

 
      

Customer relations, licences and royalty 4,074    1,358    - - - 5,432    

Rights 7,038    2,019       - - - 9,057    

Computer software 11,657    1,641    (29)   - - 13,269    

Other intangible assets 132    27    - - - 159    

 

      

  22,901    5,045    (29) - - 27,917    

 

      

Carrying amount 33,348        35,066    

 

Allocation of amortisation charge is as follows: TL 1,239 thousand in cost of goods sold, TL 2,370 thousand in general and administrative expenses, TL 1,406 thousand in marketing 

expenses and TL 30 thousand in research and development expenses. 
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NOTE 18 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 

 

Cost 1 January 2015 Additions Disposals Impairment Transfers 31 December 2015 

    

 

  
Customer relations, licences and royalty 20,370 - - - - 20,370 

Rights 13,684 2,110 (630) - 1,051 16,215 

Computer software 12,152 1,384 - - 2,507 16,043 

Construction in progress 4,533 4,591 (469) - (5,194) 3,461 

Other intangible assets 129 31 - - - 160 

 

      

  50,868 8,116 (1,099) - (1,636) 56,249 

 

      

Accumulated amortisation       

 

      

Customer relations, licences and royalty 2,716 1,358 - - - 4,074 

Rights 5,941 1,501 (404) - - 7,038 

Computer software 10,759 898 - - - 11,657 

Other intangible assets 129 3 - - - 132 

 

      

  19,545 3,760 (404) - - 22,901 

 

      

Carrying amount 31,323     33,348 

 

Allocation of amortisation charge is as follows: TL 531 thousand in cost of goods sold, TL 2,049 thousand in general and administrative expenses, TL 1,177 thousand in marketing 

expenses and TL 3 thousand in research and development expenses. 
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NOTE 19 - GOODWILL 

 

The amount of goodwill at the end of 31 December is stated below: 

 

  2016 2015 

   As of 1 January 24,117 28,159 

Impairment of goodwill - (4,042) 

 

 

 

As of 31 December 24,117 24,117 

 

The goodwill carried in the statement of financial position as of reporting date is arisen from the acquisition of 

Eczacıbaşı Hijyen in 2012. 

 

The Company determined each subsidiary as the cash generating unit and the Company assesses the impairment of 

goodwill allocated to each cash-generating units annually considering their future cash flows. The Company performed 

impairment analysis of 31 December 2016 and there is no impairment of goodwill has been determined. 

 

The impairment assessment is analysed by using discounted cash flow. Weighted average cost of capital is calculated 

with the consideration of periodic risk-free rate of return, the risk of the entity and debt premium. During the analysis 

based on the valuation studies, weighted average cost of capital of 17.1% (31 December 2015: 17.2%) was applied to 

the projections.  

 

NOTE 20 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 

 

a) Provisions: 

  31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Provision for litigations 3,578 3,199 

 

  

  3,578 3,199 

 

Provision for litigations: 

 

The Group has provided provision for the lawsuits filed against the Group in the amount of TL 3,578 thousand  

(31 December 2015: TL 3,199 thousand) based on the legal opinions taken on juridical, labour, commercial and 

administrative litigations and the assessment of similar litigations’ consequences in the past. Movements of the 

provision for litigations are stated below: 

 

 

2016 2015 

   As of 1 January 3,199 2,906 

Charge for the period (Note 27) 468 979 

Reversal of provision (-) (89) (686) 

 

  

As of 31 December 3,578 3,199 
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NOTE 20 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS (Continued) 

 

b) Contingent assets: 

 

Appeal for return of tax penalty paid: 

 

The Competition Authority decided to conduct an inquiry for 8 companies, including EİP, regarding tender of the 

Training Hospitals. As a result of the inquiry, a decision was made by the Competition Board at 19 January 2007 and 

announced to the parties. With this decision, an administrative penalty amounting to TL 1,211 thousand, equivalent of 

7.5‰ of the net sales of 2001, has been imposed on EİP. Regarding the penalty mentioned a reduced payment of TL 

908 thousand has been made for early payment; there are no additional liabilities attributable to the penalty. The Group 

has applied to the Council of State for the refund of the penalty. 

 

On 20 August 2014, as a result of an investigation initiated by the Competition Board, 2 companies, including EİP were 

fined amounting to TL 930 thousand, based on the grounds that the Company violated competition rules. The Company 

benefited from the early payment option in 2015 and paid TL 698 thousand. 

 

There are no additional liabilities attributable to the penalty. The Company filed a lawsuit for the cancellation of the 

Competition Board’s decision and the reimbursement of the aforementioned amount. 

 

c) Contingent liabilities: 

 

I- Tax and tax related penalties of the Company: 

 

Tax penalty notified as at 7 April 2011 
 

Upon inspections of companies in pharmaceuticals industry by the Tax Inspectors Board of the Ministry of Finance, TL 

13,517 thousand regarding the corporate income tax (TL 3,033 thousand of the amount is attributable to additional 

corporate income tax and TL 10,484 thousand relate to temporary income tax) and TL 20,276 thousand of penalty have 

been levied against the Company by the Büyük Mükellefler Tax Administration in the tax inspection reports of the 

Company regarding 2006 and 2007. Tax and tax penalties which were notified for 31 December 2007, 26 December 2008, 

12 June 2009 and 7 April 2011 are resulted in favour of the Company and all accrued income taxes and penalties have 

been cancelled. 
 

On 29 December 2011, a VAT report is prepared by tax inspectors of Ministry of Finance in connection with tax 

inspection report related to 2006 which was resulted in favour of the Company. Based on that report, TL 3,113 thousand 

regarding the tax and TL 3,113 thousand regarding the penalty have been levied against the Company by the Büyük 

Mükellefler Tax Administration. 

 

Büyük Mükellefler Tax Administration has applied to the Council of State for the appeal of this lawsuit. The Company 

responded to the petition of the defendant and sent to the State Council. The lawsuit is still in progress in Council of State. 
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NOTE 20 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS (Continued) 

 

c) Contingent liabilities (continued): 

 

II -  Tax and tax related penalties of the Group’s joint venture EBX: 

 

With respect to inspection reports on VAT refund of services purchased by EBX, the Company’s joint venture, based on 

the inspections performed by tax auditors of Ministry of Finance: 

 

i) For the related tax and penalties, the Company applied to Commission for Tax Settlements in the Ministry of 

Finance for settlement. The Company filed a lawsuit for the related tax penalties in the Tax Court on 2 December 

2011 since no consensus was reached during the settlement. The lawsuit has resulted against EBX and an appeal 

has been filed in the Council of State on 24 July 2012. For the lawsuits lost in the Tax Court, a provision of TL 

17,764 thousand is provided for the Group’s share in total amount of TL 35,528 thousand calculated by considering 

overdue interests, based on equity method accounting for EBX. EBX is agreed on repayment schedule with the tax 

administration and made all payments. 

 

An appeal filed with Council of State with respect to 5 different cases related with tax principal and tax penalties for 

2006 advance tax, corporate tax and their withholding tax payments and appeals are concluded against EBX and 

lawsuit has been filed as part of the “Correction of Decision” set forth under Article 54 of ATPA (Administrative 

Trial Procedure Act) for such decisions concluded against EBX.  

 

An appeal has been filed with the Council of State with respect to the lawsuits concluded against EBX as part of the 

same tax audit, including VAT for 2006/6 and unjust refund (VAT) for 2007/3. For the above mentioned 2 lawsuits, 

the Council of State has not given any decision yet. 

 

ii) On 31 December 2012, tax and tax losses penalties for the year 2007 amounting to TL 35,046 thousand (the 

Group’s share is TL 17,523 thousand), which consists of TL 8,272 thousand of tax base (TL 4,159 thousand 

attributable to corporate income tax, TL 1,223 thousand attributable to withholding tax and TL 2,890 thousand 

attributable to VAT) and TL 26,774 thousand of tax penalty were notified. 

 
iii) On 4 April 2013, tax and tax losses penalties for the year 2008 amounting to TL 33,195 thousand (the Group’s 

share is TL 16,597 thousand), which consists of TL 8,094 thousand of tax base (TL 4,565 thousand attributable to 

corporate income tax and TL 1,230 thousand attributable to withholding tax and TL 2,299 thousand attributable to 

VAT) and TL 25,101 thousand of tax penalty were notified. 

  
iv) On 3 May 2013, tax and tax losses penalties for the years 2009 - 2010 amounting to TL 61,808 thousand (the 

Group’s share is TL 30,904 thousand), which consists of TL 18,424 thousand of tax base (TL 11,366 thousand 

attributable to corporate income tax and TL 7,058 thousand attributable to VAT) and TL 43,384 thousand of tax 

penalty were notified. 

 

As at 30 October 2014, EBX settled for the tax and tax losses penalties for the years 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010 since 

settlement was reached in the Commission for Tax Settlements in the Ministry of Finance for an amount of TL 49,917 

thousand. EBX paid TL 38,832 thousand for the tax and its interest after deduction of repetitive payments in 

aforementioned periods. The Group Management was recognized TL 38,000 thousand as provision in the previous 

period consolidated financial statements. 

 

v) EBX filed a lawsuit against Büyük Mükellefler Tax Administration related to offsetting 2012 VAT with 2010 VAT 

receivable amounting to TL 4,104 thousand in Istanbul Tax Court, lawsuits concluded against EBX. In this respect, 

EBX has applied to the Council of State for the appeal of this lawsuit and the lawsuits is still in progress in Council 

of State. 
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NOTE 20 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS (Continued) 
 

c) Contingent liabilities (continued): 

 

II -  Tax and tax related penalties of the Group’s joint venture EBX (Continued): 

 

vi) TL 1,223 thousand, which was offset in 2011 and included in VAT required to be reimbursed due to deliveries 

subject to reduced rates, was paid with overdue interest on 7 January 2016 with regards to payment order 

notified on 4 April 2015. 
 

VAT Receivables 

 

EBX Management has not calculated any additional impairment for VAT receivables in the current year and decreased 

previously recognized impairment amount by TL 26 thousand. 

 

III -  Tax and tax related penalties and litigation of the Group’s subsidiary EİP: 

 

Tax penalty notified as at 3 August 2012 

 

Within the scope of inspections of companies in pharmaceuticals industry by the Tax Auditors of the Ministry of Finance, 

a limited investigation has been conducted for EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. and EIP has been notified for tax 

penalties consisting of TL 570 thousand regarding VAT and TL 855 thousand for its activities of the 2010 - 2011 periods. 

Based on on-going inspection process, tax penalties for TL 282 thousand of Corporate Tax, TL 365 thousand VAT and TL 

917 thousand penalty have been notified for financial year 2010.  

 

EIP filed lawsuits for the related tax and tax penalties since no settlement was reached in Büyük Mükellefler Büyük 

Mükellefler Tax Administration. The lawsuits amounting to TL 570 thousand VAT, TL 855 thousand penalty and TL 365 

thousand VAT, TL 635 thousand penalty have concluded in favour of EIP. Tax Administration has applied to the Council 

of State for the appeal of these lawsuits and lawsuits are still in progress. 

 

The lawsuit related to TL 282 thousand attributable to corporate tax and TL 282 thousand attributable to tax penalty was 

concluded against EIP despite other lawsuits concluded in favour of EIP. EIP has applied to the council of State and the 

lawsuit is still in progress. However, Tax Court insisted on their decision by not accepting the decision of the Council of 

State. EİP has applied to the Plenary Session of the Tax Law Chamber of the Council of State for the appeal of this 

decision.  

 

The appeal of EİP has accepted by the Plenary Session of the Tax Law Chamber of the council of State; also decided to 

reversal insistent decision by a majority vote to re-decide after more detailed study has been made on the side of Tax 

Court.   

 

Tax Court demand additional information and documents from EİP and reconsidered the case after the court file was 

sent back to Istanbul 8.Tax Court. Council of State Tax Case Office accept the resolution of general assembly and 

cancel the amount with penalty. The Tax Court has canceled the assessment in accordance with the decision, but the 

decision has been appealed by the Tax Office. The files are expected to return from the Council of State.  

 

The lawsuit related to price differences from market values 

 

Various public hospitals governed by Turkish Ministry of Health (“MoH”) claimed approximately TL 1,749 thousand for 

the refund of price differences determined between the prices of medical supplies at which the Group sold to these public 

hospitals and the market values which were determined by Market Value Settlement Committee established by Social 

Security Institution Health Administration Department based on the vesting deed given by the Group in 1998. The Group 

faced lawsuits filed against it by the MoH for the collection of these claims amounting to approximately TL 403 thousand; 

preliminary hearings and discovery proceedings in these lawsuits are in progress. Considering the continuing legal process 

and uncertainty regarding the ultimate outcome of the matter, no provision has been provided in the consolidated financial 

statements. 
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NOTE 20 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS (Continued) 

 

d) Guarantees given and taken: 

 

 
31 December 2016 

     Guarantees given USD EUR TL Total 

     Suretyship declaration for bank borrowings - - - - 

Letters of guarantee - - 15,031 15,031 

Guaranteed bills of exchange - - - - 

 

    

  - - 15,031 15,031 

 

    

Guarantees taken     

 

    

Letters of guarantee 7,511 88 112,525 120,124 

Mortgages - - 26,137 26,137 

Guaranteed bills of exchange  517 - 3,836 4,353 

 

    

  8,028 88 142,498 150,614 

 

    

 
31 December 2015 

     Guarantees given USD EUR TL Total 

     Suretyship declaration for bank borrowings - - - - 

Letters of guarantee - - 18,246 18,246 

Guaranteed bills of exchange - - - - 

 

    

  - - 18,246 18,246 

 

    

Guarantees taken     

 

    

Letters of guarantee 8,618 236 87,400 96,254 

Mortgages - - 26,780 26,780 

Guaranteed bills of exchange  427 - 3,821 4,248 

 

    

  9,045 236 118,001 127,282 

 

Letters and guaranteed bills of exchange were given to suppliers and government institutions. Mortgages, cheques and 

guaranteed bills of exchange were taken from customer for trade receivables of the Group. 
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NOTE 20 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS (Continued) 

 

d) Guarantees given and taken (continued): 

 

Collateral/pledge/mortgage (“CPM”) position of the majority shareholder EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç Sınai ve Finansal 

Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. as of 31 December is as follows: 

 

  
31 December 

2016 

31 December 

2015 

   A.   CPMs given for Company’s own legal personality (*) 15,031 18,246 

- Collateral (Fully denominated in TL) 15,031 18,246 

- Pledge - - 

- Mortgage - - 

B.   CPMs given on behalf of fully consolidated companies - - 

- Collateral  - - 

- Pledge - - 

- Mortgage - - 

C.   CPMs given in the normal course of business activities on behalf of third parties - - 

D.   Total amount of other CPMs - - 

       i.    Total amount of CPMs given on behalf of the parent - - 

- Collateral  - - 

- Pledge - - 

- Mortgage - - 

       ii.   Total amount of CPMs given to on behalf of other Group companies 

which are not in scope of B and C - - 

       iii.  Total amount of CPMs given on behalf of third parties which are not 

in scope of C - - 

 

  

  15,031 18,246 
 

(*) TL 151 thousand of total amount (31 December 2015: TL 131 thousand) presents “CPM” position of the 

majority shareholder EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 

 

Proportion of other CPMs given to the Group’s equity as of 31 December 2016 is 0% (31 December 2015: 0%). 

 
 

NOTE 21 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

 

Employee benefit obligations 

 

 

31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Wages payable to employees 1,143 1,075 

Social security premiums payable 3,024 1,726 

 

  

  4,167 2,801 

 

Short-term provisions for employee benefits 
 

  31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Provision for unused vacations 5,928 5,042 

 

  

 

5,928 5,042 
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NOTE 21 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued) 

 

Short-term provisions for employee benefits (continued) 

 

Provision for unused vacations: 

 

Movements in the provision for unused vacation are as follows as of 31 December: 

 

2016 2015 

   As of 1 January 5,042 4,539 

Charge for the period (Note 25) 1,574 1,111 

Payments during the period (-) (688) (608) 

 

  

As of 31 December 5,928 5,042 

 

Long-term provisions for employee benefits 

 

Provision for employment termination benefits: 
 

Under Turkish Labour Law, the Company and its Turkish Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures are required to pay 

termination benefits to each employee who has completed one year of service and whose employment is terminated 

without due cause, who is called up for military service, dies or retires after completing 25 years of service (20 years for 

women) and reaches the retirement age (58 for women and 60 for men). Some transition provisions related to the pre-

retirement service term were excluded from the law since the related law was amended as of 23 May 2002. 

 

As of 31 December 2016, the amount payable consists of one month’s salary limited to a maximum of 4,297.21 TL (31 

December 2015: TL 4,092.53) for each year of service. 

 

The liability is not funded as there is no funding requirement. The provision has been calculated by estimating the 

present value of the future probable obligation of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret 

A.Ş. and its subsidiaries and joint ventures registered in Turkey arising from the retirement of employees. 

 

TAS 19 “Employee Benefits” published by TASB require actuarial valuation methods to be developed to estimate the 

enterprise’s obligation under defined benefit plans.  

 

Accordingly the following actuarial assumptions were used in the calculation of the total liability: 

 

2016 2015 

   Discount rate (%) 4.11 4.11 

Turnover rate to estimate the probability of retirement (%) (*) 89 - 98 89 - 98 

 

(*) Turnover rate to estimate the probability of retirement is applied for employees with 0-15 years of service, 

whereas it is applied as 100% for those with 16 or more years of service. 

 

The principal assumption is that the maximum liability for each year of service will increase in line with inflation. Thus, 

the discount rate applied represents the expected real rate after adjusting for the anticipated effects of future inflation.  
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NOTE 21 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued) 

 

Long-term provisions for employee benefits (continued) 

 

Provision for employment termination benefits (continued): 
 

Movements in the provision for employment termination benefits are as follows as of 31 December: 

 

 

2016 2015 

   As of 1 January 7,533 3,293 

Charge for the period (Note 25) 1,435 2,227 

Actuarial loss / (gain) - 2,966 

Payments during the period (-) (1,194) (953) 

 

  

As of 31 December 7,774 7,533 

 

NOTE 22 - OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

 

Other current assets 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   VAT receivables 15,555 24,211 

Advances given to personnel 81 74 

Others 11 11 

 

  

  15,647 24,296 

   

Other non-current assets 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   VAT receivables 13,847 23,100 
    

 

13,847 23,100 

 

Other current liabilities 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 
   

Liabilities due to acquisition of subsidiary 2,754 4,912 

VAT payables 104 86 

Others 680 21 

 

  

  3,538 5,019 

 

Other non-current liabilities 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

  

 

Liabilities due to acquisition of subsidiary - 2,533 

 

  

  - 2,533    
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NOTE 23 - CAPITAL, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY ITEMS  
 

EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. adopted the registered share capital system available 

to companies registered with the CMB and set a limit on its registered share capital representing registered type shares with a 

nominal value of Kr 1. There are no privileged shares, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.’s subscribed, historical and 

authorised share capital for the years ended at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 are as follows: 

 

 

31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Limit on registered share capital (historical value) 685,260 548,208 

Authorised share capital approved with nominal value 685,260 548,208 

 

Companies in Turkey may exceed the limit on their registered share capital if they distribute bonus shares to their 

shareholders. 

 

At 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the shareholders of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve 

Ticaret A.Ş. and their proportion of ownership interests in historical share capital are as follows: 

 

Shareholders % 

31 December 

2016 % 

31 December 

2015 

     Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 50.62 346,845 50.62 277,476 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Holding Ortaklığı A.Ş. 29.20 200,117 28.43 155,865 

Other (Listed) (*) 20.18 138,298 20.95 114,867 

 

  

  

Total 100.00 685,260 100.00 548,208 

 

  

  
Adjustment to share capital  105,777 

 

105,777 

 

  

  

Total authorised share capital  791,037 

 
653,985 

 
(*)  Within the framework of Capital Markets Board’s decision, dated 23 July 2010 and numbered 21/655, actual 

rates of the shares in circulation of the listed companies in BIST are announced on a weekly basis starting from 

the period ended 30 September 2010, became effective as of 1 October 2010 by the Central Registry Agency 

(“CRA”). According to the report published by CRA on 31 December 2016, 20.17 % (31 December 2015: 

20.92%) of the Group’s shares in circulation are presented in the other group 

 

Adjustment to share capital represents the difference between the cash contributions adjusted for inflation and the cash 

contributions prior to adjustment for inflation. 

 

Retained earnings in statutory accounts can be distributed except jurisdiction stated below related to legal reserves. 

 

The legal reserves consist of first and second reserves, appropriated in accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code 

(“TCC”). The TCC stipulates that the first legal reserve is appropriated out of statutory profits at the rate of 5% per annum, 

until the total reserve reaches 20% of the Company’s paid-in/authorised share capital. The second legal reserve is appropriated 

at the rate of 10% per annum of all cash distributions in excess of 5% of the paid-in/authorised share capital. Under the TCC, 

the legal reserves can only be used to offset losses and are not available for any other usage unless they exceed 50% of paid-

in/authorised share capital. Total amount of legal reserves of the Company is TL 78,111 thousand (31 December 2015:  

TL 53,626 thousand). 
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7 

NOTE 23 - CAPITAL, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY ITEMS (Continued) 

 

The aforementioned legal reserves and special reserves shall be classified in “Restricted reserves” in accordance with 

POA Financial Reporting Standards. Details of the restricted reserves as of 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 

are as follows: 

 

 

31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Legal reserves 78,111 53,626 

Gain on sale of shares of associates 199,802 259,137 

 

  

  277,913 312,763 

 

Retained earnings 

 

In accordance with the CMB regulations effective previously, the inflation adjustment differences arising at the initial 

application of inflation accounting which were recorded under “accumulated losses” could be netted off from the profit 

to be distributed based on CMB profit distribution regulations. In addition, the aforementioned amount recorded under 

“accumulated losses” could be netted off with net income for the period and if any, undistributed prior period profits 

and inflation adjustment differences of extraordinary reserves, legal reserves and capital, respectively. 

 

On the same basis, in accordance with the CMB regulations effective until 1 January 2008, “Capital, Share Premiums, 

Legal Reserves, Special Reserves and Extraordinary Reserves” were recorded at their statutory carrying amounts and 

the inflation adjustment differences related to such accounts were recorded under “inflation adjustment differences” at 

the initial application of inflation accounting. “Equity inflation adjustment differences” could have been utilised by 

issuing bonus shares and offsetting accumulated losses, carrying amount of extraordinary reserves could have been 

utilised in issuing bonus shares, cash dividend distribution and offsetting accumulated losses. 

 

In accordance with Communiqué Serial: XI, No: 29 and related announcements of the CMB, effective from 1 January 

2008, “Share capital”, “Restricted Reserves” and “Share Premiums” shall be carried at their statutory amounts. The 

valuation differences shall be classified as follows: 

 

- the difference arising from the “Paid-in Capital” and not been transferred to capital yet, shall be classified under 

the “Inflation Adjustment to Share Capital”; 

 

- the difference due to the inflation adjustment of “Restricted Reserves” and “Share Premium” and the amount that 

has not been utilised in dividend distribution or capital increase yet, shall be classified under “Prior years’ 

income”. 

 

Other equity items shall be carried at the amounts calculated based on CMB Financial Reporting Standards. Inflation 

adjustment to capital has no usage other than being added to share capital. 
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NOTE 23 - CAPITAL, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY ITEMS (Continued) 

 

Dividend Distribution 

 

Listed companies are subject to dividend requirements regulated by the CMB as follows: 

 

According to the Article 19 of the Capital Market Law, numbered 6362 and effective from 30 December 2012, and 

Dividend Communiqué of CMB, numbered II-19.1 and effective from 1 February 2014, listed companies shall distribute 

their profits within the framework of the profit distribution policies to be determined by their general assemblies and in 

accordance with the prevailing regulations. Regarding the profit distribution policies of the listed companies, CMB may set 

different principles on companies with similar qualifications. 

 

In accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code, unless the required reserves and the dividend for shareholders as 

determined in the Articles of Association or in the dividend distribution policy of the company are set aside; no decision 

may be taken to set up other reserves, to transfer profits to the subsequent year or to distribute dividends to the holders of 

usufruct shares, to the members of the board of directors or to the employees; and no dividend can be distributed to these 

people unless the determined dividend for shareholders is paid in cash. 

 

For the listed companies, dividend distribution is made evenly to all existing shares as of the date of dividend distribution 

without considering the dates of issuance and acquisition of the shares. Companies shall distribute their profits through 

general assembly decisions in accordance with the profit distribution policies to be determined by their general assemblies 

as well as the related provisions of the prevailing regulations. A minimum distribution rate has not been determined in 

these regulations. The companies pay dividends as determined in their articles of associations or profit distribution policies. 

Furthermore, dividends may be paid in instalments with same or different amounts and profit share advances may be 

distributed over the profit in the interim financial statements. 

 

In accordance with Article 26 of the Company’s Articles of Association, decision to be taken by the General Assembly, the 

dividends are distributed after the first legal reserves set aside over income before tax, financial obligations and first level 

dividends based on Capital Markets Board legislation. As of 31 December 2016, the distributable profit of the Company is 

TL 223,402 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 100,648 thousand) and available distributable resources amount to TL 

184,449 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 322,272 thousand) according to the statutory financial statements. 

 

NOTE 24 - REVENUE 

 

  2016 2015 

   Domestic sales  2,279,415 1,880,908 

Exports  13,263 14,662 

 

 

 

Gross sales 2,292,678          1,895,570       

 

 

 Sales returns (-) (58,247) (40,889) 

Sales discounts (-) (821,786) (684,118) 

 

 

 

Net sales 1,412,645       1,170,563    

 

  

Cost of sales (-) (1,056,190) (907,688) 

 

  

Gross profit 356,455       262,875    
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NOTE 25 -  GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES, MARKETING EXPENSES, RESEARCH AND 

DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES 

 

Marketing expenses 2016 2015 

   Personnel expenses 80,145 63,042 

Advertisement, presentation and promotion expenses 63,054 48,205 

Transportation, distribution and warehousing expenses 21,311 17,452 

Rent expenses 6,845 6,889 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses (Notes 17 and 18)  3,910 3,127 

Travelling expenses 3,731 2,882 

Technical support, license and know-how expenses 3,235 908 

Fuel, energy and water expenses 3,198 3,614 

Training service expenses 2,791 817 

Consultancy expenses 508 1,099 

Other 16,363 9,532 

 

 

 

 

205,091    157,567 

   General administrative expenses 2016 2015 

   Personnel expenses 39,951 43,068 

Consultancy expenses  17,584 16,637 

Rent expenses 8,332 6,557 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses (Notes 17 and 18) 6,592 5,441 

Repair and maintenance expenses 5,246 2,557 

Miscellaneous taxes 4,384 5,104 

Advertisement and public relation expenses 2,743 4,085 

Dues and office expenses 2,308 1,913 

Provision for unpaid vacation (Note 21) 1,574 1,111 

Provision for employment termination benefits (Note 21) 1,435 2,227 

Provision expense for doubtful receivables (Note 11) 266 531 

Other 7,955 6,624 
   

 98,370    95,855 

 

Research and development expenses 2016 2015 

   Personnel expenses 1,767    1,353 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses (Notes 17 and 18) 83    8 
  

 
 1,850    1,361 
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NOTE 26 - EXPENSES BY NATURE 

 

 

2016 2015 

   Purchase and consumption of inventories 996,544 861,147 

Personnel expenses 131,961 119,689 

Advertisement and promotion expense  63,054 48,205 

Transportation, distribution and warehousing expenses 21,311 17,452 

Depreciation and amortisation expense (Notes 16, 17 and 18) 21,261 17,812 

Changes in inventories 20,719 5,106 

Consultancy expense 18,092 17,736 

Rent expenses 15,177 13,446 

Contract manufacturing expense 10,976 9,221 

Provision for employment termination benefits (Note 21) 1,435 2,227 

Other 60,971 50,430 

 

 

 

 
1,361,501 1,162,471    

 

NOTE 27 - OTHER OPERATING INCOME / EXPENSES 

 

Other operating income 2016 2015 

   Foreign exchange gains from bank deposits 154,330    154,796 

Interest income from bank deposits 22,281    16,626 

Credit finance income 17,188    15,262 

Compensation income 2,202    257 

Foreign exchange gains from trade receivables and payables 1,261    4,083 

Collections from doubtful receivables (Note 11) 82    143 

Other 2,106    3,880 

 

 

 

 

199,450    195,047 

 

Other operating expenses 2016 2015 

 

 

 Foreign exchange losses from bank deposits 55,035    52,623 

Foreign exchange losses from trade receivables and payables 14,724    1,395 

Credit finance expenses 9,909    10,910 

Provision for diminution in value of inventories (Note 13) 4,880    3,523 

Provision expense for legal case (Note 20) 468    979 

Donation expenses 363    530 

Compensation expenses - 1,737 

Other 10,307    7,663 

 

  

 

95,686    79,360 



EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 
 

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.) 

 

76 

NOTE 28 - INCOME / EXPENSES FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  

 

Income from investing activities 2016 2015 

   Dividend income (Note 10.b) 59,705 8,310 

Gain on sales of fixed assets 3,443 137 

Gain on sales of financial assets 1,082 19 

Other 17 - 

 

 

 

 

64,247       8,466 

 

Expenses from investing activities 2016 2015 

   Loss on sales of fixed assets 841 92 

Impairment of goodwill - 4,042 
   

 

841 4,134 

 

NOTE 29 - FINANCIAL INCOME / EXPENSES 

 

Financial income 2016 2015 

   Derivative transactions incomes 9,869 - 

 

 

 

 

9,869    - 

 

Financial expenses 2016 2015 

   Interest expense from bank borrowings 22,498 22,091 

Fair value changes recognized in profit and loss - 174 

Foreign exchange losses 1,869 2,578 

Commissions of letter of guarantees 607 344 

Derivative transactions expenses 86 - 

Other 330 243 

 

 

 

 

25,390    25,430 
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NOTE 30 - TAXES ON INCOME (DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED) 

 

a) Current income tax on profits: 

 

  

  

31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   

 

 Corporate and income taxes payable (Company) 

  

32,392 26,852 

Prepaid taxes (-) (Company) 

  

(14,230) (26,852) 

   18,162 - 

Corporate and income taxes payable (subsidiaries)   - - 

Prepaid taxes (-) (subsidiaries)   (327) (6,050) 

   (327) (6,050) 

   

  

Current income tax liabilities (net) 

  

17,835    (6,050) 

 

Turkish tax legislation does not permit a parent company and its Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates to file a 

consolidated tax return. Therefore, provisions for taxes, as reflected in these consolidated financial statements, have been 

calculated on a separate-entity basis. 

 

Corporate Tax Law is changed with Law No, 5520 dated 13 June 2006, and most of the articles of mentioned law have 

become effective as of 1 January 2006. Accordingly, corporate tax rate in Turkey is 20% for 2016 (2015: 20%). 

Corporation tax is payable on the total income of the Company after adjusting for certain disallowable expenses, corporate 

income tax exemptions (participation exemption, investment incentive allowance, etc.) and corporate income tax 

deductions (like research and development expenditures deduction). No further tax is payable unless the profit is 

distributed except withholding tax at the rate of 19.8% on the investment incentive allowance utilised within the scope of 

the Income Tax Law transitional Article 61. 

 

Dividends paid to non-resident corporations, which have a place of business in Turkey, or resident corporations are not 

subject to withholding tax. Otherwise, dividends paid are subject to withholding tax at the rate of 15%. An increase in 

capital via issuing bonus shares is not considered as a profit distribution and thus does not incur withholding tax. 

 

Corporations are required to pay advance corporation tax quarterly at the rate of 20% on their corporate income by 

preparing tax declaration within the period of two months and 14 days subsequent to the corresponding quarter. Advance 

tax is payable by the 17th of the second month following each calendar quarter end. Advance tax paid by corporations is 

credited against the annual corporation tax liability. The balance of the advance tax paid may be refunded or used to set off 

against other liabilities to the government. 

 

In accordance with Tax Law No, 5024 “Law Related to Changes in Tax Procedural Law, Income Tax Law and Corporate 

Tax Law” that was published on the Official Gazette on 30 December 2003 to amend the tax base for non-monetary assets 

and liabilities, effective from 1 January 2004, income and corporate taxpayers will prepare the statutory financial 

statements by adjusting the non-monetary assets and liabilities for the changes in the general purchasing power of Turkish 

lira. In accordance with the aforementioned law provisions, in order to apply inflation adjustment, cumulative inflation rate 

(SIS-WPI) over last 36 months and 12 months must exceed 100% and 10%, respectively. Inflation adjustment was not 

applied as these conditions were not fulfilled in the fiscal year 2016 and 2015. 

 

Under the Turkish taxation system, tax losses can be carried forward to offset against future taxable income for up to five 

years. Tax losses cannot be carried back to offset profits from previous periods 

 

Turkish Corporate Tax Law No, 5422 on “Exemption of real estate and investment sales gains” has been amended by Law 

No: 5520 effective from 1 January 2006. A 75% portion of the gains derived from the sale of preferential rights, usufruct 

shares and founding shares from investment equity and real property which has remained in assets for more than two full 

years is exempt from corporate tax. 

 

http://tureng.com/tr/turkce-ingilizce/subsidiaries
http://tureng.com/tr/turkce-ingilizce/subsidiaries
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NOTE 30 - TAXES ON INCOME (DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED) (Continued) 

 

a) Current income tax on profits (continued): 

 

In accordance with Article 32/A4 added with the New Corporate Tax Law No. 5838 Article 9, the discounted rate is 

applied to the earnings derived from capacity expansion investment, when these earnings could be accounted separately in 

the books of a company. When these earnings could not be accounted separately in the books, the earnings, to which the 

discounted rate will be applied, is determined by using the percentage of the amount of capacity expansion investment to 

the carrying amount of registered total tangible asset (including amounts relating to construction in progress) that company 

at period end. For this calculation, the carrying amount of registered total tangible asset in the company assets is taken into 

consideration with their revalued amounts. The application of the discounted rate commences in the advance tax period in 

which the investment partly or fully starts to its operations. 

 

The taxes on income reflected to the consolidated income statement of the twelve months period ended 31 December are 

summarized below: 

 

 

2016 2015 

   Current income tax charge (-) (32,392) (26,852) 

Deferred tax revenue 2,761  8,178  

 

 

 

Total income tax charge (-) (29,631) (18,674)  

 

The reconciliation as of 31 December corporation tax expense included in the consolidated statement of income to the 

tax expense calculated with the current tax rate on the consolidated income before taxes is as follows: 

 

      31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

     Profit / (loss) before tax   197,188 73,653 

Current year corporation tax expense   (39,438) (14,731) 

Disallowable expenses   (1,592) (808) 

Tax effect of exempt income   11,941 1,662 

Tax losses used in the current period and disregarded in the  

calculation of deferred tax assets in the previous periods 

  

- 1,192 

Tax losses disregarded in the calculation of deferred tax assets in the 

previous periods and recognised in the current period 

  

5,481 2,393 

Tax losses disregarded in the calculation of deferred tax   (5,691) (1,300) 

Items disregarded in the calculation of deferred tax   789 (1,276) 

Equity method accounting   (1,121) (5,806) 

   

  

Total income tax charge (-) 

  

(29,631) (18,674) 

 

b) Deferred tax: 

 

The Group recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities based upon temporary differences arising between the financial 

statements prepared in accordance with CMB Financial Reporting Standards and the tax financial statements. Such 

temporary differences generally arise due to revenues and expenses being recognized in different fiscal periods in 

accordance with tax regulations and CMB Financial Reporting Standards. The tax rate used for deferred tax assets and 

liabilities is 20% (31 December 2015: 20%). 
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NOTE 30 - TAXES ON INCOME (DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED) (Continued) 

 

b) Deferred tax (continued): 

 

The breakdown of cumulative temporary differences and the resulting deferred tax assets and liabilities provided at 31 

December 2016 and 31 December 2015 using the enacted tax rates is as follows: 
 

 

Cumulative temporary 

differences 

 

Deferred tax 

assets / (liabilities) 
      

  

31 

December 

2016 

31 

December 

2015 

 

31 

December 

2016 

31 

December 

2015 

      Tax losses carried forward (34,457) (28,212)  6,891 5,642 

Difference between the tax base and carrying amount of      

   investment property, property, plant and equipment      

   and intangible assets (30,895) (30,177)  6,179 6,239 

Provision for doubtful receivables (6,319) (6,163)  1,264 1,233 

Provision for unused vacation (5,928) (5,042)  1,186 1,008 

Provision for employment termination benefits (7,774) (7,533)  1,555 1,507 

Provision for litigations (3,578) (3,199)  716 640 

Deferred credit finance income (3,964) (1,805)  793 361 

Other (335) (285)  67 57 
      

Deferred tax assets (**) (93,250) (82,416)   18,651 16,687 

 

     

Fair value differences of  

    available-for-sale financial assets (*) 1,999,530 1,519,403  (99,981) (75,974) 

Difference between the tax base and carrying      

   amount of inventories 3,557 1,681  (711) (336) 

Derivative instruments income / (expense) accruals 6,512 -  1,302 - 

Deferred credit finance expenses 2,892 2,239  (578) (448) 

 

     

Deferred tax liabilities (-) (**) 2,012,491 1,523,323   (99,968) (76,758) 

 

     

Deferred tax liabilities, net 1,919,241 1,440,907   (81,317) (60,071) 
 

(*)  Difference between fair value and book value amounts to TL 1,999,530 thousand (31 December 2015:  

TL 1,519,403 thousand) and based on the 75% exemption from the corporate tax denoted in Article 5, subsection 

(1), clause (e) of Corporate Tax Law No, 5520, deferred tax is calculated by applying 5% effective tax rate 
 

(**)  Since deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in the schedule above are summarized by nature of the 

temporary differences subject to deferred tax, they express the offset of deferred tax asset amounting to  

TL 105,044 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 79,775 thousand) and deferred tax liability amounting to  

TL 23,727 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 19,704 thousand) presented in the financial statements, which are 

calculated on a separate entity basis for all companies included in the scope of consolidation. 

 

Based on the assessment made, the Group has not recognized any deferred tax assets over deductible temporary 

differences amounting to TL 22,085 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 69,327 thousand) as of 31 December 2016 

considering available evidence with respect to the utilization of those assets in the foreseeable future. Hence the amount 

of TL 4,417 thousand deferred tax assets which are calculated over deductible temporary differences has not been 

recognized (31 December 2015: TL 13,865 thousand). 
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NOTE 30 - TAXES ON INCOME (DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED) (Continued) 

 

b) Deferred tax (continued): 

 

Expiration schedule of carry forward tax losses is as follows: 

 

   

31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   

 

 

To expire in 2016 

  

- 14,954 

To expire in 2017   2,546 8,464 

To expire in 2018 

  

2,556 14,162 

To expire in 2019 

  

- 25,247 

To expire in 2020   1,706 6,500 

To expire in 2021   15,277 - 

   

  

   22,085 69,327 

 

Since each subsidiary and joint venture are separate taxpayers, net deferred tax assets or liabilities for each of these 

taxpayers have been calculated; however these have not been offset in the consolidated balance sheets. 

 

The movement of deferred tax liabilities in the period is as follows: 

 

  2016 2015 

   As of 1 January (60,071) (70,833) 

Current year deferred tax (expense) / benefit 2,761 8,178 

Deferred tax liability accounted under equity resulting from   

   increase in value of available-for-sale financial assets (*) (24,007) 1,992 

Deferred tax liability accounted under equity resulting from      

   actuarial gain / loss (*) - 592 

 
  

As of 31 December (81,317) (60,071) 

 

(*)  Consists of taxes which are charged directly to equity. There is no any taxes which are transferred from equity to 

profit and loss. 
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NOTE 31 - EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 

  2016 2015 

   Net gain / (loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company 184,803 67,647 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares with face value of Kr 1 each (*) 67,546,552,900 60,754,300,000 
      

Basic and diluted earnings / (loss) per share 0.2736       0.1113 

 

(*)  Since the capital is increased by making a pro-rata distribution of existing equity items, the weighted average of 

the shares of the year 2015 has been restated.  

  
During the period, dividends amounting to TL 219,283 thousand were distributed over 2015 profits (In 2015, dividend 
amounting to TL 43,857 thousand were distributed over 2014 profits). For both dividend distributions, dividend paid per 
share is TL 0.10 (In 2014, dividend paid per share is TL 0.10). 

 

NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

The Group is exposed to variety of financial risks due to its operations. These risks include credit risk, market risk 

(foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme 

focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s 

financial performance. Financial risk management is carried out by the Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures of the Group 

under policies approved by their own Boards of Directors. 

 

a) Credit risk 

 

The ownership of financial assets is exposed to the risk that the counterparty complies with contractual terms. These 

risks are managed by credit evaluation and distribution of the total risk of a single counterparty. Credit risk is distributed 

via the number of institutes that form the customer database and their different fields of business activities. The Group 

collects its receivables before their maturity with factoring practices, as may be required. This is an application parallel 

to irreversible risk management. 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

a) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Details of credit and receivable risk as of 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 are as follows: 
 

 

Trade receivables from 

 
Other receivables from 

   
       

  

 31 December 2016 Related parties Other   Related parties Other   Deposit in bank  Other (*) 

         Maximum credit risk exposed as of balance sheet date (**) 26,374 313,727  1,902 572  661,534    3,478    

 

        

- Secured portion of the maximum credit risk by guarantees -    (39,599)  - -  - - 

 

        

A. Net book value of financial assets that are neither past due nor  impaired 26,033 245,360  1,902 572  661,534    - 

 

        

B. Carrying value of financial assets that are past due but not impaired (***) 341 68,367     -      -       -      3,478    

 

        

C. Net book value of the impaired assets         

   - Past due (gross carrying amount) -      8,349     - -  - - 

   - Impairment (-) -      (8,349)  - -  - - 

   - Secured portion of the net carrying value by guarantees, etc. - -  - -  - - 

   - Not overdue (gross amount) - -  - -  - - 

   - Impairment (-) - -  - -  - - 

   - Secured portion of the net carrying value by guarantees, etc. - -  - -  - - 

 

        

D. Off-balance sheet items include credit risk - -  - -  - - 
 

(*) Item contains the financial assets measured at fair value and attributable to income statements. 
 

(**) The area implies the sum of A, B, C and D. Amounts showing the maximum credit risk exposed as of balance sheet date by excluding guarantees in hand and other factors that 

increase the credit quality. 
 

(***) As of 31 December 2016, the aging explanations related with past due but not impaired assets indicated in the aging table of “Past due but not impaired trade receivables”. 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

a) Credit risk (continued) 

 

 

Trade receivables from 

 
Other receivables from 

   
       

  

 31 December 2015 Related parties Other   Related parties Other   Deposit in bank  Other (*) 

         Maximum credit risk exposed as of balance sheet date (**) 4,713 214,553  - 352  699,003 6,836 

 

        

- Secured portion of the maximum credit risk by guarantees - (73,010)  - -  - - 

 

        

A. Net book value of financial assets that are neither past due nor  impaired 4,451 154,852  - 352  699,003 3,810 

 

        

B. Carrying value of financial assets that are past due but not impaired (***) 262 59,701  - -  - 3,026 

 

        

C. Net book value of the impaired assets    - -  - - 

   - Past due (gross carrying amount) - 8,253  - -  - - 

   - Impairment (-) - (8,253)  - -  - - 

   - Secured portion of the net carrying value by guarantees, etc. - -  - -  - - 

   - Not overdue (gross amount) - -  - -  - - 

   - Impairment (-) - -  - -  - - 

   - Secured portion of the net carrying value by guarantees, etc. - -  - -  - - 

 

        

D. Off-balance sheet items include credit risk - -  - -  - - 
 

(*) Item contains the financial assets measured at fair value and attributable to income statements. 
 

(**) The area implies the sum of A, B, C, and D Amounts showing the maximum credit risk exposed as of balance sheet date by excluding guarantees in hand and other factors that 

increase the credit quality. 
 

(***) As of 31 December 2015, the aging explanations related with past due but not impaired assets indicated in the aging table of “Past due but not impaired trade receivables”. 



EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 
 

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.) 

 

84 

NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

a) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Details of the past due but not impaired receivables for the years ended at 31 December 2016 and 2015 are as follows: 

 

 
Trade receivables from 

      
 

31 December 2016 Related parties Other   Other 

     Past due up to 30 days 341    29,780     - 

Past due 1 - 3 months - 27,820     - 

Past due 3 - 12 months - 10,036     - 

Past due 1 - 5 year (*) - 731     3,478    

 

    

  341 68,367     3,478    

 

    

 
Trade receivables from 

      
 

31 December 2015 Related parties Other   Other 

     Past due up to 30 days 258 21,197  - 

Past due 1 - 3 months - 23,349  - 

Past due 3 - 12 months 1 15,038  - 

Past due 1 - 5 year (*) 3 117  3,026 

 

    

  262 59,701  3,026 

 

    

(*) The most of past due 1 - 5 year receivables consist of the legal authorities and the Group does not expect any 

recoverability risk on receivables. 

 

b) Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk management consists of the holding sufficient cash and cash equivalents, funding via loans and capability to 

close short positions. Additionally, the Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding by maintaining the availability of 

committed credit lines. 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

b) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

The analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities with respect to their maturities is as follows: 

 

 
31 December 2016 

        

    

Contractual terms 

Financial liabilities Carrying Contractual 

 

Up to  3 - 12  1 - 5 

More 

than 

(non-derivative) value cash outflows 

 

3 months months years 5 years 

        
        

Financial liabilities due to related parties 121,726 122,483  85,846 36,637 - - 

Other financial liabilities 118,167 127,318  50,205 42,329 34,784 - 

Trade payables due to related parties 145,112 146,321  146,321 - - - 

Other trade payables 203,531 205,148  178,199 26,949 - - 

Other payables 2,754 2,754  - 2,754 - - 

 

       

Total non-derivative         

financial liabilities 591,290 604,024  460,571 108,669 34,784 - 

 

 
31 December 2015 

      

    

Contractual terms 

Financial liabilities Carrying Contractual 

 

Up to  3 - 12 1 - 5 

More 

than 

(non-derivative) value cash outflows   3 months months years 5 years 

        Other financial liabilities 142,629 156,366  5,189 111,810 39,367 - 

Trade payables due to related parties 110,413 121,321  65,759 19,209 26,439    9,914    

Other trade payables 117,422 118,071  118,071 - - - 

Other payables due to related parties 135,725 137,315  99,279 38,036 - - 

Other payables 7,445 7,445  4,912 - 2,533 - 

 

       

Total non-derivative        

financial liabilities 513,634 540,518  293,210 169,055 68,339    9,914 

 



EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 
 

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.) 

 

86 

NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c) Market risk 

 

i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 

 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest-bearing liabilities and assets, 

these exposures are managed by offsetting interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities and using derivative instruments 

when considered necessary. 

 

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk through floating interest rates bank borrowings. The Group is also 

exposed to fair value interest risk through fixed rate bank borrowings. As of 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, 

the Group’s financial liabilities with floating interest rates are TL, USD and EUR denominated. 

 

 

31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Financial instruments with fixed interest rates: 

  
   Financial assets 

 

  

 - Cash and cash equivalents 661,541 699,023 

 

  

Financial liabilities   

 - Financial liabilities 172,462 75,188 

 

Financial instruments with floating interest rates:   

   

Financial liabilities   

 - Financial liabilities 67,431 177,854 

 

As disclosed above the Group’s financial instruments have fixed interest rates. However as indicated in Note 9, related 

financial instruments maturities are 6 months or shorter. Therefore those financial instruments are interest sensitive and 

the impact on the profit or loss of 100 basis points change in the interest rates is as follows: 

 

At 31 December 2016, if interest rates at contractual re-pricing dates of TL denominated financial liabilities with 

variable interest rates has strengthened/weakened by 100 basis points (1%) against TL with all other variables held 

constant, profit before tax would have been TL 674 thousand (31 December 2015: TL 1,779 thousand) higher / lower as 

a result of interest expenses. 

 

Sensitivity analysis of fair value liquidity discount rates used for financial investments and rates used for discounted cash 

flows are presented in Note 8. 

 

ii) Foreign exchange risk 

 

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk through conversion of liabilities to functional currency. The risks get 

under control via analysing foreign exchange positions. 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c) Market risk (continued) 

 

ii) Foreign exchange risk (continued) 

 

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange rate risk mainly for EUR and USD, in this context, the exchange risk 

analysis related with main foreign currencies as follows: 

 

 
31 December 2016 

      

 
Profit / Loss 

 

Equity 

      

 

Appreciation 

of foreign 

Depreciation  

of foreign 

 

Appreciation 

of foreign 

Depreciation  

of foreign 

  currency   currency      currency   currency    

      In case of 10% change in USD against TL: 
    

      USD net asset / (liability) 37,312 (37,312)  37,312 (37,312) 

Secured position (-) - -  - - 

 

     

USD net effect 37,312 (37,312)  37,312 (37,312) 

      In case of 10% change in EUR against TL: 
    

      EUR net asset / (liability) 4,134 (4,134)  4,134 (4,134) 

Secured position (-) - -  - - 

 

     

EUR net effect 4,134 (4,134)  4,134 (4,134) 

      In case of 10% change in other foreign exchange rates against TL: 
    

      Other foreign currency net asset / (liability) (82) 82  (82) 82 

Secured position (-) - -  - - 
 

     

Other foreign currencies net effect  (82) 82  (82) 82 

 

     

  41,364 (41,364)  41,364 (41,364) 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c) Market risk (continued) 

 

ii) Foreign exchange risk (continued) 

 

 
31 December 2015 

      

 
Profit / Loss 

 

Equity 

      

 

Appreciation 

of foreign 

Depreciation  

of foreign 

 

Appreciation 

of foreign 

Depreciation  

of foreign 

  currency   currency      currency   currency    

      In case of 10% change in USD against TL: 
    

      USD net asset / (liability) 30,832 (30,832)  30,832 (30,832) 

Secured position (-) - -  - - 

 
     

USD net effect 30,832 (30,832)  30,832 (30,832) 

      In case of 10% change in EUR against TL: 
    

      EUR net asset / (liability) 15,723 (15,723)  15,723 (15,723) 

Secured position (-) - -  - - 

 
     

EUR net effect 15,723 (15,723)  15,723 (15,723) 

      In case of 10% change in other foreign exchange rates against TL: 
    

      Other foreign currency net asset / (liability) (44) 44  (44) 44 

Secured position (-) - -  - - 

 
     

Other foreign currencies net effect  (44) 44  (44) 44 

 

     

  46,511 (46,511)  46,511 (46,511) 

 

TL equivalents of assets and liabilities held by the Group denominated in foreign currency at 31 December 2016 and 31 

December 2015 in consideration of foreign exchange rates are as follows: 

 

  31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

  

 

USD 3.5192 2.9076 

EUR 3.7099 3.1776 

GBP 4.3189 4.3007 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c)  Market risk (continued) 

 

ii) Foreign exchange risk (continued) 

 

The amounts of assets and liabilities denominated in original and foreign currencies and their TL equivalents as of 31 

December 2016 were as follows:  

 

 
31 December 2016 

     

  
Original Amounts 

     

 
Total  

    TL equivalent USD EUR GBP 

    

 

Trade receivables  2,683 542 209 - 

Monetary financial assets 573,729 125,455 35,642 - 

Other 1,855 -    500 -    

 

    

Current Assets 578,267 125,997 36,351 - 

 

    

Trade receivables - - - - 

Monetary financial assets 2,397 681 - - 
     

Non-current Assets 2,397 681 -    -    

     

Total Assets 580,664 126,678 36,351 - 

 

    

Trade payables 126,198 19,759 15,052 190 

Financial liabilities 6,278 -    1,692 -    

Monetary other liabilities 3,164 896 3 -    
     

Current Liabilities 135,640 20,655 16,747 190 

 

    

Financial liabilities 31,391 -    8,461 -    
     

Non-current Liabilities 31,391 -    8,461 -    

     

Total Liabilities 167,031 20,655 25,208 190 

 

    

Net asset / (liability) position of 

     derivative financial assets (A-B) - - - - 

A. Total amount of off-balance sheet  

     derivative financial assets - - - - 

B. Total amount of off-balance sheet  

     derivative financial liabilities - - - - 
     

Net foreign currency asset / (liability) position 413,633 106,023 11,143 (190) 

 

    

Net foreign currency asset / (liability) position     

   of monetary items  413,633 106,023 11,143 (190) 

 

    

Fair value of hedged funds of foreign currency - - - - 

 

Hedged amount of foreign currency assets  - - - - 

Hedged amount of foreign currency liabilities - - - - 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c) Market risk (continued) 

 

ii) Foreign exchange risk (continued) 

 

The amounts of assets and liabilities denominated in original and foreign currencies and their TL equivalents as of 31 

December 2015 were as follows: 

 

 
31 December 2015 

     

  
Original amounts 

     

 
Total 

     TL equivalent USD EUR GBP 

     Trade receivables  2,919 583 385 - 

Monetary financial assets 552,285 109,771 73,362 - 

Other 128 - 40 - 

 

    

Current Assets 555,332 110,354 73,787 - 

 

    

Trade receivables - - - - 

Monetary financial assets 2,238 770 - - 

 
    

Non-current Assets 2,238 770 - - 

     

Total Assets 557,570 111,124 73,787 - 

     

Trade payables 41,304 2,929 10,179 103 

Financial liabilities 15,183 - 4,778 - 

Monetary other liabilities 6,272 2,157 - - 

 

    

Current Liabilities 62,759 5,086 14,957 103 

 

    

Financial liabilities 29,576 - 9,308 - 

 

    

Non-current Liabilities 29,576 - 9,308 - 

     

Total Liabilities 92,335 5,086 24,265 103 

 

    

Net asset / (liability) position of 

     derivative financial assets (A-B) - - - - 

A. Total amount of off-balance sheet  

derivative financial assets - - - - 

B. Total amount of off-balance sheet  

derivative financial liabilities - - - - 

 

    

Net foreign currency asset / (liability) position 465,235 106,038 49,522 (103) 

 

    

Net foreign currency asset / (liability) position     

   of monetary items  465,107 106,038 49,482 (103) 

 

    

Fair value of hedged funds of foreign currency - - - - 

 

    

Hedged amount of foreign currency assets  - - - - 

Hedged amount of foreign currency liabilities - - - - 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

d) Market risk (continued) 

 

iii) Foreign exchange derivative transactions 

 

 
31 December 2016 

 

31 Aralık 2015 

  Assets Liabilities 

 

Assets Liabilities 

      Forward foreign exchange contracts  6,512 -  - - 
      

 

6,512 -   - - 

 

The Group utilizes currency derivatives to hedge significant future transactions and cash flows. The Group is party to a 

variety of foreign currency forward contracts and options in the management of its exchange rate exposures. The 

instruments purchased are primarily denominated in the currencies of the Group’s principal markets.    

 

At the end of the reporting period, the total notional amount of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts to which 

the Group is committed are as follows: 

 

 

31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

Forward foreign exchange contracts 84,000 - 
   

As of 31 December 84,000 - 

 

At 31 December 2016, the fair value of the Group’s currency derivatives is estimated to be approximately TL 6,512 

thousand (2015: TL None). These amounts are based on quoted market prices for equivalent instruments at the balance 

sheet date.  

 

Amounts of TL 3,271 thousand (2015: TL None) respectively have been transferred to the statement of profit or loss in 

respect of contracts matured during the period.     

 

Changes in the fair value of non-hedging currency derivatives amounting to TL 6,512 thousand have been charged to 

income in the current year (2015: None).  
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

e) Categories and fair values of financial instruments 

 

31 December 2016   

Financial assets at 

fair value through 

profit or loss   

Loans and receivables 

(including cash and cash 

equivalents)   

 

Available for sale 

financial assets   

Financial liabilities 

stated at amortised cost   Carrying Amount    Note 
 

Financial assets 

            Cash and cash equivalents 

 

- 

 

661,534 

 

- 

 

- 

 

661,541 

 

7 

Trade receivables 

 

- 

 

313,727 

 

- 

 

- 

 

313,720 

 

11 

Receivables from related parties  -  26,374  -  -  26,374  10 

Financial investments 

 

3,478 

 

- 

 

2,157,822 

 

- 

 

2,161,300 

 

8 

Other financial assets 

 

- 

 

2,754 

 

- 

 

- 

 

2,754 

 

8 

 
 

 
         

 Financial liabilities  
 

         
 Financial liabilities 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

118,167 

 

118,167 

 

9 

Financial liabilities to related parties  -  -  -  121,726  121,726  10 

Trade payables 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

203,531 

 

203,531 

 

11 

Payables to related parties 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

145,638 

 

145,112 

 

10 

Other financial liabilities 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

2,754 

 

2,754 

 

22 

 

 

(*) Group Management believes that the carrying amount of financial instruments represent their fair values. 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

d) Categories and fair values of financial instruments (continued) 

 

31 December 2015   

Financial assets at 

fair value through 

profit or loss   

Loans and receivables 

(including cash and cash 

equivalents)   

 

Available for sale 

financial assets   

Financial liabilities 

stated at amortised cost   Carrying Amount    Note 
 

Financial assets 

            Cash and cash equivalents 
 

- 

 

699,023 

 

- 

 

- 

 

699,003 

 

7 

Trade receivables 

 

- 

 

214,391 

 

- 

 

- 

 

214,391 

 

11 

Receivables from related parties 
 

- 

 

4,713 

 

- 

 

- 

 

4,713 

 

10 

Financial investments 
 

3,026 

 

- 

 

1,677,886 

 

- 

 

1,687,244 

 

8 

Other financial assets 
 

- 

 

3,810 

 

- 

 

- 

 

3,810 

 

8 

 
 

           Financial liabilities 
 

 
         

 Financial liabilities 
 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

110,413 

 

110,413 

 

9 

Payables from related parties  -  -  -  142,629  142,629  10 

Trade payables 
 

-  -  -  135,725  135,725  11 

Payables to related parties 
 

-  -  -  117,422  117,422  10 

Other financial liabilities 
 

-  -  -  7,445  7,445  22 

 

 

(*) Group Management believes that the carrying amount of financial instruments represent their fair values. 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

e) Capital risk management 

 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while 

maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance. 

The capital structure of the Company consists of debts including the borrowings and other debts disclosed in Notes 9, 

10 and 22, cash and cash equivalents disclosed in Note 7 and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, 

comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in Note 23. 

 

The Group Management considers the cost of capital and risks associated with each class of capital. The Company 

Management aims to balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and the 

issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. 

 

The Company controls its capital using the net debt / total equity ratio. This ratio is the calculated as net debt divided by 

the total equity amount. Net debt is calculated as total liability amount (comprises of financial liabilities, leasing and 

trade payables as presented in the balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. 

 

As of 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the Company’s net debt / total equity ratio is detailed as follows: 

 

 

31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   Financial liabilities 239,893 253,042 

Less: cash and cash equivalents and   

         current financial investments (661,541) (699,023) 

Net debt (421,648) (445,981) 

   

Total equity 3,244,490 2,740,060 

Total capital 2,822,842 2,294,079 

 

  

Net debt / Total capital - - 

 

During 2016, the Group’s general strategy remained unchanged from 2015. 

  

NOTE 33 - EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

 

A joint venture of the Company, Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., holding 100% of the total 

shares Capintec Inc., completed sale of these shares for a consideration of TL 25 million on 5 January 2017. 

 

On 31 January 2017, in the extraordinary general meeting of Eczacıbaşı Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret 

A.Ş., the decision for the liquidation of the Company is taken and the legal title of the Company is registered as 

“Eczacıbaşı Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş in Liquidation” on 6 February 2017. 

 

The title of Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. is changed and registered to Eczacıbaşı Shire 

Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. on 26 January 2017. 

 

NOTE 34 - DISCLOSURES OF OTHER MATTERS, WITH MATERIAL EFFECT ON CONSOLIDATED  

 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, REQUIRED FOR THE PURPOSE OF UNDERSTANDING AND 

INTERPRETING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

None. 

 



Eczacıbaşı Pharmaceutical
and Industrial Investment Co.

Büyükdere Cad.
Ali Kaya Sok. No:5
Levent 34394, İstanbul, Turkey
Tel: 0 212 350 80 00 - 371 70 00
Fax: 0 212 371 73 99

www.eis.com.tr
www.eczacibasi.com.tr


